Det här verket har digitaliserats vid Göteborgs universitetsbibliotek. Alla tryckta texter är OCRtolkade till maskinläsbar text. Det betyder att du kan söka och kopiera texten från dokumentet. Vissa äldre dokument med dåligt tryck kan vara svåra att OCR-tolka korrekt vilket medför att den OCR-tolkade texten kan innehålla fel och därför bör man visuellt jämföra med verkets bilder för att avgöra vad som är riktigt.

This work has been digitized at Gothenburg University Library. All printed texts have been OCR-processed and converted to machine readable text. This means that you can search and copy text from the document. Some early printed books are hard to OCR-process correctly and the text may contain errors, so one should always visually compare it with the images to determine what is correct.



GÖTEBORGS UNIVERSITET göteborgs universitetsbibliotek **Body Composition and Energy Expenditure in Patients with Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease**









Body Composition and Energy Expenditure in Patients with Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease

Frode Slinde



2004 Department of Clinical Nutrition Sahlgrenska Academy Göteborg University Sweden

Body composition and energy expenditure in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (*In Swedish:* Kroppssammansättning och energiförbrukning hos patienter med kroniskt obstruktiv lungsjukdom)

© Copyright Frode Slinde (frode.slinde@nutrition.gu.se)

Cover illustration by Lisa Ha.

Published articles have been reprinted with the permission of the respective copyright holder: American Journal of Clinical Nutrition. © Am J Clin Nutr. American Society for Clinical Nutrition (paper II, 2001).

Clinical Nutrition. © Elsevier Ltd (paper III and IV, 2003).

Printed in Sweden by Kompendiet Aidla Trading AB, Göteborg 2004.

ISBN: 91-628-6147-6

Preface

In 1996 I finished my education as a clinical nutritionist. As a part of the final term, I was supposed to do a small research project. My colleague Marianne Tronrud and I decided to develop and validate a new, simple screening tool, which could be used in hospitals to detect malnutrition already at the patient's first contact with the nurse.

To be able to validate the screening tool, which we named "The less complicated nutritional assessment (LCNA)", we needed to include patients that really had nutritional problems. Our supervisor, Ingvar Bosaeus, suggested using a population of patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD), since they had a high prevalence of malnutrition.

During four weeks, Marianne and I performed the Subjective Global Assessment tool (which was the tool toward we validated LCNA) in 29 COPD patients admitted to Sahlgrenska University Hospital. This was my first encounter with COPD patients.

After one year of military service and two years as a dietitian in Norway, I got the possibility to work in a research project at the Department of Clinical Nutrition, Göteborg University. The aim of the project was to investigate the physical activity in Swedish adolescents. My interest in COPD patients had been triggered during my final year as undergraduate student, and contacts were therefore taken between the Department of Clinical Nutrition and the Department of Respiratory Medicine and Allergology. This thesis is a result of the cooperation between the two departments.

Table of contents

Preface	3
Table of contents	4
Abstract	6
Sammanfattning	7
List of original papers	8
Abbreviations	9
Subjects, methods and statistics	11
Definition and diagnosis of COPD	13
Prevalence and treatment of COPD	14
Mortality of COPD	15
Mortality and nutritional status in COPD patients	17
Bioelectrical impedance assessment (BIA)	21
Malnutrition in COPD patients	26
Basal metabolic rate (BMR)	27
Diet-induced thermogenesis (DIT)	35
Total daily energy expenditure (TDE) and physical activity	35
Energy expenditure during rehabilitation	38
Energy intake	39
Summing up and suggestions for the future	41
Acknowledgements	42
References	45

Paper I-V

"In 1955, I was 23 years old, and I just had started working as an assistant in a butcher's shop. We were seven girls working there. The others were older than me, between 30 and 40 years old. They all smoked. On Saturdays we closed at 3 PM and we cleaned the shop for about an hour. We really worked hard, we had a lot of customers. When we were finished for the day, we sat down in the coffee room and had a nice time with coffee, a glass of something and the others also had a cigarette. They wanted me to smoke too, but I did not accept the offer. After a couple of weeks I didn't want to feel so out of it - so I accepted the offer. It really tasted horrible, but still it continued for some weeks. After some more weeks I felt it was my turn to buy the cigarettes and I bought a package of ten cigarettes. Since we were seven, three cigarettes were left over, which I brought home with me. One night, I felt the lure. I had the three left-over cigarettes in my bag. It still didn't taste good. However, that was how it all started. I was a regular smoker for 42 years and I quit smoking when I had surgery for my 'fönstertittarsjuka' (intermittent claudication). Two years later I got my COPD diagnosis."

One of the patients in paper V

Abstract

The prevalence of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) is increasing in Sweden as well as worldwide. The main cause of the disease is cigarette smoking. Almost 50 % of all COPD patients become underweight. The questions addressed in this thesis are:

(1) Does body composition measured by bioelectrical impedance predict mortality in patients with COPD?

(2) How large variation can be seen in humans' body composition measured by bioelectrical impedance during 24 hours?

(3) How much energy do underweight patients with COPD expend when they are living their normal lives at home and during a physiotherapy program?

Methods used in this thesis were bioelectrical impedance analysis and dualenergy X-ray absorptiometry to assess body composition, doubly labelled water to measure total daily energy expenditure, indirect calorimetry to measure basal metabolic rate, and seven-day dietary registrations to measure energy intake.

This thesis shows that within a sample of COPD patients, who have been included in a one-year multidisciplinary rehabilitation program, those patients with a high proportion of fat-free mass – measured by bioelectrical impedance – lived longer than those with a low proportion of fat-free mass. This thesis also shows that standardization of the measurements of body composition by bioelectrical impedance is of importance. Measurements should be done in the fasting state after the subject has been in the supine position for ten minutes. Additionally, underweight COPD patients were found to have a large variation in energy expenditure. A variation in total daily energy expenditure from 1.2 to 1.8 times basal metabolic rate is reported. Some patients increased their total daily energy expenditure. Energy intake of the patients can not be used as a measure of their energy expenditure, since in most cases these two do not agree.

Conclusions: This thesis shows that bioelectrical impedance might be a prognostic tool in COPD, but the measurements need to be standardized. COPD patients at the same level of disease and body weight may have totally different levels of energy expenditure. The energy requirement of underweight COPD patients should therefore be assessed individually. New methods for assessing energy requirement/expenditure are needed to be developed for use in COPD patients. These methods need to be able to be used in the clinical setting, since the main conclusion is that calculation or prediction of energy requirements in COPD patients with current methods has limited value.

Sammanfattning

Kroniskt obstruktiv lungsjukdom (KOL) är en allt vanligare sjukdom i Sverige och i övriga världen. Sjukdomen orsakas huvudsakligen av cigarrettrökning och nästan hälften av alla patienter med KOL blir underviktiga. Frågeställningarna som besvaras i avhandlingen är:

(1) Påverkar patienternas kroppssammansättning – mätt med bioelektrisk impedans – deras överlevnad?

(2) Hur stor är variationen i människors kroppssammansättning – mätt med bioelektrisk impedans – under dagen?

(3) Hur mycket energi förbrukar underviktiga KOL-patienter dels i den vanliga vardagen, dels under ett träningsprogram hos sjukgymnast?

För att mäta kroppssammansättning har bioelektrisk impedans och dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry använts. Total energiförbrukning har mätts med dubbelmärkt vatten medan indirekt kalorimetri har använts för att mäta energiförbrukning i vila. Sju-dagars kostregistrering har nyttjats för att mäta energiintag.

Avhandlingen visar att hos en grupp KOL-patienter som genomgått ett års multidisciplinär rehabilitering, levde de patienter med hög andel fettfri massa – mätt med bioelektrisk impedans – längre än dem med låg andel fettfri massa. Avhandlingen visar också att det är viktigt med *standardiserade* mätningar av kroppssammansättningen med bioelektrisk impedans. Mätningarna bör göras när den som skall mätas är fastande samt har legat och vilat i tio minuter. Underviktiga KOL-patienter uppvisar en mycket stor variation i sin energiförbrukning. Deras totala energiförbrukning varierade från 1,2 till 1,8 gånger viloenergiförbrukningen. Under två veckor med träning hos sjukgymnast ökade några patienter sin totala energiförbrukning medan andra minskade sin totala energiförbrukning. Patienternas energiintag kunde inte användas som mått på deras energiförbrukning, då energiintaget och energiförbrukningen i de flesta fall inte överensstämde med varandra.

Slutsatser: Bioelektrisk impedans kan vara ett prognostiskt verktyg hos KOLpatienter, men då måste mätningarna standardiseras. Avhandlingen visar att KOL-patienter som är lika sjuka och underviktiga kan uppvisa totalt olik energiförbrukning. Underviktiga KOL-patienters energibehov bör därför värderas individuellt. Nya metoder behöver utvecklas och testas för att mäta energibehov/-förbrukning hos patientgruppen. Dessa metoder måste också kunna användas i den kliniska vardagen, då den viktigaste slutsatsen är att beräkning av KOL-patienters energibehov, med dagens metodik, visar sig vara av föga värde.

List of original papers

This thesis is based on the following papers, which will be referred to in the text by their Roman numerals:

- I. Slinde F, Grönberg AM, Engström CP, Rossander-Hulthén L, Larsson S. Body Composition by Bioelectrical Impedance Predicts Mortality in Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease Patients. Submitted.
- II. Slinde F, Rossander-Hulthén L. Bioelectrical impedance: effect of 3 identical meals on diurnal impedance variation and calculation of body composition. Am J Clin Nutr 2001;74:474-478.
- III. Slinde F, Bark A, Jansson J, Rossander-Hulthén L. Bioelectrical impedance variation in healthy subjects during 12 h in the supine position. Clin Nutr 2003;22:153-157.
- IV. Slinde F, Ellegård L, Grönberg AM, Larsson S, Rossander-Hulthén L. Total energy expenditure in underweight patients with severe chronic obstructive pulmonary disease living at home. Clin Nutr 2003;22:159-165.
- V. Slinde F, Kvarnhult K, Grönberg AM, Nordenson A, Larsson S, Rossander-Hulthén L. Energy Expenditure in Underweight Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease Patients before and during a Physiotherapy Program. Manuscript.

Abbreviations

- BF % body fat percentage
 - BI bioelectrical impedance
 - BIA bioelectrical impedance assessment
- BMI body mass index
- BMR basal metabolic rate
 - BW body weight
 - CI confidence interval
 - CO₂ carbon dioxide
- COPD chronic obstructive pulmonary disease
 - CRP c-reactive protein
 - CT computer tomography
 - DIT diet-induced thermogenesis
- DLW doubly labelled water
- DXA dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry
 - EI energy intake
 - EU European Union
 - F female
- FAO Food and Agriculture Organization
- FEV₁ forced expiratory volume in one second
- FFM fat-free mass
- FFMI fat-free mass index
 - FM fat mass
 - g gram
- GOLD The Global Initiative for Chronic Obstructive Lung Disease
 - H hydrogen
 - HR heart rate
 - IBW ideal body weight
 - IL interleukin
 - kcal kilocalories
 - kg kilogram
 - kJ kilojoule
 - KOL kroniskt obstruktiv lungsjukdom
 - kPa kilopascale
 - LBP lipopolysaccharide binding protein
- LCNA the less complicated nutritional assessment
 - m meter
 - M male
 - MJ megajoule
 - n number
 - NIH National Institutes of Health
 - O oxygen

- OLIN The Obstructive Lung Disease in Northern Sweden Studies
- PAL physical activity level
- Pa₀₂ arterial partial pressure of oxygen
- RMR resting metabolic rate
- SD standard deviation
- SDR age-standardized death rate
- TBW total body water
- TDE total daily energy expenditure
- TEF thermic effect of food
- TNF tumor necrosis factor
- UNU United Nations University
- U.S. United States of America
- VO₂ oxygen uptake
- WHO World Health Organization

Subjects, methods and statistics

Subjects

- Healthy university students and coworkers
- Patients with severe COPD (FEV₁ < 50 % predicted)

Methods

- Bioelectrical impedance assessment for estimation of body composition
- Body weight and height
- Doubly labelled water for assessment of total daily energy expenditure
- Dual energy X-ray absorptiometry for assessment of body composition
- Indirect calorimetry for assessment of basal metabolic rate
- Seven-day dietary registration for assessment of energy intake
- Spirometry for assessment of pulmonary function
- Zutphen physical activity questionnaire for assessment of physical activity

Statistics

- Cox proportional hazards model
- Degree of agreement following Bland & Altman
- Descriptive statistics
- Dunett's *t*-test
- Fischer's exact test for comparison of proportions
- Unpaired *t*-test

Definition and diagnosis of COPD

A collaborative project of the World Health Organization (WHO) and the U.S. National Heart, Lung and Blood Institute, called "The Global Initiative for Chronic Obstructive Lung Disease (GOLD)" has defined COPD as (91):

"A disease state characterized by airflow limitation that is not fully reversible. The airflow limitation is usually both progressive and associated with abnormal inflammatory response of the lungs to noxious particles or gases."

Varying combinations of airway disease and emphysema are causing the airflow limitation. Increased wall thickening, increased intraluminal mucus and changes in the lining fluid of the small airways are the main constituents of the airway component (120). Emphysema is defined as "permanent, destructive enlargement of airspaces distal to the terminal bronchioles" (120). Chronic bronchitis is also included in the definition of COPD and is defined as "chronic or recurrent increase in volume of mucoid bronchial secretion (present on most days for a minimum of three months a year, for at least two successive years) sufficient to cause expectoration" (83).

Spirometry is used to confirm the COPD diagnosis. In this thesis, forced expiratory volume in one second (FEV₁) in relation to reference values (FEV₁% predicted) was used, since this is recommended as the best assessment of airflow limitation in moderate to severe disease (120). The patients included in this thesis (paper I, IV and V) were categorized by COPD severity following The European Respiratory Society (120); mild (FEV₁ > 69 % predicted), moderate (FEV₁ 50-69 % predicted) and severe COPD (FEV₁ < 50 % predicted). All patients included in this thesis had a FEV₁ < 50 % predicted, hence diagnosed as severe COPD.

The main risk factor for COPD is inhaled agents, particularly cigarette smoke, but also occupational exposures as cadmium and silica are established risk factors (120). All patients included in the thesis had a cigarette smoke induced COPD.

Prevalence and treatment of COPD

The prevalence of COPD is varying widely between countries, mainly due to differences in prevalence of cigarette smoking. In 1998, The Global Burden of Disease study suggested that COPD will increase from 12th place in 1990 to 5th place in 2020, concerning disease burden worldwide (74). In that study the worldwide prevalence of COPD in 1990 was estimated to be 9.34/1,000 in men and 7.33/1,000 in women, i.e. 0.8 %. These numbers include all ages, and therefore underestimate the true prevalence in older adults. This is one reason why prevalence of COPD varies between different sources in the literature. Halbert et al (55) showed in their review article a variation in COPD prevalence from 0.23 to 18.3 %, concluding that the overall mortality appears to lie between 4 and 10 %. Another reason for difference in reported prevalence is the use of different diagnostic criteria. This is shown in the OLIN studies in Northern Sweden where 1,237 subjects (46 years or older) were studied (76). Using the GOLD guidelines (91), the prevalence of COPD was 14.3 % compared to a prevalence of 8.1 % using the more strict diagnosis suggested by the British Thoracic Society (11). 25 % of the subjects were classified as smokers, and 25 % of the smokers were qualifying for a COPD diagnosis, following the GOLD guidelines. 15 % of the ex-smokers and 8 % of the non-smokers were also diagnosed as COPD patients, with the highest COPD prevalence in the oldest sub-group (76-77 years of age) (76).

The European Respiratory Society defines the goals of COPD treatment as (120):

"To prevent symptoms and recurrent exacerbations and to preserve optimal lung function both in short- and long-term; thus improving activities of daily living and enhancing the quality of life."

Prevention of the onset and progression of COPD could be done by smoking cessation and reduction of total exposure to tobacco smoke, occupational dust, chemicals and air pollutants (91, 120). Pharmacotherapy, mainly different types of bronchodilators, is used to decrease symptoms and complications, since none of the existing medications have been shown to affect the progress of the disease (91). In advanced stages of the disease even long-term oxygen treatment or different kinds of surgery (bullectomy, lung volume reduction surgery, and lung transplantation) are used.

Pulmonary rehabilitation, which was studied in paper I and V in this thesis, is also a treatment recommended in international guidelines (91, 120). The goals of such rehabilitation are to increase exercise capacity and enhance quality of life.

Mortality of COPD

COPD is the fifth leading cause of mortality in North America (69, 78). Differences in mortality rates between countries could be due to varying exposure to risk factors, but could also be due to methodological problems with death certification and coding. In Figure 1, death rates are presented for death in bronchitis, emphysema and asthma, since numbers for COPD can not be distinguished from the WHO database (137). Another reason for the underestimation of mortality in COPD could be that another diagnosis is defined as the main cause of death, while COPD often is characterized only as a contributing cause of death. This is illustrated in paper I (Table 2) where only nine of the 47 deaths had COPD as main cause of death on the death certificate, whilst COPD was mentioned as second or third cause of death on 25 of the death certificates with other main causes of death.

However, Figure 1 tells us that the mortality in bronchitis/emphysema/asthma increased during the 1990's. Age-standardized death rates mean that the deathrates are age-adjusted for a European population, so comparisons can be made between different countries, independent of the age distribution in that specific country. We can also see that Sweden is at the same level as the average in the European Union (EU). Denmark, on the other hand, is an example of a country with high mortality in bronchitis/emphysema/asthma and high prevalence of tobacco smoking. The countries within the EU (before the enlargement of the EU which took place in 2004) with the lowest mortality in bronchitis/ emphysema/asthma are Greece, France and Spain (137). Figure 2 presents mortality numbers from the Swedish Cause of Death Register (70).



Figure 1. Age-standardized death rates (SDR), bronchitis/emphysema/asthma, all ages per 100,000 for the years 1995-1999 (137).



Figure 2. Age-standardized death rates (SDR) in lower respiratory diseases, deaths per 100,000 for the years 1987-2000 in Sweden (70).

Mortality in asthma has decreased, probably due to earlier misclassifications of asthma as COPD deaths. Changes in mortality of lower respiratory diseases (mainly COPD and asthma) are therefore mirroring how COPD mortality has developed with a small increase in mortality for men and about doubled mortality for women. Figure 1 and 2 also show that men have higher mortality in bronchitis/emphysema/asthma compared to women. Paper I confirmed that male patients with severe COPD have a higher mortality, compared to female patients, independent of other possible factors known to affect mortality such as age and disease severity. There are indications from epidemiological studies that women are more susceptible to develop COPD than men (101), but the risk of developing COPD might not be identical with the severity of the disease when it has been established. In addition to paper I, other studies have shown that male patients with established COPD have a higher mortality risk compared to female COPD patients (27, 41, 78, 126).

Summary of paper I

Aim: To study mortality in a sample of patients with severe COPD included in a one-year multidisciplinary rehabilitation program in relation to body composition as evaluated by bioelectrical impedance. Subjects and methods: Mortality was studied in 86 patients using the Cox proportional hazards model.

Main findings:

- 47 patients (55%) died during the mean follow-up time which was almost six years
- Gender, age, and fat-free mass index (FFMI) were significant predictors of mortality when controlling for other baseline variables in a multivariate analysis

Mortality and nutritional status in COPD patients

In 1967, Vandenberg et al showed that in a group of 100 patients with COPD, weight loss was a risk factor for death (133). Five years later, a new statistical method was presented which was called the Cox proportional hazards model (22). Wilson and coworkers applied this method on 779 male COPD patients and found that mortality was influenced by body weight, using percentage ideal body weight (IBW), independent of FEV₁ (140). The relationship between body weight and mortality was strongest for the patients with FEV₁ between 47 and 60 % predicted. Both these studies had limited possibilities to control for potential confounders. In the total cohort, constituting both hospitalized and nonhospitalized COPD patients, Gray-Donald et al found that low body mass index (BMI) and use of home oxygen were independently associated with reduced survival (51). All these studies can not tell us whether the associations are due to a causal effect, or if body weight is a marker of increasing health problems during disease development. In 1998, Schols et al provided considerable information concerning the causal effect (114). They showed, prospectively, that weight gain of more than 2 kg/8 weeks was an independent predictor of survival in a sample of 203 patients with COPD. In the same publication they also showed, in a retrospective analysis, that low BMI was a significant independent predictor of mortality, and a threshold value of <25 kg/m² was identified where the mortality risk was clearly increased. This could be compared to the recently published study in 8,100 "healthy" Dutch women over 50 years of age, where mortality was highest in the highest BMI-quartile (>27.8 kg/m²) (81).

Marquis et al hypothesized that loss of muscle tissue would have more prognostic implication than the loss of other body compartments (80). They therefore scanned 142 COPD patients with a computer tomography (CT) scan of the midthigh and followed the patients for six years. They found that the midthigh muscle cross-sectional area was a better predictor of mortality than BMI, especially in patients with severe COPD (FEV₁ < 50 % predicted). Midthigh circumference and quadriceps skinfold thickness were also measured anthropometrically. These measurements, however, were not sufficiently accurate to give the same predictive effect on mortality as the CT scan. In an editorial following that paper. Mador (77) asked for confirming studies showing that body composition, preferably using simpler and less expensive methods for assessing body composition, predicts mortality better than BMI. This was the origin of paper I in this thesis. The paper is a retrospective analysis of the mortality in a patient group which was included in a one-year multidisciplinary rehabilitation program between March 1992 and June 1998. Body composition was measured in all patients at inclusion using the bioelectrical impedance assessment (BIA) method, which is a simpler and less expensive method compared to CT. The use of bioelectrical impedance (BI) for body composition estimation, is based on the principle that fat mass (FM) and fat-free mass (FFM) have different conductive and dielectric properties due to the fact that FFM contains water and therefore has lower resistance than FM (29). Fat-free mass index (FFMI), assessed by BIA, was found to be an independent predictor of mortality as was also gender and age (paper I). Many considerations had to be made when such a study was done retrospectively. I will now elucidate what the results might have turned out to be if other considerations were made than the one presented in paper I.

We chose to express body composition as FFMI as recommended by VanItallie et al in the well-known Minnesota Study, which gives examples that justify the use of a height normalized value of body composition (134). They showed that two subjects with about the same FFM (61.6 kg vs. 60.7 kg) but who had different height (170.4 cm vs. 185.3 cm) differed in functional status. The highest subject (with a low FFMI (=17.7 kg/m²)) was "physically weak and felt chronically tired and mentally depressed" compared to the shortest subject (with the higher FFMI (=21.2 kg/m²)). Compared to the 5,635 healthy subjects described by Kyle et al (67), most of the patients in paper I seem to have an FFMI within the normal range which was described to be between 16.7 to 19.8 kg/m² for men and 14.6 to 16.8 kg/m² for women. Schols and colleagues have suggested presenting FFM as percentage of IBW (115). In paper I we present the body weight as a percentage of the weight of a normal Swedish elderly population (7) and chose to call it "% reference weight". If we adopt the Schols model of presenting FFM using % reference weight, this would not affect the results presented in paper I; FFMI still is an independent predictor of mortality in the patient sample.

Another decision was to use the original calculations of FFM from the BIA. Manufacturer supplied equations were used, based on comparison with densitometry in a normal population. More than 30 different equations are available where FFM and FM can be calculated based on BIA measurements. Most of them are developed and validated on healthy adults. Currently, two prediction equations are developed on patients with COPD. One is developed from deuterium dilution (117) and the other from dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry (DXA) (66). A homogenous group of 24 male and eight female COPD patients were included in the deuterium dilution study and the best-fitting regression equation to predict FFM comprised height²/resistance and body weight. Kyle et al (66) used a larger group of 75 patients to develop their equation from the DXA, and the best-fitting regression equation to predict FFM included height, weight, resistance, and gender. Table 1, which is comparable to Table 1 in paper I, presents the results from these two equations.

	All patients	Survivors (n=39)	Non- survivors (n=47)	p- value*	Hazard ratio	95 % CI	p- value
FFMI, kg/m ² (117)	15.9 (1.9)	16.4 (1.9)	15.5 (1.8)	0.021	0.85	0.72-0.99	0.038
FFMI kg/m ² (66)	15.0 (1.6)	15.1	14.8 (1.6)	0.37	0.94	0.18-	0.48
* Survivors compared to non-survivors							

Table 1. FFMI calculated by two different equations and their prediction of mortality in an univariate analysis (mean (SD)), n=86.

Table 1 tells us that the FFMI calculated from the DXA-derived prediction equation is not a statistical significant predictor of mortality, not even in a univariate analysis, while the equation derived from deuterium dilution qualifies to be included in a multivariate analysis. This might be due to the fact that BIA and deuterium dilution both are based on the same principle of hydration of the FFM, while DXA is independent of body fluids and is based on absorption of X-rays in the body (82). The remaining question is then, what happens with the dilution derived FFMI when entered into a multivariate Cox proportional hazards mode instead of the one used in paper I. Table 2 gives the answer.

	Hazard ratio	95 % CI	p-value		
Age, years	1.06	1.00-1.11	0.038		
Sex (F/M)	1.93	0.89-4.15	0.094		
Hospital days*	1.01	0.99-1.02	0.40		
Reference body weight, %	1.01	0.97-1.06	0.59		
FFMI (117), kg/m ²	0.80	0.57-1.13	0.21		
FEV ₁ , % pred	0.98	0.94-1.01	0.19		
6-min walking distance, m	1.00	0.99-1.00	0.27		
*Hospital days the year before inclusion					

Table 2. Baseline predictors of mortality: multivariate analyses, n=86.

As shown in Table 2, age – and possibly gender – are independent predictors of mortality in this patient group. Since the equation developed from deuterium dilution on COPD patients is based on a limited, selected and homogenous group of patients, we chose to present the results based on the equations provided by the manufacturer (RJL systems, Akern, Florence, Italy). We have, however, not been able to get information from the manufacturer on what material they have based their equation. This is a trade secret which the manufacturer will not reveal. In any case, the equation is widely used and it has also been shown to give better or as good precision as any other prediction equation (68, 98, 119). However, compared to the DXA method, the precision is lower (54, 142).

Conclusion, paper I:

"Body composition, measured by BI and presented as FFMI, is an independent predictor of mortality in COPD patients."

Bioelectrical impedance assessment (BIA)

Our understanding of the composition of the human body is based on chemical analysis of six human bodies which were performed between 1945 and 1956. Table 3 is an overview of what was found in those analyses.

Table 3. Overview of findings in chemical human bodies analyses between 1945 and 1956 (42, 43, 84, 138).

Reference	(84)	(138)	(138)	(42)	(43)	(43)
Gender	М	М	F	М	М	М
Age	35	25	42	46	60	48
BMI (kg/m2)	21.1	22.4	15.8	19.0	24.8	21.7
Water (g/kg FFM)	775	728	733	674	704	730
FFMI (kg/m ²)	18.4	19.1	12.1	16.8		-
M=male; F=female						

Table 3 shows that the mean water content of the human FFM is 724 g per kg FFM, with a considerable variation. Also in 1945, in a study of 50 guinea pigs, Pace and Rathburn showed that the water content in FFM was rather stable and was found to constitute 72.4 % of the fat-free body mass (90). Following this, one can obtain the FFM by using an estimate of total body water (TBW):

$$FFM = \frac{TBW}{0.724}$$

BIA is one method to achieve an estimation of total body water. BIA makes use of the fact that impedance to electrical flow of an injected current is related to the volume of a conductor (the human body) and the square of the conductor's length (height). Impedance is a measure of how electrical current is slowed or stopped as it passes through a material. Impedance has two components: resistance (a measure of the amount of electrical current a substance will stop) and reactance (a measure of a material's ability to slow a current). Thomasset (129) was the first to report a relation between body water and electrical impedance. In the publication from 1965, Thomasset summarize a thesis in which the BI was compared to Br⁸². In 42 "normal" subjects they found a correlation coefficient of 0.67 between the methods. When they added 20 subjects with edemas the correlation increased to 0.85. Hoffer et al (59) developed the principle and demonstrated that total body water determined by the tritiated water method were strongly correlated (R = 0.92) with height²/ impedance in 20 "normal" volunteers and 34 patients with varying diagnosis and hydration status. Since then, numerous validation studies have been published and several prediction equations are available. Combining the search terms "body composition" and "bioelectrical impedance" in the PubMed database resulted in more than 1,000 hits. BIA has become a widely adopted method for body composition assessment, not only for scientific purposes, but also in the clinical setting and nowadays in the society as well, at different training facilities.

In 1997, Sereno Symposia USA Inc organized an invited panel to update the consensus from the 1994 National Institutes of Health (NIH) Technology Assessment Conference on BIA technology for body composition measurement (35). Guidelines for clinical use were established:

"The optimal method, though not always practical (in a clinical setting), for obtaining impedance measurements involves having the subject (preferably fasting, but not dehydrated) lie supine for at least 10 min."

During the preparations for the publication of the consensus document, Gallagher and coworkers published a study where they showed that intake of a breakfast meal was followed by a significant decrease in impedance (46). Five hours post-prandially, the impedance had begun to return towards fasting level, although still significantly lower compared to the fasting value. At least in Sweden, it is usual to consume another meal within four or five hours. The aim of paper II was therefore to study the effect on BI of three identical meals during 24 hours.

Summary of paper II

Aim: To study the effect on bioelectrical impedance of three identical meals.

Subjects and methods: BI was measured 18 times during 24 hours in 18 healthy subjects. An identical meal was given at breakfast, lunch, and dinner.

Main findings:

- BI decreased after ingestion of a standard meal, the decrease was additive during the day
- Calculated body fat percentage (BF %) varied by 9 % from the highest to the lowest measurement

An additive decrease of the three meals in BI was found during the day and thus a decrease in the calculated percentage of FM. However, the decrease after the first meal was double the increase after meal two and three, which we in the discussion suggested might be due to a combined effect of rising from a lying position and ingesting food and beverages. It is supported by the findings of Gallagher et al (46) that the decrease in segmental BI largely occurred in the limbs. Standing position makes water pass from the intracellular to the extracellular compartment, especially in the limbs, where body electric resistance is higher. This had earlier been shown in ten healthy men who were in the supine position for 60 minutes and than five minutes standing (102). A steady and significant increase in resistance was shown during recumbence, which was interrupted during standing, and the resistance decreased significantly. Simultaneously they measured haematocrit; the mean plasma volume increased 10 % during recumbence and decreased 13 % after five minutes in the upright position. Lozano-Nieto and Turner confirmed, in a study of four subjects during a period of 20 minutes, that increasing impedance during supine position was followed by a decrease when standing. (75).

In the clinical setting however, a supine position for more than 20 minutes or even more than one hour is highly possible; leading us to perform the study which is presented in paper III. It was confirmed that being in the supine position leads to an increasing BI for as long as up to 12 hours. The decreasing effect of ingesting a meal was also found to be apparent, though only statistically significant after the first meal.

Summary of paper III

Aim: To examine the bioelectrical impedance variation in healthy subjects during 12 hours in the supine position.

Subjects and methods: BI was measured 16 times during 12 hours in 18 healthy subjects. An identical meal was given at breakfast, lunch, and dinner.

Main findings:

- BI increased significantly from study start to study end
- Calculated body fat content increased from a baseline mean of 21.7 % to 23.9 % body fat at study end

Common for paper II and III is that in both studies major effects were seen on the calculated BF %, using the manufacturer-supplied equations, but also found when calculated from other published prediction equations. In paper II we found an almost mean 10 % decrease in BF %, and in paper III an increase in BF % at the same size, during 12 hours. Individual variation could be as much as 20 %, which made us draw this conclusion:

BLA measurements should be performed in the fasting state after ten minutes in the supine position. This strengthens the guidelines proposed by Ellis et al (35).

The observant reader probably has detected inconsistency between the findings in paper II / III and the use of BIA in paper I. Measurements of impedance in paper I were "performed in the morning after ten minutes rest in the supine position" i.e. the patients were not fasting. As mentioned earlier the study (paper I) was initiated in 1992, i.e. before the NIH conference in 1994. However, the results in paper I are based on the FFMI. Figure 3 shows the results on the FFMI derived from the results presented in paper II and III.



Figure 3. Mean FFMI during 12 hours. Arrows indicate time of meals. Circles = paper II, squares = paper III. Open circles/squares = p<0.05 from baseline, filled circles/squares = n.s. from baseline.

As shown in Figure 3, the FFMI is more stable than the BF %. In paper II there was a difference in FFMI of 2 % between baseline and final measurement and in paper III the difference was 4 %. The largest change in an individual was 8 %. The changes seem to be of limited clinical importance even if some of the changes in FFMI are statistically significant. Why is then FFMI a more stable variable than BF %? BF % includes body weight while FFMI includes body height, which is a more stable variable during 12 hours.

Still most studies report the amount of body fat, often expressed as BF %. Following the measurement guidelines mentioned above, we found a mean BF % in paper II of 22.2 %, calculated with manufacturer supplied equations. However, we also found that it was 20.7 % in the evening. Probably this would have led to other results if it had been a study aiming to investigate body composition and some health aspects. Do we know the true answer concerning the subjects' body composition? Unfortunately we did not use a reference method to measure body composition in these studies, but in the paper II study we actually measured skinfolds at four sites; biceps, triceps, subscapular, and suprailiac and calculated the BF % using the equations of Durnin and Womersley (33). Mean BF % from the skinfolds for the 18 subjects was 22.2 %, which is a weak, maybe speculative, indication of that the guidelines might be even more strengthened by this study.

Malnutrition in COPD patients

Cotes, who followed 235 coalminers from Wales for ten years, starting in 1947, was one of the first to report weight loss in COPD patients (21). In another study, performed in the 1960's, 40 of 86 patients (47 %) with emphysema were defined as underweight and 22 as weight-losers (141). Hunter and coworkers (64) reported in their material of 38 COPD patients, that half of the patients had a body weight less than 90 % of IBW. Openbrier et al (89) reported that 43 % of the 70 emphysema patients studied had an IBW less than 90 %. Two reports from a Dutch research group showed that 15 of 72 COPD out-patients (20 %) and 35 % of those eligible for pulmonary rehabilitation, had depletion of FFM (37, 115). In the latter of those two studies, 79 of the 205 patients (39 %) had an IBW less than 90 %. It seems as if the prevalence of underweight in COPD patients is somewhere between 20 and 50 %. In paper I in this thesis, which was based on a material of consecutively recruited patients with severe COPD, 30 of the 86 patients (35 %) included had a BMI < 21 kg/m². Underweight and malnutrition are often used synonymously. This is however not correct. PubMed defines the MeSH-term malnutrition as: "An imbalanced nutritional status resulted from insufficient intake of nutrients to meet normal physiological requirement". The result from an insufficient intake of energy is hence weight loss.

"malnutrition *n*. the condition caused by an improper balance between what an individual eats and what he requires to maintain health. This can result from eating too little (*subnutrition* or *starvation*) but may also imply dietary excess or an incorrect balance of basic foodstuffs such as protein, fat, and carbohydrate. A deficiency (or excess) of one or more minerals, vitamins, or other essential ingredients may arise from malabsorption of digested food or metabolic malfunction of one or more parts of the body as well as from an unbalanced diet."

Concise Medical Dictionary, Oxford University Press, 2002.

According to the definition of malnutrition quoted above, one should need to measure an individual's nutritional intake and the nutritional requirement to be able to define malnutrition. Ideally, that should be done for both macro- and micronutrients. This is done very seldom, due to methodological problems on both the intake and the requirement side. However, several possible explanations to the development of underweight in COPD patients have been suggested. Most of them are relating to the energy balance scale on the front page of this thesis.

Basal metabolic rate (BMR)

The largest single component of the total daily energy expenditure (TDE) in most individuals is the BMR, which is the energy expended by an individual lying at physical and mental rest in a termoneutral environment, at least 12 hours after the previous meal. Indirect calorimetry is considered to be the standard method for assessing BMR. Browsing the literature gives conflicting messages about the terms used; BMR and resting metabolic rate (RMR). A lack of one of the conditions mentioned above would mean that the term RMR should be used. Turley et al (132) could not find any difference between an inpatient and an outpatient protocol for measuring, what they defined as, RMR. Adriaens et al (1) even showed that differences in physical activity the day before measurement did not affect the measurement of, what they defined as, BMR. We have measured BMR in the patients in paper IV and V, since all of the conditions mentioned above are fulfilled, even if an outpatient protocol was used.

Summary of paper IV

Aim: To assess TDE and describe its components in home-living underweight patients with severe COPD.

Subjects and methods: BMR was measured by indirect calorimetry and estimated by prediction equations, TDE assessed by the doubly labelled water (DLW) method and energy intake assessed by sevenday dietary registration in ten COPD patients with BMI < 21 kg/m². Main findings:

- BMR was not precisely predicted using available prediction equations, the most precise prediction included FFM
- Physical activity level ranged from 1.15 to 1.80

Prediction equations of BMR have been developed since indirect calorimetry is not a widely accessible method. The equations most used and referred to are the ones produced by Harris and Benedict in 1919 from 333 individuals (56), Schofield in 1985 from 7,549 individuals (109), and FAO/WHO/UNU in 1985 from 11,000 individuals (38). In addition to these equations, several other equations have been developed for specific groups; children, adolescents etc. In the late 1980's a prediction equation was developed on COPD patients with moderate to severe obstructive dysfunction (85). The prediction equation was developed from 43 COPD patients, of which only ten were women. In paper IV, we conclude that none of these equations make especially good predictions of BMR in underweight patients with severe COPD and recommend a measurement of BMR with indirect calorimetry before calculating energy requirement for a patient.

Summary of paper V

Aim: To investigate how TDE changes when underweight patients with COPD entered into a physiotherapy program.

Subjects and methods: TDE of ten COPD patients with BMI < 21 kg/m² was assessed by the DLW method in a two week control period and during two weeks in a physiotherapy program. Main findings:

• Physical activity level in the control period varied from 1.21 to 1.88

• Six of the patients had lower TDE during the physiotherapy period, compared to the control period. Median change in TDE was -10 % or -700 kJ/day

Even if two different indirect calorimeters were used in paper IV and V, I have added the patients in paper V in the Bland-Altman plots from paper IV. The results are presented in Figure 4. In seven of the 21 patients, the the BMR predicted from WHO equations was lower than measured BMR, with a mean difference of -0.3 MJ. Prediction of BMR from measured FFM also leads to an underestimation of BMR in seven patients, with a smaller mean difference at -0.11 MJ. The equation developed for COPD patients underestimated BMR in four of the 21 patients, with a mean difference of -0.50 MJ. The question is then if this is of any clinical concern? Imagine that the underestimation of BMR is 500 kJ and the patient has a PAL of 1.5, which was the mean PAL of the 21 patients in paper IV and V. Calculating the energy requirement for this patient would lead to an underestimation of 750 kJ, almost 10 % of the TDE of the patients. An energy deficit of that size is equivalent to a loss of 25 g of body FM per day, or 765 g FM per month. Probably, not only FM would be lost, meaning that the actual weight loss would be even greater than 765 g.



Figure 4. Differences between measured and predicted BMR plotted against mean of measured and predicted BMR predicted from equations from WHO, Moore & Angelillo and Westerterp in the 21 underweight patients with severe COPD presented in paper IV and V. Lines indicate mean difference and +/-2 SD.

Table 4 is an overview of studies which have measured and reported BMR/RMR in patients with a stable COPD, using indirect calorimetry. Several studies (17, 23, 24, 28, 31, 44, 47, 63, 110, 123) did not report BMR in kJ or kcal. Those studies are not included in Table 4. All studies including a control group have found a higher BMR in COPD patients compared to the control group, except one in which the control group had a significantly higher amount of FFM and lower amounts of body fat compared to the patients (105). It is hard to compare the BMR values, partly because the studies have used different measurement equipment, but most important is that the patient groups differ in body weight and body composition between the studies. Few studies have reported BMR/kg BW or BMR/kg FFM, which makes a more general conclusion from the studies impossible. It is noticeable that paper IV and V seem to report lower BMR compared to most of the studies. Actually the only study having as low BMR as ours is the study made by Tang et al (128). Only women were included in that study and, unlike the other studies, our studies also have a majority of women. Women have lower BMR than men, due to a higher proportion of body fat. That might be the reason for the low BMR in our studies. All patients were included due to a low BMI, which also would lead to a lower BMR, compared to studies including patients with higher BMI.

As the largest component of TDE, an elevated BMR has a major impact on an individual's energy requirement. Most of the studies in Table 4 found an elevated BMR compared to predicted BMR. In a majority of these studies, measured BMR have been compared to the Harris & Benedict equation (56). Figure 5 clearly demonstrates that the Harris & Benedict equation predicted a lower BMR compared to a prediction using the WHO equations in the 21 patients presented in paper IV and V.



(MJ)

Figure 5. Differences between predicted BMR according to Harris & Benedict (56) and WHO (38) plotted against mean of predicted BMR according to Harris & Benedict and WHO in the 21 underweight patients with severe COPD presented in paper IV and V. Lines indicate mean difference and +/- 2 SD.

Reference	FEV ₁	n (M/F)	BMR	BMR/kg	BMR/kg	
	(% pred)		(kJ)	BW (kJ/kg)	FFM	
					(kJ/kg)	
COPD-patients						
$(139)^{1}$	31	7 (?/?)	6,029	-	-	
$(112)^3$	31	34 (27/7)	6,094	St. 99 - 99 -		
$(116)^3$	35	39 (?/?)	6,243	110	146	
$(79)^1$	-	6 (6/0)	7,079	130		
(85)	-	43 (33/10)	7,309	-	-	
(40)	37	10 (10/0)	7,007	117	137	
(52)	31	10 (7/3)	-	110	201 - A. A. A.	
(113)	29	12 (?/?)	5,883	-	1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 -	
(113)	34	12 (?/?)	5,920	1 (- 1 ()	-	
(53)	36	6 (3/3)	5,552	102	-	
(53)	30	9 (6/3)	6,126	101	-	
(61)	34	11 (11/0)	6,145			
(103)	43	10 (5/5)	4,422	92		
(62)	34	16 (16/0)	6,688	-	- S	
(4)	36	8 (8/0)	6,155	1990 - Angel	-	
(5)	38	10 (10/0)	6,791	-	-	
(5)	31	10 (9/1)	5,966			
(3)	37	33 (23/10)	6,372	-		
(12)	39	13 (10/3)	6,092	- 19 A	1973) - Marine	
(13)	42	8 (7/1)	-	107		
(13)	37	8 (7/1)		115	-	
(136)	37	23 (12/11)	6,196		-	
(100)	32	12 (12/0)	-		140	
(88)	-	36 (30/6)	6,477		1986 - Mart	
(105)	36	9 (9/0)	6,782		-	
(128)	37	10 (0/10)	4,134	-		
(127)	35	23 (1/22)	6,017	1997 - 1997 -		
(50)	40	20 (11/9)	5,800			
$(139)^{2}$	44	8 (?/?)	6,029	-	8 - C - C - C - C - C - C - C - C - C -	
$(112)^{4}$	39	34 (26/8)	6,295			
(116)4	35	41 (?/?)	6,251	95	133	
$(79)^2$	-	4 (4/0)	7,602	88		
Mean	36	535	6,188	106	139	
(sum of n)		(303/113)				
Paper IV	31	10 (5/5)	5,581	102	131	
Paper V	37	11 (2/9)	4,766	95	126	
		- ()	.,	Galdhard State		

Table 4. Overview of studies which have measured and reported BMR/RMR in patients with a stable COPD using indirect calorimetry.

Table 4. Continued						
Reference	FEV ₁	n (M/F)	BMR	BMR/kg	BMR/kg	
	(% pred)		(kJ)	BW (kJ/kg)	FFM	
					(kJ/kg)	
		"Normal" s	ubjects			
(40)		10 (10/0)	6,158	90	110	
(139)	110	7 (?/?)	6,925	1967 - 1977 - 1977 - 1977 - 1977 - 1977 - 1977 - 1977 - 1977 - 1977 - 1977 - 1977 - 1977 - 1977 - 1977 - 1977 -	1997 - 1997 -	
(112)	-	34 (18/16)	6,114	1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 -	-	
(52)	92	6 (5/1)	-	84		
(53)	100	7 (2/5)		91		
(61)	115	11 (11/0)	6,326			
(62)	108	12 (12/0)	6,808	-	-	
(4)	-	8 (8/0)	6,167			
(100)	113	8 (8/0)	-	-	118	
(79)	1.515 - 51999	5 (5/0)	7,130	100		
(105)	-	9 (9/0)	7,502	1999 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 -	-	
Mean	106	117 (88/22)	6,641	91	114	
(sum of n)						
¹ "undernourished", ² "adequately nourished", ³ "weight losing", ⁴ "weight stable"						

In fact, as shown in Figure 5, the equation from Harris & Benedict underestimated BMR in 12 of the 21 patients. This means that more patients would have been classified as having an elevated BMR by using this equation compared to the newer equations presented in Figure 4. A conclusion from this is:

It should not be anticipated that all patients with COPD have an elevated BMR. A measurement with indirect calorimetry is recommended when calculating energy requirements for COPD patients.

However, some COPD patients present an elevated BMR. Several possible explanations for this are available in the literature. Since all the factors mentioned below could be found in the COPD patient they should be taken into consideration, which makes a prediction of BMR even harder. This further strengthens the advice of measuring BMR when estimating energy requirement.

Increased energy cost of breathing

This was first studied by the research group led by Cherniack in Winnipeg, Canada. They showed that oxygen (O₂) cost of increased breathing in rest was higher in 17 COPD patients compared to eleven normal subjects (72). Donahoe et al (31) found that COPD patients with IBW < 90 % had an higher O₂ cost of breathing in rest, compared to COPD patients with IBW > 90 % and normal control subjects. Sridhar et al (123) compared six COPD patients to six scoliosis patients, six thoracoplasty patients and six controls. O₂ cost of breathing was four times higher in the patient groups compared to the controls. Mannix et al (79) showed a higher O₂ cost of breathing in ten COPD patients compared to five control subjects and they also found that the six patients with BMI < 18.4 kg/m² had a higher O₂ cost of breathing compared to the four patients with higher BMI (mean 26.0 kg/m²). It should be noted that these studies includes a limited number of subjects, and selected groups of both patients and "normal" subjects.

Inflammation

DiFrancia et al (30) found higher levels of tumor necrosis factor-alpha (TNF- α), which is a pro-inflammatory cytokine, in 16 underweight male COPD patients compared to the 14 normal weight male COPD patients. The latter ones had normal levels of TNF- α . A similar finding was made by de Godoy et al (28), who presented higher TNF-a production after lipopolysaccharide stimulation, in ten weight-losing COPD patients compared to ten weight-stable COPD patients and 13 age-matched healthy controls. Schols et al (110) further elucidated this in their study on 30 COPD patients and 26 healthy age-matched controls. Sixteen of the patients were defined as hypermetabolic, which was defined as a measured BMR > 120 % of the BMR predicted from the Harris & Benedict equation. They found higher levels of C-reactive protein (CRP) and lipopolysaccharide binding protein (LBP) in the hypermetabolic group. Eight hypermetabolic patients had elevated CRP, and these patients also had increased levels of soluble TNF receptors 55 and 75 and interleukin-8 (IL-8). These findings have later been confirmed by others (34, 88, 99). The role of cytokines in COPD is probably more complex than the possible effects on BMR and we are probably only in the start pit of understanding the relation between inflammation and malnutrition.
Medication

In a study of 13 stable COPD patients, Burdet et al (12) reported that salbutamol, a β_2 adrenergic bronchodilator, increased BMR with 5 %. This was not the case with ipratropium bromide, an anticholinergic bronchodilator, or placebo. A similar finding was found by Creutzberg et al (23) who found an increase in BMR of 4 % after nebulization of 5 mg salbutamol. Congleton and Muers (20), however, did not find any change in BMR in 17 patients with COPD after eight months of 5 mg salbutamol per day. An abstract, presented by Sridhar et al (122), indicates that the increase in BMR followed by salbutamol, is smaller in COPD patients, compared to controls. This might indicate a blunting of the effect following chronic use of salbutamol. An interesting study, illustrating this point, is a study of BMR after use of fluoxetine in obese women, which is used as medication for depression (8). A significant acute increase in BMR was noted, but after 12 weeks of treatment, no significant change in BMR was seen. Following this, we know that some medications used by COPD patients have acute effects on BMR, but the long-term effect is not yet fully understood. The same applies to the combined effect of several different medications.

Nicotine and caffeine

Collins et al (18) showed that smoking four 0.8 mg nicotine cigarettes increased BMR by 3 % over three hours in ten healthy men. Consumption of 200 mg caffeine increased BMR by 5 %. Ingesting 200 mg caffeine and in addition smoking four cigarettes increased BMR by 8 %. In a recent study, Jessen et al (65) reported the results from a randomized, double-blind placebo-controlled, crossover study using chewing gums with different amounts of nicotine and caffeine in 12 healthy men. BMR was measured before and 2.5 hours after the gum was chewed. The gum with the highest content of nicotine and caffeine, 2 mg and 100 mg respectively, increased BMR by 10 % A number of studies have reported acute effects of nicotine on BMR (2, 19, 92-97), while others (57, 87) showed no effect in heavy smokers. These studies investigated the acute effects on BMR. Hofstetter et al (60) studied eight healthy smokers twice during 24 hours in a metabolic chamber, once without smoking, and once while smoking 24 cigarettes. They found the energy expenditure to be 10 % higher during the smoking day compared to the non-smoking day, but the difference in BMR (105 kJ) was not statistically significant different. To summarize, both nicotine and caffeine have increasing effects on BMR, at least acutely.

Diet-induced thermogenesis (DIT)

DIT, or thermic effect of food (TEF) as it is also called, accounts for approximately 10 % of the TDE. In ten COPD patients, Goldstein et al (47, 48) found that DIT was 30 % higher compared to five control subjects, when following both a fat-based and a carbohydrate-based diet. Green and Muers (52) studied ten COPD patients and six age- and sex-matched controls. They showed that DIT, as a percentage of energy intake, was greater in the COPD patients compared to the controls. However, one year later they reported a study in which they found no difference in DIT between four groups of emphysematous COPD patients, bronchitic COPD patients, asthma patients or a control group (53). Ryan et al (103) reported a DIT of 24 % following a large meal (0.5 x BMR) in ten underweight COPD patients. This was not confirmed by Hugli et al (61) which compared DIT in eleven COPD patients and eleven healthy controls and found no significant difference in DIT between the two groups. Doré et al (32) did not find any difference in DIT between ten malnourished and 16 normally nourished COPD patients, and concluded that "these results suggest that malnutrition is not a consequence of an increased DIT". It is hard to draw any conclusions from these studies. They are performed in small patient groups and selected control groups, with different kind of meals, both in total energy content and in energy constituents.

Total daily energy expenditure (TDE) and physical activity

Even if BMR is the largest component of TDE, physical activity is the main determinant of variation in energy requirement, at least in healthy subjects. In paper IV and V in this thesis, we have used the DLW method to assess physical activity energy expenditure, which we have defined being the difference between TDE and BMR. DLW is well established and validated both in animals and humans (106-108) and is today considered to be the golden standard for assessment of TDE. The assessment is made with high precision without limiting the subjects' daily life. DLW consists of water labelled with the stable isotopes deuterium (²H) and oxygen-18 (¹⁸O), which is orally administered to the patient. The principle of the method is that, when ingested, ²H labels the total body water pool and ¹⁸O labels the total body water pool and the bicarbonate pool. In the urine samples that the patients leave during two weeks, the elimination rates of the two isotopes can be detected. The difference between the elimination rates of the two isotopes gives an estimate of CO₂ production and hence TDE. Accuracy of the method is generally in the order of 1-3 % and precision 2-8 % (86). The use of multi-point regression analysis of isotope elimination rates, which is used in this thesis, seems to offer 2-3 % better precision compared to the two-point (only baseline and final sample) method (86).

As shown in Table 5, only two other studies (4, 5) have reported TDE in COPD patients using the DLW method. Both these studies were performed in patients admitted to a pulmonary rehabilitation unit, hence having a high physical activity, probably accounting for the high physical activity level (PAL) found in those studies. The studies performed in indirect calorimetry chambers (62, 63) on the other hand, have a low level of physical activity. The 21 subjects in paper IV and V had a mean PAL of 1.50, when they were free-living at home. This is the same mean PAL as Fuller et al (45) reported in a study of 23 elderly (> 75 years) British men. Like us, Fuller noted a large range in PAL from 1.2 to 2.0, which is comparable to our values ranging from 1.15 to 1.88. So obviously, using a standard value of 1.5 or any other value to calculate a patient's energy requirement is of limited value. Measuring the physical activity is therefore necessary. In paper IV we used the Zutphen physical activity questionnaire (15), which we concluded can not be used for assessing a PAL-value. One of the problems with self-report physical activity measures, is that the validity is higher for reports of vigorous physical activity than for reports of moderate intensity activities (104). The latter ones are the ones dominating the life of patients with COPD. As we noted in paper IV, self-reports do not provide accurate estimations of the absolute amount of physical activity and we fully agree with Sallis and Saelens, who concluded that objective measurements should be used for this purpose (104).

	П	PAL	TDE				
COPD-patients							
Chamber 13			134 kJ/kg BW				
HR	13		167 kJ/kg BW				
Chamber	16	1.21	8,096 kJ				
DLW	8	1.7	10,456 kJ				
DLW	10	1.56	10,849 kJ				
DLW	10	1.78	11,000 kJ				
Bicarbonate-urea	10	1.52	6,309 kJ				
Accelerometer	20	1.56	9,100 kJ				
DLW	10	1.49	150 kJ/kg BW				
er V DLW 11		1.51	140 kJ/kg BW				
"Normal" subjects							
Chamber	8		121 kJ/kg BW				
HR	8		172 kJ/kg BW				
Chamber	12	1.26	8,560 kJ				
DLW	8	1.4	8,816 kJ				
	Chamber HR Chamber DLW DLW Bicarbonate-urea Accelerometer DLW DLW W Chamber HR Chamber HR Chamber DLW	COPD-pa Chamber 13 HR 13 Chamber 16 DLW 8 DLW 10 DLW 10 Bicarbonate-urea 10 Accelerometer 20 DLW 10 DLW 11 "Normal" s Chamber 8 HR 8 Chamber 12 DLW 8	COPD-patients Chamber 13 - HR 13 - Chamber 16 1.21 DLW 8 1.7 DLW 10 1.56 DLW 10 1.78 Bicarbonate-urea 10 1.52 Accelerometer 20 1.56 DLW 10 1.49 DLW 10 1.49 DLW 11 1.51 "Normal" subjects Chamber 8 - HR 8 - Chamber 12 1.26 DLW 8 1.4				

Table 5. Overview of studies which have measured TDE in patients with stable COPD.

What objective methods could then be used? Currently, mainly two methods exist from which a PAL value could be estimated; heart rate recording and movement sensors.

A linear relationship exists between oxygen uptake (VO_2) and heart rate (HR), which makes heart rate recording a possible method for energy expenditure estimation. However, at low intensities, factors such as fear, excitement and related emotional stress, as well as mode, duration and type of physical activity cause an elevated HR above the energy expenditure, and the relation is then no more linear. The method demands individual calibrations and has been shown to overestimate energy expenditure compared to DLW (36, 73, 118). With factors as medications, nicotine and anxiety, HR is hardly the method of choice when studying physical activity in COPD patients, and to my knowledge, heart rate recording has not been reported to be used for this purpose in COPD patients.

Various types of motion sensors have been developed such as the pedometer, which is a simple and low-cost device that records the number of steps taken with varying degree of sensitivity between different types of pedometers. Several types of accelerometers are also commercially available. They are able to detect and record the actual magnitude of acceleration. Under controlled conditions the validity is acceptable for assessing energy expenditure (131, 135). Validation studies performed under free-living conditions most often underestimate TDE due to an inability to detect upper body movement, load carriage, or changes in surface or terrain (6, 9, 58, 71, 124). However, accelerometers are currently used as criterion standard measurement (130) and it has also been used in COPD patients (50). It should, however, be emphasized that no calibration or validation study has yet been performed in COPD patients.

Due to the cost of purchase and analyzing, the DLW method is not applicable for large groups and especially not in the daily clinical setting. Questionnaires or interviews are not objective, heart-rate recording might not be appropriate for COPD patients and the validity of the movement sensors is questioned. So obviously, a lot is to be wished for in the future concerning estimation or measurement of physical activity energy expenditure. The importance of such a method is underlined in paper V, where we found that energy expenditure can increase with as much as 10 % during a physiotherapy program included in the pulmonary rehabilitation recommended in international treatment guidelines (120). This increase, however, was not apparent in more than three out of ten patients. In the clinical setting, it is necessary to have this knowledge about the patient to be able to calculate the energy requirement. One should not forget, however, that a long-term deficit in energy intake always results in a reduction in body weight, which of course needs to be monitored, not only by the dietitian.

Energy expenditure during rehabilitation

Multidisciplinary rehabilitation programs, including physiotherapy (mobility training, breathing exercises, and physical exercise), nutritional support, psychotherapy and education are recommended in treatment guidelines for COPD patients (120). We have shown slight, but uniform, indications of positive effects of dietary intervention during multidisciplinary rehabilitation in the patient sample presented in paper I (121). However, we also found that the underweight patients did not increase both in physical performance and body weight, despite an increase in energy intake. This led us to examine how much extra energy that underweight COPD patients expend when entering a rehabilitation program. During our data collection. Tang et al (128) published a study where they compared energy expenditure on one day without physical exercise to a day with physical exercise in COPD patients. In the ten patients, they reported a small increase in TDE (mean = 250 kJ), which was non-significant and they explained this by a probable reduction in discretionary activities on the exercise day. Goran and Poehlman reported similar results in eleven healthy elderly (49). Mean TDE, measured with DLW, was not different during a period of cycling exercises three times per week compared to a control period. They calculated that this was due to a compensatory decline in physical activity during the remainder of the day. This is also a possible explanation in paper V, where we found a median reduction of 10 % in TDE during physiotherapy compared to the control period. However, we also suggest that the breathing exercises performed may make the patients reduce their oxygen cost of breathing, both during rest and physical activity, which would lead to a reduction in TDE. This remains to be investigated in detail. The conclusion drawn from paper V is therefore:

Inclusion into a physiotherapy program is not necessarily followed by an increase in TDE. This calls for an individual assessment of each patient's energy requirements and the need to develop and validate alternative methods to the DLW method to assess TDE.

Energy intake

On the left side of the energy balance scale on the front page you find the energy intake (EI), constituted by carbohydrate, protein, fat and alcohol. An EI which is lower than the energy expenditure results in weight loss. Table 6 presents studies having estimated EI in COPD patients. Schols et al (116) could not detect any difference in EI between weight stable and weight loosing COPD patients. They found however, that hypoxemic patients (FEV₁ < 35 % and Pao₂ < 7.3 kPa) had a lower EI compared to non-hypoxemic patients. The studies investigating habitual EI showed a mean EI that was sufficient to meet the requirements, hence some of the patients had an insufficient energy intake. Some of the studies in Table 6 studied EI during hospitalization due to an exacerbation of the disease and found a low EI – especially during the first days of admission. So, even if most of the studies report sufficient energy intake, it is obvious that the habitual intake is suboptimal for some patients and for most patients experiencing an exacerbation. As discussed in paper IV, methodological problems may exist in some of these dietary assessment studies.

Reference	Method	n	EI/BMR	EI/day
(64)	Diet history	36	-	10,606 kJ
(10)	3 day record	60	1.56	
(116)	Diet history	39	1.41	133 kJ/kg BW
(116)	Diet history	41	1.46	128 kJ/kg BW
(103)	7 day record	10	1.35	5,874 kJ
$(136)^1$	Diet history	23		7,863 kJ
$(136)^2$	Diet record	23	1.45^{2}	9,545 kJ
(111)	Diet history	27	-	8,970 kJ
(111)	Diet history	15	-	7,544 kJ
(26)	Diet history	17	-	8,619 kJ
(121)	Diet history	63	1.37	128 kJ/kg BW
(128)	1 day record	10	-	4,816 kJ
(50)	7 day record	20		9,100 kJ
$(16)^3$	Diet history	24	-	7,088 kJ
$(16)^4$	Diet history	79	-1994 - 1994 - 1994 - 1994 - 1994 - 1994 - 1994 - 1994 - 1994 - 1994 - 1994 - 1994 - 1994 - 1994 - 1994 - 1994	8,171 kJ
Paper IV	7 day record	10	1.39	131 kJ/kg BW
Paper V	7 day record	11	1.44	137 kJ/kg BW

Table 6.	Overview	of studie	s which	have	estimated	EI	in	patients	with	stable
COPD ex	cluding stu	udies repo	rting EI	during	g hospital s	stay	or	dy.		

¹Habitual intake, ²Discharge from hospital following an acute exacerbation, ³Malnourished, ⁴Adequately nourished

Three years ago, a meta-analysis of 21 studies (39) concluded that nutritional supplementation therapy has no effect on improving anthropometric measures, lung function or functional exercise capacity. However, further studies have been published showing positive effects of nutritional supplementation programs on pulmonary function (14), body weight and FFMI (25), and exercise capacity (though only in patients with BMI > 19 kg/m²) (125). Goris et al (50) reported a stable BMI in their intervention study in both the control and the intervention group. A stable body weight is a better result than a further decreased body weight. To my knowledge, a study with the aim of preventing normal-weight COPD patients to reduce body weight has not yet been made.

Summing up and suggestions for the future

Body composition, measured by BIA and presented as FFMI, is an independent predictor of mortality in COPD patients.

• This finding has to be confirmed in a prospective study with a larger sample size and preferably also including COPD patients with moderate and mild COPD.

BI should be measured in the fasting state after ten minutes in the supine position.

• This is not only valid for scientists, but should also be followed in the clinical setting and other places were BI measurements are performed.

Energy requirements can not solely be calculated from prediction equations. BMR should be measured and physical activity level assessed. Inclusion into a physiotherapy program is not necessarily followed by an increase in TDE.

- Further insight in which factors that affect BMR in COPD patients should be elucidated and COPD-specific prediction equations for BMR based on a large sample of heterogeneous patients should be developed.
- Methods for assessing energy requirements suitable to use in the clinical setting needs to be developed, tested and validated in COPD patients.
- A study with the aim of preventing normal-weight COPD patients to reduce body weight should be carried out.

Acknowledgements

Under 30 år är det många människor som påverkar en att bli den man är. Denna avhandling är ett resultat av de senaste fem årens arbete. Jag vill gärna tacka alla som under min barndom och uppväxt varit med och format mig till den människa som återspeglas i denna avhandling. Speciellt vill jag tacka mina föräldrar, Anders & Nora! Takk før at de har trutt på meg, støtta meg i adle mine val, hjelpt meg på adle dei sett. Utan dikka hadde det ikkje vorte noko bok eller doktargrad. Jag vill också tacka mina bröder och deras familjer samt resten av min släkt som hjälpt mig att hålla mig kvar i "verkligheten".

Under doktorandtiden har det funnits en rad personer som jag på detta sätt vill visa min tacksamhet mot:

LENA ROSSANDER-HULTHÉN, huvudhandledare. Jag har lärt mig fantastiskt mycket av dig de senaste fem åren. Förutom att ge mig en mycket bra forskargrund har du lärt mig att man skall ta chansen och se möjligheter även om det inte är uppenbart. Du har lärt mig att utnyttja nyfikenheten och att aldrig vara rädd för nya situationer eller utmaningar. Du har också lärt mig att koppla av och se andra kvaliteter i livet än arbetslivet, ett av många exempel på detta är när du visat mig många olika sidor av Stockholm vid olika tillfällen.

SVEN LARSSON, biträdande handledare. Tack Sven, för att du har lotsat in mig i den lungmedicinska världen och handlett mig i den svåra konsten att genomföra studier i den kliniska vardagen. Tack också för den stora insats du har lagt ned på att få finansiering för våra samarbetsprojekt.

ADAM BARK, JEANETTE JANSSON. Tack för er insats under arbetet med arbete III.

AGNETA SJÖBERG, JENNY VAN ODIJK, SUSAN ANDERSSON. Jag har lärt mig mycket av er och era processer för att bli doktorer. Att lära av andras erfarenheter gör det enklare.

ANITA NORDENSON. Tack för all hjälp med patienthantering i arbete V.

ANNEMARIE GRÖNBERG. Utan dig hade jag antagligen inte börjat intressera mig för KOL-patienter. Tack för din insats i patientrekrytering, journalgrävande samt mycket värdefull input i våra samarbetsprojekt.

ANNICA ALKLIND, BIRGITTA ARVIDSSON, VIBEKE MALMROS. Tack för all hjälp med blodprovstagning och DXA-mätningar samt många roliga morgonstunder i DXA-rummet. BIOMEDICINSKA BIBLIOTEKET. Utan den otroliga service som ni ger, hade avhandlingen blivit mycket svårare att skriva. Tack för all hjälp med framplockning av "gamla" artiklar och för alla tjänster som ni erbjuder på nätet. Det är en enorm tillgång att ha så många glada och trevliga bibliotekarier på ett och samma ställe.

BODIL HULTÉN, HENRIETTE PHILIPSSON. Att vara student på era kurser har hjälpt mig att utvecklas som forskare. Att undervisa på era kurser har hjälpt mig att utvecklas som pedagog. Att helt enkelt bara "tjôta" har hjälpt mig att lyfta blicken.

DANIEL ARVIDSSON, MICHAEL HOPPE, THOMAS JOHANSSON. Det är inte alltid lätt att dela sitt kontorsrum med andra, men jag kan inte vara annat jättenöjd med att haft er som rumskamrater.

ELISABETH GRAMATKOVSKI. Även om massen är svår ibland håller du alltid humöret uppe. Tusen tack för all hjälp med provrör, analyser och för att du alltid har ordning och reda. Tack också för många trevliga bussresor mellan Kungälv och Göteborg.

FREDRIK OHLSSON. Tack för att du har varit min bästa vän de senaste åren. Tack för lånet av dina ögon för detaljer i genomläsning av manuskript.

HILDE BREKKE. Takk for all hjelp når jeg var ny og uskyldig på AKN. Vi har hatt veldig mange stimulerende diskusjoner om statistikk og metodikk og alt mulig. Det har virkelig beriket mitt liv, både på og utenfor jobbet. Ser fram til mange fler (og kanskje litt provoserende) diskusjoner i framtiden.

INGER JOHANSSON, CATHRIN ENEROTH Utan er hade det inte blivit några BMR-mätningar i arbete IV. Det var jättemysigt att äta frukost tillsammans med er efter varje mätning.

KATARINA KVARNHULT. Tack för din insats med träning och manusskrivande i arbete V. Buono fortuna per il tuo viaggio e la tua vita in Italia!

LASSE ELLEGÅRD. Utan dig vore dubbelmärkt vatten mycket svårare. Man kan alltid komma till dig med alla möjliga och omöjliga frågor och alltid få ett svar. Tack också för att arbete IV blev det det blev.

LISA HA. Jeg antar at du kommer å få mange designerjobb etter å ha hjelpt meg med å designe fremsiden på avhandlingen. Takk for det og for at du er en god venn og kollega. Lykke til med din egen forskerutdannelse. RAGNHILD ARVIDSSON LENNER. Utan din hjälp hade jag antagligen aldrig blivit doktorand från början. Det kommer jag att vara dig evigt tacksam för.

STINE STØRSRUD. Det er ikke mange venner man har for livet. Men du er en sånn. Selv om den geografiske avstanden til tider har vært stor har vi de siste 12 årene holdt kontakten. Jeg ser frem mot å være din venn i framtiden også!

ALLA ANDRA PÅ AVDELNINGEN FÖR KLINISK NÄRINGSLÄRA SAMT SEKTIONEN FÖR KLINISK NUTRITION. Tack för att ni skapar en kreativ och trivsam arbetsmiljö samt all hjälp på vägen fram till denna avhandling.

The thesis was funded by the Swedish Heart Lung Foundation (Hjärt-Lungfonden), the Swedish Heart and Lung Association (Hjärt- och Lungsjukas Riksförbund samt Länsförening i Västra Götaland), the Swedish Nutrition Foundation and the Ingabritt and Arne Lundberg Foundation.

References

- 1. Adriaens MP, Schoffelen PF, Westerterp KR. Intra-individual variation of basal metabolic rate and the influence of daily habitual physical activity before testing. *Br J Nutr* 2003;90:419-23.
- 2. Arcavi L, Jacob P, 3rd, Hellerstein M, Benowitz NL. Divergent tolerance to metabolic and cardiovascular effects of nicotine in smokers with low and high levels of cigarette consumption. Clin Pharmacol Ther 1994;56:55-64.
- 3. Baarends EM, Schols AM, Akkermans MA, Wouters EF. Decreased mechanical efficiency in clinically stable patients with COPD. Thorax 1997;52:981-6.
- 4. Baarends EM, Schols AM, Pannemans DL, Westerterp KR, Wouters EF. Total free living energy expenditure in patients with severe chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1997;155:549-54.
- 5. Baarends EM, Schols AM, Westerterp KR, Wouters EF. Total daily energy expenditure relative to resting energy expenditure in clinically stable patients with COPD. Thorax 1997;52:780-5.
- 6. Bassett DR, Jr., Ainsworth BE, Swartz AM, Strath SJ, O'Brien WL, King GA. Validity of four motion sensors in measuring moderate intensity physical activity. *Med Sci Sports Exerc* 2000;32:S471-80.
- Bengtsson C, Hultén B, Larsson B, Noppa H, Steen B, Warnold I. New weight and height tables for Swedish middle aged and elderly men and women. Läkartidningen 1981;78:3152-4.
- 8. Bondi M, Menozzi R, Bertolini M, Venneri MG, Del Rio G. Metabolic effects of fluoxetine in obese menopausal women. J Endocrinol Invest 2000;23:280-6.
- Brage S, Wedderkopp N, Franks PW, Andersen LB, Froberg K. Reexamination of validity and reliability of the CSA monitor in walking and running. *Med Sci Sports Exerc* 2003;35:1447-54.
- Braun SR, Keim NL, Dixon RM, Clagnaz P, Anderegg A, Shrago ES. The prevalence and determinants of nutritional changes in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Chest* 1984;86:558-63.
- 11. British Thoracic Society. BTS guidelines for the management of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. The COPD Guidelines Group of the Standards of Care Committee of the BTS. Thorax 1997;52 Suppl 5:S1-28.
- 12. Burdet L, de Muralt B, Schutz Y, Fitting JW. Thermogenic effect of bronchodilators in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Thorax* 1997;52:130-5.

- 13. Burdet L, de Muralt B, Schutz Y, Pichard C, Fitting JW. Administration of growth hormone to underweight patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. A prospective, randomized, controlled study. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1997;156:1800-6.
- 14. Cai B, Zhu Y, Ma Y, Xu Z, Zao Y, Wang J, Lin Y, Comer GM. Effect of Supplementing a High-Fat, Low-Carbohydrate Enteral Formula in COPD Patients. *Nutrition* 2003;19:229-32.
- 15. Caspersen CJ, Bloemberg BP, Saris WH, Merritt RK, Kromhout D. The prevalence of selected physical activities and their relation with coronary heart disease risk factors in elderly men: the Zutphen Study, 1985. Am J Epidemiol 1991;133:1078-92.
- 16. Cochrane WJ, Afolabi OA. Investigation into the nutritional status, dietary intake and smoking habits of patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *J Hum Nutr Diet* 2004;17:3-11.
- 17. Cohen RI, Marzouk K, Berkoski P, O'Donnell CP, Polotsky VY, Scharf SM. Body composition and resting energy expenditure in clinically stable, non-weight-losing patients with severe emphysema. Chest 2003;124:1365-72.
- Collins LC, Cornelius MF, Vogel RL, Walker JF, Stamford BA. Effect of caffeine and/or cigarette smoking on resting energy expenditure. Int J Obes 1994;18:551-6.
- 19. Collins LC, Walker J, Stamford BA. Smoking multiple high-versus low-nicotine cigarettes: impact on resting energy expenditure. *Metabolism* 1996;45:923-6.
- 20. Congleton J, Muers MF. Effect of regular use of high-dose nebulized beta2-agonists on resting energy expenditure, weight, and handgrip strength in patients with chronic airflow limitation. Chest 1998;113:1588-94.
- 21. Cotes JE. Prognostic and therapeutic implications of deranged pulmonary function. Proc R Soc Med 1962;55:454-6.
- 22. Cox DR. Regression models and life tables. J R Stat Soc [B] 1972;34:187-220.
- 23. Creutzberg EC, Schols AM, Bothmer-Quaedvlieg FC, Wesseling G, Wouters EF. Acute effects of nebulized salbutamol on resting energy expenditure in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and in healthy subjects. *Respiration* 1998;65:375-80.
- 24. Creutzberg EC, Schols AM, Bothmer-Quaedvlieg FC, Wouters EF. Prevalence of an elevated resting energy expenditure in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease in relation to body composition and lung function. Eur J Clin Nutr 1998;52:396-401.

- 25. Creutzberg EC, Wouters EF, Mostert R, Weling-Scheepers CA, Schols AM. Efficacy of nutritional aupplementation therapy in depleted patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Nutrition* 2003;19:120-7.
- 26. Creutzberg EC, Wouters EF, Vanderhoven-Augustin IM, Dentener MA, Schols AM. Disturbances in leptin metabolism are related to energy imbalance during acute exacerbations of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2000;162:1239-45.
- 27. Crockett AJ, Cranston JM, Moss JR, Alpers JH. Trends in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease mortality in Australia. Med J Aust 1994;161:600-3.
- 28. de Godoy I, Donahoe M, Calhoun WJ, Mancino J, Rogers RM. Elevated TNF-alpha production by peripheral blood monocytes of weight-losing COPD patients. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1996;153:633-7.
- 29. Deurenberg P, Weststrate JA, Paymans I, van der Kooy K. Factors affecting bioelectrical impedance measurements in humans. Eur J Clin Nutr 1988;42:1017-22.
- 30. Di Francia M, Barbier D, Mege JL, Orehek J. Tumor necrosis factoralpha levels and weight loss in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1994;150:1453-5.
- 31. Donahoe M, Rogers RM, Wilson DO, Pennock BE. Oxygen consumption of the respiratory muscles in normal and in malnourished patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Am Rev Respir Dis 1989;140:385-91.
- 32. Dore MF, Laaban JP, Orvoen-Frija E, Kouchakji B, Joubert M, Rochemaure J. Role of the thermic effect of food in malnutrition of patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1997;155:1535-40.
- 33. Durnin JV, Womersley J. Body fat assessed from total body density and its estimation from skinfold thickness: measurements on 481 men and women aged from 16 to 72 years. Br J Nutr 1974;32:77-97.
- 34. Eid AA, Ionescu AA, Nixon LS, Lewis-Jenkins V, Matthews SB, Griffiths TL, Shale DJ. Inflammatory response and body composition in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2001;164:1414-8.
- 35. Ellis KJ, Bell SJ, Chertow GM, Chumlea WC, Knox TA, Kotler DP, Lukaski HC, Schoeller DA. Bioelectrical impedance methods in clinical research: a follow-up to the NIH Technology Assessment Conference. Nutrition 1999;15:874-80.

- 36. Emons HJ, Groenenboom DC, Westerterp KR, Saris WH. Comparison of heart rate monitoring combined with indirect calorimetry and the doubly labelled water (2H2(18)O) method for the measurement of energy expenditure in children. Eur J Appl Physiol Occup Physiol 1992;65:99-103.
- 37. Engelen MP, Schols AM, Baken WC, Wesseling G, Wouters EF. Nutritional depletion in relation to respiratory and peripheral skeletal muscle function in out-patients with COPD. Eur Respir J 1994;7:1793-7.
- 38. FAO/WHO/UNU. *Energy and protein requirements*. Technical Report Series 724. Geneva: World Health Organization, 1985.
- 39. Ferreira I, Brooks D, Lacasse Y, Goldstein R. Nutritional intervention in COPD: a systematic overview. *Chest* 2001;119:353-63.
- 40. Fitting JW, Frascarolo P, Jequier E, Leuenberger P. Energy expenditure and rib cage-abdominal motion in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Eur Respir J* 1989;2:840-5.
- 41. Fjellanger R, Brøgger JC, Eagan T, Gulsvik A. Mortality after hospitalization for obstructive lung disease. *Tidsskr Nor Laegeforen* 2003;123:775-8.
- 42. Forbes RM, Cooper AR, Mitchell HH. The composition of the adult human body as determined by chemical analysis. J Biol Chem 1953;203:359-66.
- 43. Forbes RM, Mitchell HH, Cooper AR. Further studies on the gross composition and mineral elements of the adult human body. J Biol Chem 1956;223:969-75.
- 44. Franssen FM, Wouters EF, Baarends EM, Akkermans MA, Schols AM. Arm mechanical efficiency and arm exercise capacity are relatively preserved in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Med Sci Sports Exerc* 2002;34:1570-6.
- 45. Fuller NJ, Sawyer MB, Coward WA, Paxton P, Elia M. Components of total energy expenditure in free-living elderly men (over 75 years of age): measurement, predictability and relationship to quality-of-life indices. *Br J Nutr* 1996;75:161-73.
- 46. Gallagher M, Walker KZ, O'Dea K. The influence of a breakfast meal on the assessment of body composition using bioelectrical impedance. Eur J Clin Nutr 1998;52:94-7.
- 47. Goldstein S, Askanazi J, Weissman C, Thomashow B, Kinney JM. Energy expenditure in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Chest 1987;91:222-4.
- 48. Goldstein SA, Thomashow BM, Kvetan V, Askanazi J, Kinney JM, Elwyn DH. Nitrogen and energy relationships in malnourished patients with emphysema. *Am Rev Respir Dis* 1988;138:636-44.

- 49. Goran MI, Poehlman ET. Endurance training does not enhance total energy expenditure in healthy elderly persons. Am J Physiol 1992;263:E950-7.
- 50. Goris AH, Vermeeren MA, Wouters EF, Schols AM, Westerterp KR. Energy balance in depleted ambulatory patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: the effect of physical activity and oral nutritional supplementation. Br J Nutr 2003;89:725-31.
- 51. Gray-Donald K, Gibbons L, Shapiro SH, Macklem PT, Martin JG. Nutritional status and mortality in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1996;153:961-6.
- 52. Green JH, Muers MF. The thermic effect of food in underweight patients with emphysematous chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Eur Respir J 1991;4:813-9.
- 53. Green JH, Muers MF. Comparisons between basal metabolic rate and diet-induced thermogenesis in different types of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Clin Sci (Lond)* 1992;83:109-16.
- 54. Haderslev KV, Staun M. Comparison of dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry to four other methods to determine body composition in underweight patients with chronic gastrointestinal disease. *Metabolism* 2000;49:360-6.
- 55. Halbert RJ, Isonaka S, George D, Iqbal A. Interpreting COPD prevalence estimates: what is the true burden of disease? Chest 2003;123:1684-92.
- 56. Harris JA, Benedict FG. *A biometric study of basal metabolism in man.* Publication 279. Washington DC: Carnegie Institute, 1919.
- 57. Hellerstein MK, Benowitz NL, Neese RA, Schwartz JM, Hoh R, Jacob P, 3rd, Hsieh J, Faix D. Effects of cigarette smoking and its cessation on lipid metabolism and energy expenditure in heavy smokers. J Clin Invest 1994;93:265-72.
- 58. Hendelman D, Miller K, Baggett C, Debold E, Freedson P. Validity of accelerometry for the assessment of moderate intensity physical activity in the field. *Med Sci Sports Exerc* 2000;32:S442-9.
- 59. Hoffer EC, Meador CK, Simpson DC. Correlation of whole-body impedance with total body water volume. J Appl Physiol 1969;27:531-4.
- 60. Hofstetter A, Schutz Y, Jequier E, Wahren J. Increased 24-hour energy expenditure in cigarette smokers. N Engl J Med 1986;314:79-82.
- 61. Hugli O, Frascarolo P, Schutz Y, Jequier E, Leuenberger P, Fitting JW. Diet-induced thermogenesis in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Am Rev Respir Dis 1993;148:1479-83.
- 62. Hugli O, Schutz Y, Fitting JW. The daily energy expenditure in stable chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1996;153:294-300.

- 63. Hugli O, Schutz Y, Leuenberger P, Fitting JW. The daily energy expenditure of COPD patients in confined and free-living conditions. Am Rev Respir Dis 1991;143:A453.
- 64. Hunter AM, Carry MA, Larsh HW. The nutritional status of patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Am Rev Respir Dis 1981;124:376-81.
- 65. Jessen AB, Toubro S, Astrup A. Effect of chewing gum containing nicotine and caffeine on energy expenditure and substrate utilization in men. Am J Clin Nutr 2003;77:1442-7.
- 66. Kyle UG, Pichard C, Rochat T, Slosman DO, Fitting JW, Thiebaud D. New bioelectrical impedance formula for patients with respiratory insufficiency: comparison to dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry. Eur Respir J 1998;12:960-6.
- 67. Kyle UG, Schutz Y, Dupertuis YM, Pichard C. Body composition interpretation. Contributions of the fat-free mass index and the body fat mass index. *Nutrition* 2003;19:597-604.
- 68. Kyle UG, Slosman DO, Pichard C. Underestimation of fat-free mass in women, but not men, by dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry. Comparison with total body potassium and bioelectrical impedance analysis. Ann NY Acad Sci 2000;904:126-7.
- 69. Lacasse Y, Brooks D, Goldstein RS. Trends in the epidemiology of COPD in Canada, 1980 to 1995. COPD and Rehabilitation Committee of the Canadian Thoracic Society. Chest 1999;116:306-13.
- 70. Larsson S. Personal communication. Göteborg, July 13th, 2004.
- Leenders NYJM, Sherman WM, Nagaraja HN, Kien CL. Evaluation of methods to assess physical activity in free-living conditions. *Med Sci* Sports Exerc 2001;33:1233-40.
- 72. Levison H, Cherniack RM. Ventilatory cost of exercise in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. J Appl Physiol 1968;25:21-7.
- 73. Livingstone MB, Prentice AM, Coward WA, Ceesay SM, Strain JJ, McKenna PG, Nevin GB, Barker ME, Hickey RJ. Simultaneous measurement of free-living energy expenditure by the doubly labeled water method and heart-rate monitoring. Am J Clin Nutr 1990;52:59-65.
- 74. Lopez AD, Murray CC. The Global Burden of Disease, 1990-2020. Nat Med 1998;4:1241-3.
- 75. Lozano-Nieto A, Turner AA. Effects of orthostatic fluid shifts on bioelectrical impedance measurements. *Biomed Instrum Technol* 2001;35:249-58.

- 76. Lundbäck B, Lindberg A, Lindström M, Rönmark E, Jonsson AC, Jönsson E, Larsson LG, Andersson S, Sandström T, Larsson K. Not 15 but 50% of smokers develop COPD?--Report from the Obstructive Lung Disease in Northern Sweden Studies. *Respir Med* 2003;97:115-22.
- 77. Mador MJ. Muscle mass, not body weight, predicts outcome in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2002;166:787-9.
- 78. Mannino DM, Brown C, Giovino GA. Obstructive lung disease deaths in the United States from 1979 through 1993. An analysis using multiple-cause mortality data. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1997;156:814-8.
- 79. Mannix ET, Manfredi F, Farber MO. Elevated O2 cost of ventilation contributes to tissue wasting in COPD. Chest 1999;115:708-13.
- 80. Marquis K, Debigare R, Lacasse Y, LeBlanc P, Jobin J, Carrier G, Maltais F. Midthigh muscle cross-sectional area is a better predictor of mortality than body mass index in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2002;166:809-13.
- Maru S, van der Schouw YT, Gimbrere CH, Grobbee DE, Peeters PH.
 Body mass index and short-term weight change in relation to mortality in Dutch women after age 50 y. Am J Clin Nutr 2004;80:231-6.
- 82. Mazess RB, Barden HS, Bisek JP, Hanson J. Dual-energy x-ray absorptiometry for total-body and regional bone-mineral and soft-tissue composition. Am J Clin Nutr 1990;51:1106-12.
- 83. Medical Research Council. Definition and classification of chronic bronchitis for clinical and epidemiological purposes. A report to the Medical Research Council by their Committee on the Aetiology of Chronic Bronchitis. Lancet 1965;1:775-9.
- 84. Mitchell HH, Hamilton TS, Steggerda FR, Bean HW. The chemical composition of the adult human body and its bearing on the biochemistry of growth. *J Biol Chem* 1945;158:625-37.
- 85. Moore JA, Angelillo VA. Equations for the prediction of resting energy expenditure in chronic obstructive lung disease. Chest 1988;94:1260-3.
- 86. Nagy KA. Introduction. In: Prentice AM, ed. The doubly-labelled water method for measuring energy expenditure. Technical recommendations for use in humans. Vienna: International Atomic Energy Agency, 1990:1-16.

- 87. Neese RA, Benowitz NL, Hoh R, Faix D, LaBua A, Pun K, Hellerstein MK. Metabolic interactions between surplus dietary energy intake and cigarette smoking or its cessation. Am J Physiol 1994;267:E1023-34.
- 88. Nguyen LT, Bedu M, Caillaud D, Beaufrere B, Beaujon G, Vasson M, Coudert J, Ritz P. Increased resting energy expenditure is related to plasma TNF-alpha concentration in stable COPD patients. Clin Nutr 1999;18:269-74.
- 89. Openbrier DR, Irwin MM, Rogers RM, Gottlieb GP, Dauber JH, Van Thiel DH, Pennock BE. Nutritional status and lung function in patients with emphysema and chronic bronchitis. Eur Respir J 1983;83:17-22.
- 90. Pace N, Rathbun EN. Studies on body composition. III. The body water and chemically combined nitrogen content in relation to fat content. J Biol Chem 1949;158:685-91.
- 91. Pauwels RA, Buist AS, Calverley PM, Jenkins CR, Hurd SS. Global strategy for the diagnosis, management, and prevention of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. NHLBI/WHO Global Initiative for Chronic Obstructive Lung Disease (GOLD) Workshop summary. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2001;163:1256-76.
- 92. Perkins KA, Epstein LH, Marks BL, Stiller RL, Jacob RG. The effect of nicotine on energy expenditure during light physical activity. N Engl J Med 1989;320:898-903.
- 93. Perkins KA, Epstein LH, Sexton JE, Stiller RL, Jacob RG. Effects of dose, gender, and level of physical activity on acute metabolic response to nicotine. *Pharmacol Biochem Behav* 1991;40:203-8.
- 94. Perkins KA, Epstein LH, Stiller RL, Sexton JE, Fernstrom MH, Jacob RG, Solberg R. Metabolic effects of nicotine after consumption of a meal in smokers and nonsmokers. Am J Clin Nutr 1990;52:228-33.
- 95. Perkins KA, Sexton JE. Influence of aerobic fitness, activity level, and smoking history on the acute thermic effect of nicotine. *Physiol Behav* 1995;57:1097-102.
- 96. Perkins KA, Sexton JE, DiMarco A. Acute thermogenic effects of nicotine and alcohol in healthy male and female smokers. *Physiol Behav* 1996;60:305-9.
- 97. Perkins KA, Sexton JE, Epstein LH, DiMarco A, Fonte C, Stiller RL, Scierka A, Jacob RG. Acute thermogenic effects of nicotine combined with caffeine during light physical activity in male and female smokers. Am J Clin Nutr 1994;60:312-9.
- 98. Pichard C, Kyle UG, Gremion G, Gerbase M, Slosman DO. Body composition by x-ray absorptiometry and bioelectrical impedance in female runners. *Med Sci Sports Exerc* 1997;29:1527-34.

- 99. Pitsiou G, Kyriazis G, Hatzizisi O, Argyropoulou P, Mavrofridis E, Patakas D. Tumor necrosis factor-alpha serum levels, weight loss and tissue oxygenation in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Respir Med 2002;96:594-8.
- 100. Pouw EM, Schols AM, Deutz NE, Wouters EF. Plasma and muscle amino acid levels in relation to resting energy expenditure and inflammation in stable chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1998;158:797-801.
- 101. Prescott E, Bjerg AM, Andersen PK, Lange P, Vestbo J. Gender difference in smoking effects on lung function and risk of hospitalization for COPD: results from a Danish longitudinal population study. Eur Respir J 1998;10:822-7.
- 102. Roos AN, Westendorp RG, Frolich M, Meinders AE. Tetrapolar body impedance is influenced by body posture and plasma sodium concentration. Eur J Clin Nutr 1992;46:53-60.
- 103. Ryan CF, Road JD, Buckley PA, Ross C, Whittaker JS. Energy balance in stable malnourished patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Chest 1993;103:1038-44.
- 104. Sallis JF, Saelens BE. Assessment of physical activity by self-report: status, limitations, and future directions. Res Q Exerc Sport 2000;71:S1-S14.
- 105. Schiffelers SL, Blaak EE, Baarends EM, Van Baak MA, Saris WH, Wouters EF, Schols AM. beta-Adrenoceptor-mediated thermogenesis and lipolysis in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab 2001;280:E357-64.
- 106. Schoeller D, van Santen E. Measurement of energy expenditure in humans by doubly labeled water method. J Appl Physiol 1982;53:955-9.
- 107. Schoeller DA. Measurement of energy expenditure in free-living humans by using doubly labeled water. J Nutr 1988;118:1278-89.
- 108. Schoeller DA, Ravussin E, Schutz Y, Acheson KJ, Baertschi P, Jequier E. Energy expenditure by doubly labeled water: validation in humans and proposed calculation. Am J Physiol 1986;250:R823-30.
- 109. Schofield WN. Predicting basal metabolic rate, new standards and review of previous work. *Hum Nutr Clin Nutr* 1985;39 Suppl 1:5-41.
- 110. Schols AM, Buurman WA, Staal van den Brekel AJ, Dentener MA, Wouters EF. Evidence for a relation between metabolic derangements and increased levels of inflammatory mediators in a subgroup of patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Thorax 1996;51:819-24.
- 111. Schols AM, Creutzberg EC, Buurman WA, Campfield LA, Saris WH, Wouters EF. Plasma leptin is related to proinflammatory status and dietary intake in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1999;160:1220-6.

- 112. Schols AM, Fredrix EW, Soeters PB, Westerterp KR, Wouters EF. Resting energy expenditure in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Am J Clin Nutr 1991;54:983-7.
- 113. Schols AM, Schoffelen PF, Ceulemans H, Wouters EF, Saris WH. Measurement of resting energy expenditure in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease in a clinical setting. JPEN J Parenter Enteral Nutr 1992;16:364-8.
- 114. Schols AM, Slangen J, Volovics L, Wouters EF. Weight loss is a reversible factor in the prognosis of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1998;157:1791-7.
- 115. Schols AM, Soeters PB, Dingemans AM, Mostert R, Frantzen PJ, Wouters EF. Prevalence and characteristics of nutritional depletion in patients with stable COPD eligible for pulmonary rehabilitation. Am Rev Respir Dis 1993;147:1151-6.
- 116. Schols AM, Soeters PB, Mostert R, Saris WH, Wouters EF. Energy balance in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Am Rev Respir Dis 1991;143:1248-52.
- Schols AM, Wouters EF, Soeters PB, Westerterp KR. Body composition by bioelectrical-impedance analysis compared with deuterium dilution and skinfold anthropometry in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Am J Clin Nutr 1991;53:421-4.
- 118. Schulz S, Westerterp KR, Bruck K. Comparison of energy expenditure by the doubly labeled water technique with energy intake, heart rate, and activity recording in man. Am J Clin Nutr 1989;49:1146-54.
- 119. Segal KR, Van Loan M, Fitzgerald PI, Hodgdon JA, Van Itallie TB. Lean body mass estimation by bioelectrical impedance analysis: a four-site cross-validation study. Am J Clin Nutr 1988;47:7-14.
- 120. Siafakas NM, Vermeire P, Pride NB, Paoletti P, Gibson J, Howard P, Yernault JC, Decramer M, Higenbottam T, Postma DS, et al. Optimal assessment and management of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD). The European Respiratory Society Task Force. Eur Respir J 1995;8:1398-420.
- Slinde F, Grönberg AM, Engström CP, Rossander-Hulthen L, Larsson S. Individual dietary intervention in patients with COPD during multidisciplinary rehabilitation. *Respir Med* 2002;96:330-6.
- 122. Sridhar MK. Thermogenic effect of bronchodilators in COPD. Thorax 1997;52:751-2.
- 123. Sridhar MK, Carter R, Lean ME, Banham SW. Resting energy expenditure and nutritional state of patients with increased oxygen cost of breathing due to emphysema, scoliosis and thoracoplasty. *Thorax* 1994;49:781-5.

- 124. Starling RD, Matthews DE, Ades PA, Poehlman ET. Assessment of physical activity in older individuals: a doubly labeled water study. J Appl Physiol 1999;86:2090-6.
- 125. Steiner MC, Barton RL, Singh SJ, Morgan MD. Nutritional enhancement of exercise performance in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: a randomised controlled trial. *Thorax* 2003;58:745-51.
- 126. Sunyer J, Anto JM, McFarlane D, Domingo A, Tobias A, Barcelo MA, Munoz A. Sex differences in mortality of people who visited emergency rooms for asthma and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1998;158:851-6.
- 127. Takayama T, Shindoh C, Kurokawa Y, Hida W, Kurosawa H, Ogawa H, Satomi S. Effects of lung volume reduction surgery for emphysema on oxygen cost of breathing. *Chest* 2003;123:1847-52.
- 128. Tang NL, Chung ML, Elia M, Hui E, Lum CM, Luk JK, Jones MG, Woo J. Total daily energy expenditure in wasted chronic obstructive pulmonary disease patients. Eur J Clin Nutr 2002;56:282-7.
- 129. Thomasset A. Measurement of the extracellular fluid volume by the electro-chemical method. Biophysical significance of 1 kilocycle impedance of the human body. Lyon Med 1965;214:131-43.
- 130. Treuth MS, Sherwood NE, Butte NF, McClanahan B, Obarzanek E, Zhou A, Ayers C, Adolph A, Jordan J, Jacobs DR, et al. Validity and reliability of activity measures in African-American girls for GEMS. Med Sci Sports Exerc 2003;35:532-9.
- 131. Trost SG, Ward DS, Moorehead SM, Watson PD, Riner W, Burke JR. Validity of the computer science and applications (CSA) activity monitor in children. Med Sci Sports Exerc 1998;30:629-33.
- 132. Turley KR, McBride PJ, Wilmore JH. Resting metabolic rate measured after subjects spent the night at home vs at a clinic. Am J Clin Nutr 1993;58:141-4.
- 133. Vandenbergh E, Van de Woestijne KP, Gyselen A. Weight changes in the terminal stages of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Relation to respiratory function and prognosis. Am Rev Respir Dis 1967;95:556-66.
- 134. VanItallie TB, Yang MU, Heymsfield SB, Funk RC, Boileau RA. Height-normalized indices of the body's fat-free mass and fat mass: potentially useful indicators of nutritional status. Am J Clin Nutr 1990;52:953-9.
- 135. Welk GJ, Almeida J, Morss G. Laboratory calibration and validation of the Biotrainer and Actitrac activity monitors. Med Sci Sports Exerc 2003;35:1057-64.
- 136. Vermeeren MA, Schols AM, Wouters EF. Effects of an acute exacerbation on nutritional and metabolic profile of patients with COPD. Eur Respir J 1997;10:2264-9.

- 137. WHO. European Health for All Database. www.hfadb.who.dk/hfa/, 2004.
- 138. Widdowson EM, McCance RA, Spray CM. The chemical composition of the human body. *Clin Sci* 1951;10:113-25.
- 139. Wilson DO, Donahoe M, Rogers RM, Pennock BE. Metabolic rate and weight loss in chronic obstructive lung disease. JPEN J Parenter Enteral Nutr 1990;14:7-11.
- 140. Wilson DO, Rogers RM, Wright EC, Anthonisen NR. Body weight in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. The National Institutes of Health Intermittent Positive-Pressure Breathing Trial. Am Rev Respir Dis 1989;139:1435-8.
- 141. Wilson NL, Wilson RHL, Farber SM. Nutrition in pulmonary emphysema. J Am Diet Assoc 1965;45:530-6.
- 142. Woodrow G, Oldroyd B, Smith MA, Turney JH. Measurement of body composition in chronic renal failure: comparison of skinfold anthropometry and bioelectrical impedance with dual energy X-ray absorptiometry. Eur J Clin Nutr 1996;50:295-301.

Body Composition by Bioelectrical Impedance Predicts Mortality in Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease Patients. Slinde F *et al. Manuscript*

Body Composition by Bioelectrical Impedance Predicts Mortality in Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease Patients

Frode Slinde¹, AnneMarie Grönberg^{1, 2}, Carl-Peter Engström², Lena Rossander-Hulthén¹, Sven Larsson².

¹Dept. of Clinical Nutrition and ²Dept. of Respiratory Medicine and Allergology, Institute of Internal Medicine, Sahlgrenska Academy at Göteborg University, Göteborg, Sweden. Correspondence should be addressed to frode.slinde@nutrition.gu.se

ABSTRACT

Background: Pulmonary rehabilitation is recommended in international treatment guidelines for chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD). No one has however studied the effect on long-term mortality.

Objective: The aim of the current study was to study the mortality in a sample of patients with severe chronic obstructive pulmonary disease included in a one-year multidisciplinary rehabilitation program.

Design: Body composition was assessed at baseline using bioelectrical impedance. Mortality was studied in 86 patients using the Cox proportional hazards model.

Results: 47 (55 %) of the patients died during the mean follow-up time which was almost six years. Risk of mortality increased with increasing age, increasing number of hospital days the year before inclusion and men had higher mortality risk than women. The mortality risk decreased with increasing % reference body weight, increasing fat-free mass index (FFMI), increasing FEV₁ and increasing 6-min walking distance. Gender, age and FFMI continued to be statistical significant predictors of mortality when controlling for the other baseline variables in a multivariate analysis.

Conclusion: Body composition, measured by bioelectrical impedance and presented as FFMI, is an independent predictor of mortality in COPD patients.

Key words: Mortality, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, body composition, rehabilitation

INTRODUCTION

Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) is the fifth leading cause of death in North America and its prevalence continues to increase, especially in women (9, 12). During the last decade, several studies have investigated factors affecting the mortality risk in COPD patients (3, 10, 13, 14, 16). Common for most of these studies is that a low body weight or a low body mass index (BMI) is found to be a major mortality risk factor. Marquis et al (13) however, in their study on 142 COPD patients, found that body composition, measured as midthigh muscle cross-sectional area obtained by computed tomography (CT) scan, was a better predictor of mortality than BMI. However this finding was not confirmed using body composition assessed by anthropometry. Studies using simpler and less expensive methods than CT to assess predictive effect from body composition were therefore asked for (11).

Thomasset was the first to report a relation between total body water and electrical impedance (22). The use of bioelectrical impedance is based on the principle that fat mass and fat-free mass (FFM) have different conductive and dielectric properties. This is due to the fact that FFM contains water and therefore has a lower resistance than fat mass (5). An electrical current is sent through the human body and the bioelectrical impedance is measured. Relating the impedance to the conductor's (the human body) height gives an assessment of total body water and

hence fat mass and FFM can be calculated (17). The aim of the current study was to investigate the mortality in a sample of patients with severe COPD included in a one-year multidisciplinary rehabilitation program in relation to body composition as evaluated by bioelectrical impedance.

METHODS Patients

The patients in this study were included from two prospective studies of multidisciplinary rehabilitation of COPD patients at the Department of Respiratory Medicine, Sahlgrenska University Hospital. Göteborg. Sweden. The rehabilitation program has been presented previously (6). The first study comprised 50 patients randomized to a rehabilitation group and a control group. Subjects in the control group were given ordinary medical treatment, but no rehabilitation during the control period. All control subjects, however, went through an identical one-year rehabilitation as the cases the year following the control-period. The control subjects were added as cases in the current presentation with defining study start as the day they started the rehabilitation. The second study comprising 36 patients (to be published), compared the effect of the rehabilitation program supplemented by group psychotherapy. In both studies identical inclusion criteria were applied. Patients aged 40-75 with COPD with a forced expiratory volume in one second (FEV₁) < 50 %of predicted and with no demand of

oxygen therapy were included. All of the patients were smokers or former smokers with a smoking history of at least ten pack years. Exclusion criteria were other disabling or severe diseases and/or coexistence of other pulmonary causes of impaired function. Patients with a history that indicated asthma were excluded. None of the subjects had an acute exacerbation at the time of inclusion and they were included consecutively. The decision to make the present analysis was however retrospective.

Between March 1992 and June 1998, 86 patients were included in the studies. Patients that survived were followed from date of inclusion to 1 January 2003, and the ones who died from date of inclusion to their date of death. The subjects gave written informed consent to the study and the study was approved by the Ethics Research Committee of Göteborg University.

Study design

Assessment of diet, with the diet history method (19) and measurements of FEV1, were performed at study start and after 12 months. Anthropometric measurements, bioelectrical impedance assessments, and 6-min walking distance tests were performed every third month. The 6min walking distance test was performed by the same nurse at each occasion and all patients had one training test before the study started. Individualized dietary advice and follow-up by the dietitian were routinely done at study start and after three, six, nine, and 12 months and

additional visits were individualized for each patient when judged needed by the dietitian. The patients trained on a bicycle under the supervision of physiotherapist. Training a also included breathing techniques and arm-training. At study start patients trained twice a week. A home training program was introduced, which by time substituted supervised training. The time for changing from supervised to home-based training was individualized after each patients needs. Further details of the training program is published by Engström et al (6).

Body composition assessment

Height was measured to the nearest 0.5 cm and weight was measured on a Lindelltronic Scale to the nearest 0.1 kg with the subjects in light clothing. In addition to calculating the BMI, the weight of the patients was expressed as a percentage of the weight of a normal Swedish elderly population (1), defined as % reference weight (% IBW). Single-frequency bioelectrical impedance assessment was performed in the morning after 10 min rest in the supine position. Impedance was measured by one single measurement of resistance (in Ohms) and reactance (in Ohms) with a BIA-101 equipment (Akern Florence, Italy). The four electrodes were attached on the dorsal side of the foot and the ankle and on the dorsal side of the hand and the wrist at the right side of the body. FFM was calculated using manufacturer supplied equations, based on comparison with densitometry in a normal population. The fat-free mass

index (FFMI) was calculated as FFM in kg divided by body height².

Physiological measurements

Routine spirometry was performed with a Vitalograph spirometer (Selefa, Buckingham, Ireland) before and 15 min after inhalation of 1 mg terbutaline to reach optimal standardization. The 6-min walking distance tests were performed following standardized instructions (2).

Nutritional assessment and dietary intervention

A trained dietitian interviewed each patient with a diet history interview that constituted the background for the individual dietary advice given to the patients during the rehabilitation. One of the aims of the dietary advice was to give the patient an adequate intake of energy, in order to give maximal effect of physical training and reducing malnutrition.

Table 1. Patient characteristics at baseline and their prediction of mortality in an univariate analysis (mean (SD)), n = 86

	All patients	Survivors (n=39)	Non-survivors (n=47)	p-value*	Hazard ratio	95 % CI	p value
Age, years	65.9 (6.6)	63.6 (7.0)	67.7 (5.6)	0.0036	1.06	1.01-1.12	0.013
Sex	49/51	59/41	40/60	0.13	1.64	0.92-2.94	0.096
(%F/%M)							
Smokers	29	36	23	0.24	0.85	0.43-1.68	0.65
(% of group)							
Hospital days	9 (24)	5 (18)	12 (27)	0.18	1.01	1.00-1.02	0.063
BMI, kg/m ²	22.8 (4.1)	23.5 (3.5)	22.3 (4.4)	0.17	0.95	0.88-1.02	0.17
%IBW	91.4 (16.3)	94.6 (14.1)	88.8 (17.7)	0.10	0.98	0.97-1.00	0.10
FFM, kg	48.6 (9.6)	50.1 (10.7)	47.3 (8.5)	0.18	0.98	0.95-1.01	0.20
FFMI, kg/m ²	16.8 (2.3)	17.3 (2.4)	16.3 (2.2)	0.046	0.88	0.77-1.01	0.061
Body fat, %	25.8 (7.2)	25.9 (6.3)	25.6 (8.0)	0.85	1.00	0.96-1.04	0.87
FEV ₁ , % pred	35 (11)	39 (11)	31 (10)	0.0013	0.96	0.93-0.99	0.0060
6 MWD, m	329 (82)	354 (71)	307 (85)	0.0087	0.99	0.99-1.00	0.0031

*Survivors compared to non-survivors

M=male; F=female; Hospital days=hospital days the year before inclusion; BMI=body mass index; % IBW=% reference weight; FFM=fat-free mass; FFMI=fat-free mass; index; 6 MWD=6-min walking distance; FEV₁=forced expiratory volume in 1 s, as percentage of predicted

The normal weight patients were given dietary advice in order to stabilize the body weight. Overweight obese patients were given and individualized weight reducing advice (reduce energy intake, reduce fat intake, increase intake of fiber). The underweight patients were given advice intended to increase their body weight. They were also offered free availability of nutritional supplements containing energy and micronutrients. Effort was also made to correct imbalances between the energyproviding nutrients; fat, carbohydrates and protein.

Hospital days

The number of hospital days at Sahlgrenska University Hospital during the year before study start was recorded. So was the number of hospital days from study start to time of death or study end (1 January 2003).

Statistical analysis

Descriptive statistics were used to describe the study population at inclusion. Baseline information was used as independent predictors of mortality in a univariate analysis based on the Cox proportional hazards model where survival status at the 1 January 2003 was used as the dependent variable. Baseline variables that were associated with mortality with a p < 0.15 were further on included in a multivariate analysis based on the Cox proportional hazards model. To examine differences between survivors and nonsurvivors, an unpaired t-test was used for continuous variables, and the

Fisher's exact test for comparison of proportions. Data were analyzed using the SPSS 11.5 for Windows statistical package (SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, USA).

RESULTS

Characteristics of the patients (42 women and 44 men) are presented in table 1. During the rehabilitation year three of the patients died, one patient received oxygen treatment, two patients underwent major surgery and one patient was diagnosed for cancer and they are included in the further analysis. In total there were 47 deaths (55 %) and the causes of death are presented in table 2.

Table 2. Main cause of death, 11 - 47					
Respiratory failure	19				
COPD	9				
Heart failure	8				
Lung cancer	5				
Cancer, other than lung	2				
Other	4				

Table 2 Main cause of death n = 17

The causes of death included in "other" were stroke, mediastinitis, pulmonary embolism and drug overdose. Mean follow-up time for the survivors was seven years and two months. For the patients who died, it was four years and three months. The Cox proportional hazards model presented in table 1 and figure 1, shows that the mortality risk increased with increasing age. increasing number of hospital days during the year before inclusion and that men had higher mortality risk than women. The mortality risk



Figure 1. Cumulative survival in a group of COPD patients categorized by FFMI (panel A), gender (panel B), and FEV₁ (panel C) (n=86)

decreased with increasing percentage reference body weight, increasing FFMI, increasing FEV₁ and increasing 6-min walking distance. In addition to gender and age, FFMI continued to be a statistically significant predictor of mortality when controlling for the other baseline variables in the multivariate analysis (table 3). Changes in some variables from baseline to end of the rehabilitation year are presented in table 4. The results for the total patient group is presented earlier (19) showing slight, but uniform, indications of positive effects of the rehabilitation. A larger proportion of the non-survivors were prescribed nutritional supplements while the survivors had more visits at the physiotherapist.

Table 3. Baseline predictors of mortality: multivariate analyses, n = 86.

	Hazard ratio	95 % CI	p value
Age, years	1.06	1.00-1.12	0.037
Sex (F/M)	3.52	1.27-9.78	0.016
Hospital days	1.01	0.99-1.02	0.30
% IBW	1.05	0.99-1.10	0.11
FFMI, kg/m ²	0.65	0.44-0.96	0.030
FEV ₁ , % pred	0.98	0.95-1.02	0.28
6 MWD, m	1.00	0.99-1.00	0.54

M=male; F=female; Hospital days=hospital days the year before inclusion; % IBW=% reference weight; FFMI=fat-free mass index; 6 MWD=6-min walking distance; FEV_1 =forced expiratory volume in 1 s, as percentage of predicted

DISCUSSION

We have shown that body composition, measured by a noninvasive and relatively simple method, is an independent predictor of mortality in COPD patients. The present study supports the findings of Marquis et al (13) that suggested that body composition would be a significant predictor of mortality in COPD patients.

In this study we used bioelectrical impedance assessment, which is a non-invasive, simple and relatively non-expensive method of body composition assessment. Body composition results were presented as FFMI as recommended by VanItallie et al (23). It is important that techniques for body composition analysis are standardized.

Table 4. Patient characteristics during the rehabilitation year (mean (SD)), n=86

	All patients	Survivors (n=39)	Non-survivors $(n=47)$	p-value*
Δ BMI, kg/m ²	0.0 (1.2)	+0.1(1.1)	- 0.2 (1.2)	0.25
Δ FFM, kg	- 0.1 (2.3)	0.0 (2.4)	- 0.2 (2.4)	0.69
Δ FFMI, kg/m ²	0.0 (0.8)	0.0 (0.8)	- 0.1 (0.8)	0.61
Δ FEV ₁ , % pred	+ 3 (8)	+ 3 (8)	+3(8)	0.77
Δ 6 MWD, m	+ 17 (58)	+ 27 (56)	+ 6 (59)	0.12
Cortisone, n	1.9 (2.2)	1.4 (1.5)	2.4 (2.6)	0.069
Dietitian, n	8.5 (5.0)	7.6 (4.7)	9.3 (5.1)	0.10
Nutr suppl (%)	51	36	64	0.017
Physiotherapist, n	25.8 (14.2)	29.2 (13.0)	23.0 (14.7)	0.042

*Survivors compared to non-survivors

BMI=body mass index; FFM=fat-free mass; FFMI=fat-free mass index; FEV_1 =forced expiratory volume in 1 s, as percentage of predicted; 6 MWD=6-min walking distance; Cortison=number of cortisone treatments during the year; Dietitian=number of visits at the dietitian during the year; Nutr suppl=proportion of group prescribed nutritional supplements; Physiotherapist=number of visits at the physiotherapist during the year

We have previously shown that measurements of bioelectrical impedance used for body composition assessment need to be highly standardized (18, 20). In the current study, the subjects were measured in the morning after 10 min rest in the supine position.

However, we could not confirm previous findings that BMI or body weight are predictors of mortality (10, 13, 16). This is in consistency with the findings of Marquis et al (13), who found a body composition measure to be a better predictor of mortality than BMI. The lack of this relation in the present study could be due to a limited group size. Except body composition, old age and male gender also were found to be independent predictors of mortality in this study. Age is a natural risk factor for death. The effect of gender is complicated. In the current study, men did not differ from women in disease severity (FEV1). Even if the men were older than the women (p <0.05), the effect of gender on mortality is shown independently of age. There are indications from epidemiological studies, that women are more susceptible than men to develop COPD (15), but the risk of developing COPD might not be identical with the severity of the disease when it has been established. The results of the present study, however, is in line with other studies investigating the prognosis in groups of patients with established COPD, in which poor prognosis in male patients was shown (4, 7, 12, 21).

The mortality rate in this study is well in line with results from comparable studies of similar patient groups performed the last decade. In this study, 55 % of the patients died during the mean follow up time of 5.6 years, which gives an annual death rate of 9 %. In the study of Marguis et al (13) 18 % of the patients died during the 3.4 years of follow-up. resulting in an annual death rate of 5 %. The patients in that study had however somewhat less severe disease (mean FEV1 was 42 % predicted compared with 35 % predicted in the current study). In a Canadian study (8) 47 % of the patients died during the follow-up of almost 3 year, giving an annual death rate of 16 %. In that study, mean FEV₁ was 27 % predicted, and they included patients receiving also oxygen treatment, indicating a lower pulmonary function and hence a higher mortality rate would be expected. Thus approximately 50 % of patients with severe COPD included in rehabilitation programs can be expected to die within five years. Thus the prognosis in advanced COPD is worse than for most forms of malignant diseases (24).

In this study we have shown that body composition, measured by bioelectrical impedance and presented as FFMI, is an independent predictor of mortality in COPD patients.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This study was supported by The Swedish Foundation for Health Care Sciences and Allergy (the Vårdal foundation) and the Swedish Heart Lung Foundation. Nutritional supplements were provided by Nutricia Nordica AB and Semper AB. The authors gratefully acknowledge the assistance of our respiratory nurse, Mrs. Eva Fröström, our physiotherapist, Mrs. Lillemor Kinnås and our occupational therapist, Mrs. Ann Wingårdh.

REFERENCES

- Bengtsson C, Hultén B, Larsson B, Noppa H, Steen B, Warnold I. New weight and height tables for Swedish middle aged and elderly men and women. Läkartidningen 1981;78:3152-4.
- Butland RJ, Pang J, Gross ER, Woodcock AA, Geddes DM. Two-, six-, and 12-minute walking tests in respiratory disease. Br Med J (Clin Res Ed) 1982;284:1607-8.
- 3. Chailleux E, Laaban JP, Veale D. Prognostic value of nutritional depletion in patients with COPD treated by long-term oxygen therapy: data from the ANTADIR observatory. Chest 2003;123:1460-6.
- 4. Crockett AJ, Cranston JM, Moss JR, Alpers JH. Trends in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease mortality in Australia. Med J Aust 1994; 161:600-3.

- Deurenberg P, Weststrate JA, Paymans I, van der Kooy K. Factors affecting bioelectrical impedance measurements in humans. Eur J Clin Nutr 1988;42:1017-22.
- 6. Engström CP, Persson LO, Larsson S, Sullivan M. Longterm effects of a pulmonary rehabilitation programme in outpatients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: a randomized controlled study. Scand J Rehabil Med 1999;31:207-13.

 Fjellanger R, Brøgger JC, Eagan T, Gulsvik A. Mortality after hospitalization for obstructive lung disease. *Tidsskr* Nor Laegeforen 2003;123:775-8.

- Gray-Donald K, Gibbons L, Shapiro SH, Macklem PT, Martin JG. Nutritional status and mortality in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1996;153:961-6.
- 9. Lacasse Y, Brooks D, Goldstein RS. Trends in the epidemiology of COPD in Canada, 1980 to 1995. COPD and Rehabilitation Committee of the Canadian Thoracic Society. Chest 1999;116:306-13.
- Landbo C, Prescott E, Lange P, Vestbo J, Almdal TP.
 Prognostic value of nutritional status in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1999;160:1856-61.

- Mador MJ. Muscle mass, not body weight, predicts outcome in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2002;166:787-9.
- 12. Mannino DM, Brown C, Giovino GA. Obstructive lung disease deaths in the United States from 1979 through 1993. An analysis using multiple-cause mortality data. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1997;156:814-8.
- 13. Marquis K, Debigare R, Lacasse Y, LeBlanc P, Jobin J, Carrier G, Maltais F. Midthigh muscle cross-sectional area is a better predictor of mortality than body mass index in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2002;166:809-13.
- 14. Prescott E, Almdal T, Mikkelsen KL, Tofteng CL, Vestbo J, Lange P. Prognostic value of weight change in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: results from the Copenhagen City Heart Study. Eur Respir J 2002;20:539-44.
- 15. Prescott E, Bjerg AM, Andersen PK, Lange P, Vestbo J. Gender difference in smoking effects on lung function and risk of hospitalization for COPD: results from a Danish longitudinal population study. Eur Respir J 1998;10:822-7.
- 16. Schols AM, Slangen J, Volovics L, Wouters EF.

Weight loss is a reversible factor in the prognosis of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1998;157:1791-7.

- Segal KR, Gutin B, Presta E, Wang J, Van Itallie TB.
 Estimation of human body composition by electrical impedance methods: a comparative study. J Appl Physiol 1985;58:1565-71.
- Slinde F, Bark A, Jansson J, Rossander-Hulthen L.
 Bioelectrical impedance variation in healthy subjects during 12 h in the supine position. Clin Nutr 2003;22:153-7.
- Slinde F, Grönberg 19. AM. Engström CP, Rossander-Hulthen L. Larsson S. Individual dietary intervention in patients with COPD during multidisciplinary rehabilitation. Respir Med 2002;96:330-6.
- 20. Slinde F, Rossander-Hulthen L. Bioelectrical impedance: effect of 3 identical meals on diurnal impedance variation and calculation of body composition. Am J Clin Nutr 2001;74:474-8.
- 21. Sunyer J, Anto JM, McFarlane D, Domingo A, Tobias A, Barcelo MA, Munoz A. Sex differences in mortality of people who visited emergency rooms for asthma and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1998;158:851-6.
- 22. Thomasset A. Measurement of the extracellular fluid volume by the electro-chemical method. Biophysical significance of 1 kilocycle impedance of the human body. Lyon Med 1965;214:131-43.
- 23. VanItallie TB, Yang MU, Heymsfield SB, Funk RC, Boileau RA. Heightnormalized indices of the body's fat-free mass and fat mass: potentially useful indicators of nutritional status. Am J Clin Nutr 1990;52:953-9.
- 24. Welch HG, Schwartz LM, Woloshin S. Are increasing 5year survival rates evidence of success against cancer? JAMA 2000;283:2975-8.

Bioelectrical impedance: effect of 3 identical meals on diurnal variation and calculation of body composition. Slinde F and Rossander-Hulthén L. *Am J Clin Nutr 2001;74:474-478*

Bioelectrical impedance: effect of 3 identical meals on diurnal impedance variation and calculation of body composition^{1,2}

Frode Slinde and Lena Rossander-Hulthén

Bioelectrical impedance: effect of 3 identical meals on diurnal impedance variation and calculation of body composition^{1,2}

Frode Slinde and Lena Rossander-Hulthén

ABSTRACT

Background: Bioelectrical impedance analysis (BIA) can be used for estimating body composition. Earlier studies showed that the ingestion of meals lowers bioelectrical impedance, but none studied the effect of repeated ingestion of an identical meal in narrow intervals on impedance measurements during 24 h.

Objectives: The objectives were to study the effect on bioelectrical impedance of 3 identical meals and to compare the results from single-frequency BIA measurements with those from multiple-frequency BIA measurements.

Design: Bioelectrical impedance was measured 18 times during 24 h in 18 healthy subjects [10 women and 8 men; $\bar{x} \pm$ SD age: 31.5 ± 11.7 y; body mass index (in kg/m²): 22.2 ± 2.7]. An identical meal was given at breakfast, lunch, and dinner.

Results: Bioelectrical impedance decreased after ingestion of a standard meal (P < 0.05). The decrease in impedance lasted 2–4 h after each meal. The decrease was additive during the day, although it was more pronounced after the first meal because of the combined effect of rising from the supine position and meal ingestion. This is an important consideration when calculating body composition: percentage of body fat varied by 8.8% from the highest to the lowest measurement in momen and by 9.9% from the highest to the lowest measurement in men. The bioelectrical impedance at 50 kHz was identical when measured with multiple frequencies or a single frequency.

Conclusion: The ingestion of meals leads to an additive decrease in bioelectrical impedance and thus to a decrease in the calculated percentage of body fat. *Am J Clin Nutr* 2001;74:474–8.

KEY WORDS Multiple-frequency bioelectrical impedance analysis, single-frequency bioelectrical impedance analysis, diurnal variation, body composition, meal ingestion

INTRODUCTION

The term bioelectrical impedance (BI) was introduced \approx 50 y ago. Thomasset (1) was the first to report a relation between total body water and electrical impedance. The use of BI to estimate body composition is based on the different conductive and dielectric properties of various biological tissues at various frequencies of current.

Single-frequency bioelectrical impedance analysis (sfBIA) uses a frequency of 50 kHz to measure impedance and calculate body composition. Multiple-frequency BIA (mfBIA) instruments were developed because the frequency necessary to detect the distribution between extracellular water (ECW) and intracellular water (ICW) is probably >50 kHz (2). During the past 10 y, numerous validation studies have been published concerning estimation of body composition with use of mfBIA (2–7). van Marken Lichtenbelt et al (3) showed that results from mfBIA and sfBIA were comparable in their study of 29 adults and that mfBIA appears to provide acceptable values for total body water and extracellular water compared with deuterium and bromide dilution.

BIA is an easily applied method of determining body composition. It is necessary, however, to measure BI under standardized conditions, and the method is sensitive to several physiologic factors. For example, body temperature is important when measuring BI (8-10). Additionally, for female subjects the variation in body fluids during the menstrual cycle affects BI (11). These physiologic factors are important to consider when comparing results between different studies in which BIA was used for body composition assessment or when the aim is to do repeated measurements over time, eg, in patient follow-up.

Several studies showed that the ingestion of a meal decreases BI (11-14). It is, however, natural to consume another meal within 4 h. The effect of several meals on BI, with frequent multiple measurements of impedance, has not been previously studied. A well-known limitation on the accuracy of BI for calculating body composition is the selection of appropriate prediction equations. However, a meal effect will influence calculated body composition regardless of the choice of equation. The purpose of this study was therefore to study the effect on BI of 3 identical meals and to compare the results from sfBIA with those from mtBIA.

SUBJECTS AND METHODS

Eighteen apparently healthy male and female university students and co-workers volunteered to participate in this study. Informed consent was given. The study was performed in accord with the Helsinki Declaration of 1975 as revised in 1983. The women were

Received November 6, 2000.

Accepted for publication February 5, 2001.

¹From the Department of Clinical Nutrition, Sahlgrenska University Hospital, Göteborg University, Göteborg, Sweden.

²Address reprint requests to F Slinde, Department of Clinical Nutrition, Sahlgrenska University Hospital, Göteborg University, Annedalsklinikerna, 413 45 Göteborg, Sweden. E-mail: frode.slinde@nutrition.gu.se.

DIURNAL VARIATION IN BIOELECTRICAL IMPEDANCE

TABLE 1

The nutritional composition of the test meal

Nutritional component	Content per meal
Energy (kJ)	2731 ± 324 (2338-3394)
Fat (% of energy)	34 ± 1 (33-35)
Protein (% of energy)	$17 \pm 0 (16 - 17)$
Carbohydrate (% of energy)	49 ± 1 (47–51)
Calcium (mg)	$155 \pm 15 (134 - 184)$
Iron (mg)	$4.4 \pm 0.5 (4.0 - 5.3)$
Magnesium (mg)	117 ± 13 (99-143)
Sodium (mg)	771 ± 88 (677-955)
Potassium (mg)	$1414 \pm 170 (1190 - 1750)$
Zinc (mg)	$6.1 \pm 0.7 (5.5 - 7.6)$
Total fluid (mL)	618±0

 $^{1}\overline{x} \pm SD$; range in parentheses. n = 18.

between day 9 and day 16 of their menstrual cycles. At the 0700 study start the subjects were in a fasting state and were dressed in light clothing. They rested or slept in the supine position for 1 h before the first BI measurement was done. The subjects then remained in a supine position, and impedance measurements were performed every 15 min for an additional 1 h. All the BI measurements were performed with both single- and multiple-frequency instruments at 18 time points during the 24 h studied.

The subjects rose from the supine position and were served a meal at 0915. The meal consisted of a cheeseburger with tomato, orange juice, coffee or tea, and a banana. The energy content in the meal was 27% of the individual predicted total daily energy requirement, and the amount of fluid given was 618 mL for all the subjects. Impedance was measured 30 min after the first meal was completed. The subjects then started their working day at the university. Subjects were served an identical meal at 1230 and at 1730.

Impedance measurements

A BIA-101 (Akern, Florence, Italy) was used for measuring sfBIA. For measuring mfBIA, the UniQuest-SEAC SFB-3 instrument (UniQuest Limited, Brisbane, Australia) was used. Both instruments were used according to the manufacturers' instructions. The electrodes were positioned at the middle of the dorsal surfaces of the hands and feet, respectively, proximally to the metacarpal-phalangeal and metatarsal-phalangeal joints and medially between the distal prominence of the radius and the ulna and between the medial and lateral malleoli at the ankle. Each additional BI measurement was taken after the subject had been in a supine position for 10 min. Manufacturer-supplied equations were used for calculating body composition from sfBIA. For calculating body composition from mfBIA, we used the manufacturer-supplied equation of Hannan et al (15).

Anthropometric measurements

Height was measured to the nearest 0.5 cm before the study started, and weight was measured to the nearest 0.1 kg within 5 min after every impedance measurement.

Statistical methods

All values are presented as means and SDs. Dunnett's t test was used to compare the impedance, ECW, and ICW between baseline and each consecutive measurement. Statistical calculations were performed by using the SPSS for WINDOWS (version 10.0; SPSS Inc, Chicago) software program.

RESULTS

Ten women and 8 men participated in this study. The subjects' mean age was 31.5 ± 11.7 y; their mean weight and height were 68.3 ± 7.7 kg and 1.76 ± 0.1 m, respectively; and their mean body mass index (in kg/m²) was 22.2 ± 2.7 . The nutritional composition of the test meal is presented in Table 1.

Impedance

The impedance at 50 kHz measured with mfBIA was identical to that measured with sfBIA. Women had a higher baseline impedance than did men (women, $602 \pm 51 \Omega$; men, $513 \pm 40 \Omega$). The diurnal variation in BI is shown in Figure 1. The postprandial decrease in BI lasted 2–4 h after the meals, with an apparent additive effect during the day. The decrease in impedance after the first meal was double the decrease after meals 2 and 3. Impedance returned to baseline values after one night of fasting. For single-frequency impedance, all measurements, except measurements 2, 3, 6, and 18, were significantly different from baseline (P < 0.05). The subject with the largest decrease in BI had a decrease of 11%, from 629 Ω at baseline to 557 Ω at measurement no. 17.

Body composition

Measuring BI in the fasting state after 1 h of resting or sleeping (BIA measurement no. 1) gave a calculated body fat percentage from sfBIA of 26.5 \pm 6.3% for the women and $16.2 \pm 2.8\%$ for the men. With subjects remaining in a supine position, the calculated fat percentage increased to $27.1 \pm 6.6\%$ for the women and $17.2 \pm 3.1\%$ for the men (BIA measurement no. 5). The lowest calculated percentage of body fat was observed at BIA measurement no. 17 (195 min after dinner) for the women and at BIA measurement no. 11 (125 min after lunch) for the men. The lowest calculated mean body fat percentage was $24.8\pm5.6\%$ for the women and $15.5\pm3.3\%$ for the men. The difference between the highest and lowest calculated body fat percentage was 8.5% for the women and 9.9% for the men (2.3 and 1.7 percentage points, respectively). The subject with the largest decrease in percentage of body fat had a decrease of 13%, from 29.7% body fat at baseline to 25.9% body fat at measurement no. 17.

After the subjects rested or slept for 1 h (BIA measurement no. 1), the calculated body fat percentage calculated from mfBIA was $23.6 \pm 6.8\%$ for the women and $16.1 \pm 3.8\%$ for the men. With subjects remaining in a supine position, the fat percentage increased to $24.0 \pm 7.0\%$ for the women and $17.5 \pm 4.1\%$ for the men (BIA measurement no. 5). The lowest calculated body fat percentage was observed at BIA measurement no. 17 (195 min after dinner) for the women and at BIA measurement no. 11 (125 min after lunch) for the men. The lowest calculated mean body fat percentage was $21.7 \pm 7.0\%$ for the women and 14.9 \pm 4.6% for the men. The difference between the highest and lowest calculated body fat percentage was 9.7% for the women and 7.5% for the men (2.3 and 1.2 percentage points, respectively). The subject with the largest decrease in percentage of body fat had a decrease of 23%, from 17.9% body fat at baseline to 13.7% body fat at measurement no. 17. After another night of fasting the calculated body fat percentages returned to baseline values.

475



FIGURE 1. Mean changes (and 95% CI) from a baseline value of 563 Ω in single-frequency impedance during 24 h (n = 18). Arrows indicate time of meals. 0, significantly different from baseline (P < 0.05); \bigcirc , NS from baseline.

ECW and ICW calculated from mfBIA are shown in Figures 2 and 3.

DISCUSSION

Ingestion of a meal consistently led to a decrease in measured impedance in this study. Impedance decreased consistently for 2 h after the first meal and for 4 h after the second and third meals and then began to increase. The decrease in impedance after the first meal was double the decrease after meals 2 and 3. This was probably due to a combined effect of rising from a lying position and ingesting food and beverages after the first meal. A decrease in impedance produced by ingestion of one

meal was also shown by others (11–14). Deurenberg et al (11) reported that BI decreased by 13–17 Ω 2–4 h after intake of a liquid meal of 1941 kJ in 12 adult men. They also showed that BI decreased significantly by 4 \pm Ω after intake of beef tea but did not significantly decrease (21 \pm 6 Ω) after intake of normal tea, suggesting that the observed effect was due to the intake of selectrolytes. Gallagher et al (12) studied 11 males and 18 females and reported that intake of a solid meal (2301 kJ) led to a significant decrease in BI up to 4 h after the meal followed by an increase up to 5 h after the meal regardless of fat content. The authors of both studies concluded that the decrease in BI was probably related to changes in the fluid and electrolyte distribution that follow absorption and digestion of a meal. Rodriguez







FIGURE 3. Mean intracellular water (ICW) (and 95% CI) calculated from multiple-frequency impedance measurements during 24 h (n = 18). Arrows indicate time of meals. **•**, significantly different from baseline (P < 0.05); O, NS from baseline.

et al (14) also found a decrease in impedance after food intake in children.

In a study of 12 males, Fogelholm et al (13) showed that resistance decreased significantly $(4-6 \Omega) 2-4$ h after a meal with a high concentration of electrolytes. Resistance also decreased after a meal low in electrolytes (2-3 Ω); however, this decrease was not statistically significant. Resistance tended to return to baseline values after 7 h, which was confirmed by Gallagher et al (12). The meals used in the present study had the same electrolyte concentrations as those in the high-electrolyte meal used by Fogelholm et al (13), except for a lower sodium concentration in the present study.

Because food and beverage intake was identical for the 3 meals in this study, we conclude that the postprandial decrease in impedance was additive, such that the introduction of another meal led to a further decrease in impedance. Thus, we would expect that a subject's BI measured in the evening after normal meal consumption throughout the day would be lower than that subject's BI measured in a fasting state. Time of BI measurement, especially with respect to meals, must be considered in study design and interstudy comparisons.

Rodriguez et al (14) suggest that the decrease in impedance may be consistent with a redistribution of extracellular fluids. The results from the mfBIA (Figures 2 and 3) show that ECW increased immediately after a meal as a result of fluid intake but that ICW was relatively stable during the whole study period. The most marked decrease in impedance was noted after the first meal. This decrease may have been a combined effect of electrolyte intake and redistribution of extracellular fluids, an effect of changing from a supine body position to an ambulatory one. The decrease found after the 2 later meals must have been a result of the meals, because there was no change in body position (ie, all subjects were ambulatory). Because impedance increased 3–4 h after all 3 meals, we conclude that the decrease in postprandial impedance was a direct effect of the ingestion of a meal and was not due to redistribution of the body fluids caused by change in body position.

The BI in the female subjects was higher than that in the male subjects. This difference represents the women's increased resistance due to a lower amount of body water. This result was also found by others (4, 5, 11). The additive, postprandial decrease in impedance was consistent in both sexes.

The difference in calculated body fat percentages between multiple- and single-frequency BI in the female group was due to the different equations used for calculating body composition. There were no obvious differences between the 2 methods in the male group, possibly because men have less body fat than do women and there is therefore a lower possibility of detecting differences. Thus, the choice of equation can influence the results in studies using BIA.

This study showed that measurements of BI must be done in the fasting state. Ingestion of a meal leads to a decrease in BI, and after several meals there is an additive decrease. Thus, the percentage of body fat calculated with use of prediction equations is also decreased.

REFERENCES

- Thomasset A. Measurement of the extracellular fluid volume by the electro-chemical method. Biophysical significance of 1 kilocycle impedance of the human body. Lyon Med 1965;214:131–43.
- Segal KR, Burastero S, Chun A, Coronel P, Pierson RN Jr, Wang J. Estimation of extracellular and total body water by multiple-frequency bioelectrical-impedance measurement. Am J Clin Nutr 1991; 54:26–9.
- van Marken Lichtenbelt WD, Westerterp KR, Wouters L, Luijendijk SC. Validation of bioelectrical-impedance measurements as a method to estimate body-water compartments. Am J Clin Nutr 1994;60:159–66.
- Visser M, Deurenberg P, van Staveren WA. Multi-frequency bioelectrical impedance for assessing total body water and extracellular water in elderly subjects. Eur J Clin Nutr 1995;49:256–66.

- Deurenberg P, Tagliabue A, Schouten FJ. Multi-frequency impedance for the prediction of extracellular water and total body water. Br J Nutr 1995;73:349–58.
- Suzuki H, Rounds JD, Wilmore DW. Does multifrequency bioelectrical impedance relate to body composition? J Surg Res 1996;65:63–9.
- Cornish BH, Ward LC, Thomas BJ, Jebb SA, Elia M. Evaluation of multiple frequency bioelectrical impedance and Cole-Cole analysis for the assessment of body water volumes in healthy humans. Eur J Clin Nutr 1996;50:159-64.
- Caton JR, Mole PA, Adams WC, Heustis DS. Body composition analysis by bioelectrical impedance: effect of skin temperature. Med Sci Sports Exerc 1988;20:489–91.
- Liang MT, Norris S. Effects of skin blood flow and temperature on bioelectric impedance after exercise. Med Sci Sports Exerc 1993;25:1231–9.
- Gudivaka R, Schoeller D, Kushner RF. Effect of skin temperature on multifrequency bioelectrical impedance analysis. J Appl Physiol 1996;81:838-45.

- Deurenberg P, Weststrate JA, Paymans I, van der Kooy K, Factors affecting bioelectrical impedance measurements in humans. Eur J Clin Nutr 1988;42:1017–22.
- Gallagher M, Walker KZ, O'Dea K. The influence of a breakfast meal on the assessment of body composition using bioelectrical impedance. Eur J Clin Nutr 1998;52:94–7.
- Fogelholm M, Sievänen H, Kukkonen-Harjula K, Oja P, Vouri I. Effects of meal and its electrolytes on bioelectrical impedance. In: Ellis KJ, Eastman JD, eds. Human body composition. New York: Plenum Press, 1993:331-2.
- Rodriguez G, Moreno LA, Sarria A, Fleta J, Bueno M. Diurnal variation in the assessment of body composition using bioelectrical impedance in children. Eur J Clin Nutr 1999;53:244 (letter).
- Hannan WJ, Cowen SJ, Fearon KC, Plester CE, Falconer JS, Richardson RA. Evaluation of multi-frequency bio-impedance analysis for the assessment of extracellular and total body water in surgical patients. Clin Sci (Colch) 1994;86:479–85.

478

Bioelectrical impedance variation in healthy Subjects during 12 h in the supine position.

100

Slinde F *et al. Clin Nutr 2003;22:153-157*

Clinical Nutrition (2003) 22(2): 153-157 © 2003 Elsevier Science Ltd. All rights reserved. doi:10.1054/clnu.2002.0616

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

Bioelectrical impedance variation in healthy subjects during 12 h in the supine position

F. SLINDE, A. BARK, J. JANSSON, L. ROSSANDER-HULTHÉN

Department of Clinical Nutrition, Sahlgrenska Academy at Göteborg University, Göteborg, Sweden (Correspondence to: FS Sahlgrenska Academy at Göteborg University, Department of Clinical Nutrition P.O. Box 459, SE - 405 30 Göteborg, Sweden. E-mail: frode.slinde@nutrition.gu.se)

Abstract—Background and aim: Bioelectrical impedance analysis is used to assess human body composition. Studies have shown that meal ingestion and change of body posture affects bioelectrical impedance, but none has studied bioelectrical impedance variation in supine subjects. The aim was to examine the bioelectrical impedance variation in healthy subjects during 12 h in the supine position.

Methods: Bioelectrical impedance was measured 16 times during 12 h in 18 healthy subjects. An identical meal was given at breakfast, lunch, and dinner.

Results: Mean (standard deviation) impedance at 50 kHz increased from 558 (87) Ω at study start to 584 (95) Ω at study end (P < 0.05). Bioelectrical impedance is reduced after ingestion of the first meal, but not following the meals at 1230 and 1730. Calculated body fat content increased from a baseline mean (SD) of 21.7 (6.1) % body fat to 23.9 (6.7) % body fat at study end (P < 0.05).

Conclusions: Bioelectrical impedance increased during 12 h in supine subjects. The increase is probably explained by a shift in body fluids from the extremities to thorax during the day and the importance of strict measurement standardisation both in epidemiological studies and clinical practice is underlined. © 2003 Elsevier Science Ltd, All rights reserved.

Key words: bioelectrical impedance; body composition; body fat; total body water; extracellular water; intracellular water

Introduction

Bioelectrical impedance assessment (BIA) is one of many methods currently used to assess human body composition. BIA is based on the principle that fat mass (FM) and fat-free mass (FFM) have different conductive and dielectric properties due to the fact that the FFM contains water and therefore has lower resistance than FM (1). An electrical current is sent through the human body and the bioelectrical impedance (BI) is measured. Relating the BI to the conductors (the human body) height gives an assessment of total body water (TBW), and hence FM and FFM, can be calculated (2). Singlefrequency bioelectrical impedance analysis (sfBIA) uses a frequency of 50 kHz. Only extracellular impedance is measured at this frequency, since such low current does not penetrate the cell membrane (3). Multiple-frequency BIA (mfBIA) measures the impedance at a current usually between 4 and 1024 kHz. In the higher levels of current all body tissues are being penetrated. Measuring impedance at both low and high levels of current makes it possible to separate extracellular and intracellular

impedance (4, 5) and hence calculate extracellular and intracellular water (ECW and ICW).

Available online at www.sciencedirect.com

SCIENCE DIRECT.

Several factors have been shown to affect BI such as exercise (1), menstrual cycle (6), changes in body fluid balance (7), fasting (8), body posture (9, 10), and intake of food (1, 11, 12). The study by Slinde and Rossander-Hulthén (12) showed that BI decreased after ingestion of a standardised meal and this decrease was additive during the day. In this study, however, the subjects were ambulatory, i.e. they changed their body posture several times during the study day. The objective of the current study was to examine the bioelectrical impedance variation in healthy subjects during 12 h in the supine position.

Subjects and methods

Ten male and eight female university students and coworkers volunteered to participate in this study. Informed consent was given. The study was performed in accord with the Helsinki-Declaration of 1975 as revised in 1983. The subjects' mean (SD) age was 25.9 (4.8) years; their mean (SD) weight and height were 68.9 (10.2) kg and 1.73 (0.1) m, respectively; and their mean (SD) body mass index was 23.0 (2.8) kg/m². Mean (SD) body weight at study end was 68.8 (10.3) kg. The women were between day 9 and day 19 of their menstrual cycles. 154 BIOELECTRICAL IMPEDANCE VARIATION IN SUPINE SUBJECTS

All subjects slept at home the night before the study day. Mean time of sleep was 7h with a range from 5 to 9h. No alcohol or strenuous exercise was allowed the night before study and the subjects were fasting from 2200. The subjects were requested to come to the hospital by car or bus. The duration from the subjects got up from their own bed to they lied down (study start) varied from 45 min to 1 h 45 min, with a mean time of 1 h and 15 min.

They removed all jewellery's, height and weight was measured, and they were requested to go to the toilet. From 0745 the subjects were in a supine position to the study end at 2000 except from toilet visits and weighing. The bed should be horizontal with a maximum of 45° angle at ingestion of meals. Toilet visits were performed at predetermined times, every hour directly after each impedance measurement, starting at 0900. Toilet visits were compulsory for all subjects independent of needs. The first meal was ingested at 0915. The meal consisted of a cheeseburger with tomato, orange juice, coffee or tea, and a banana. The energy content in the meal was 27% of the individual predicted total daily energy requirement, and total fluid ingestion was set to be 618 ml which was identical for all subjects. Subjects were served an identical meal at 1230 and 1730 and they were not allowed to eat or drink anything in addition to the served meals. For nutrient calculation we used the nutrient software program 'Dietist' using the 'Swedish Food Data Base (1992)' from the National Food administration (13). The calculated nutritional composition of the test meal is presented in Table 1.

Impedance measurements

Four electrodes (Conmed[®] Corporation, NY, USA) were attached to each subject. The electrodes were positioned at the middle of the dorsal surfaces of hands and feet, respectively, proximally to the metacarpal-phalangeal and metatarsal-phalangeal joints and medially between the medial and lateral malleoli at the ankle. The same electrodes were attached to the subjects during the whole study. Single-frequency BI was measured with a BIA-101 (Akern, Florence, Italy) using a current of 50 kHz. For measuring mfBI, the UniQuest-SEAC SFB-3 instrument (UniQuest Limited, Brisbane, Australia)

Table 1 The nutritional composition of the test meal

was used. This instrument analyse the impedance at multiple currents between 4 and 1024 kHz. Both instruments were used at all measurements. During the first hour, a BI measurement was performed every 15 min and thereafter every hour.

Manufacturer-supplied equations were used for calculating body composition from the single-frequency BIA. For calculating body composition from multiplefrequency BIA, we used the manufacturer-supplied equations of Hannan et al. (3). Total body water (TBW), intracellular water (ICW), and extracellular water (ECW) were also calculated using the results from the multiple-frequency BIA and equations of Hannan et al. (3).

Anthropometric measurements

Height was measured to the nearest 0.5 cm before the study started, and weight was measured to the nearest 0.1 kg within 5 min after every impedance measurement.

Statistical methods

All values are presented as means and SDs. Dunnett's *t*test was used to compare the impedance, ECW, and ICW between baseline and each consecutive measurement. Statistical calculations were performed by using the SPSS for WINDOWS (version 10.0; SPSS Inc, Chicago) software program.

Results

Impedance

Bioelectrical impedance measured at 50 kHz was identically measured with the two instruments and increased during the day (P<0.05). Mean (SD) impedance at 50 kHz increased from 558 (87) Ω at study start to 584 (95) Ω at study end (P<0.05). Figure 1 shows the variation in BI during the day.

Men and women followed the same pattern of impedance variation, although the women had higher levels of BI. BI is reduced after ingestion of the first meal

Nutritional component		Content per meal $(n=18)$	
	Mean	SD	Range
Energy (kJ)	2354	337	1835-2913
Fat (% of total energy)	34	0	
Protein (% of total energy)	18	. 0	
Carbohydrate (% of total energy)	48	0	
Calcium (mg)	140	17	117-169
Iron (mg)	3.7	0.6	3.0-5.0
Magnesium (mg)	98	13	78-120
Sodium (mg)	839	119	659-1038
Potassium (mg)	1211	173	947-1497
Zinc (mg)	5.4	0.8	4.2-6.7
Total fluid (ml)	618	0	



Fig. 1 Mean changes (and 95% CI) from a baseline value of 558 Ω in single-frequency impedance during 12 h (n=18). Arrows indicate time of meals. \bullet , significantly different from baseline (P <0.05); ×, NS from baseline.

(P < 0.05), but not following the meals at 1230 and 1730. The subject with the largest increase in impedance had an increase of 9.6%, from 669Ω at study start to 733 Ω at study end.

Calculated body fat

Calculated body fat content from the sfBI increased by 10.1% from a baseline mean (SD) of 21.7 (6.1)% body fat to 23.9 (6.7)% body fat at study end (P < 0.05). There was no difference between men and women (9.8% and 9.9% increase, respectively). Results from the mfBI followed the same pattern. The subject with the largest increase in calculated body fat had an increase of 19.9%, from 32.1% body fat at study start to 38.5% body fat at study end and there was no relation between baseline body fat % and size of change in calculated body fat%.

Calculated body fluids

TBW, calculated from the equation of Hannan et al. (3), decreased during the day, and TBW was statistical significantly lower (P < 0.05) at 18.00, 19.00 and 20.00 (Fig. 2) compared with study start. Calculated TBW was 2.5% (1.01) lower at study end than at study start (P < 0.05). ECW did also decrease during the study, statistically significantly (P < 0.05) so already after 45 min (Fig. 3). Calculated ECW was reduced by 4.5% (0.91) during the study. Intracellular water, however, was stable during the whole study (data not shown).

Discussion

Bioelectrical impedance, and hence, calculated body fat percentage, increased gradually during 12 h in the supine subjects studied. Calculated body fat percentage increased by 10% during the day (P < 0.05). This change is larger than the reduction of 8% in body fat percentage, measured by underwater weighing, found by Kriketos et al. in their 10 week weight loss intervention study in moderately obese subjects (14).

Ingestion of the first meal led to a decrease in BI (P < 0.05), which is consistent with what we found in a study of ambulatory subjects (12). In that study, however, BI gradually *decreased* during the first 12 h. The only difference between these two studies is the posture of the subjects. In the current study, we have simulated a patient situation, with the subjects being in a supine position all day. Meal nos. 2 and 3 did not reduce bioelectrical impedance in the current study.

Bioelectrical impedance is determined by the amount of body water. The TBW in the studied subjects appears to have decreased during the day, since we found an increasing BI. This is also revealed in the derived calculations of TBW. Ideally, another method also should have been used to determine TBW in this study. However, there is no reason to believe that a reduction in TBW with a mean of 1.01 should appear in this study, as we provided the subjects with 1.81 of fluids during the day and there was no change in body weight from baseline to study end. Other explanations to the increase in BI therefore have to be sought.

156 BIOELECTRICAL IMPEDANCE VARIATION IN SUPINE SUBJECTS



Fig. 2 Mean TBW (and 95% CI) calculated from multiple-frequency impedance measurement during 12 h (n = 18). Arrows indicate time of meals. \oplus , significantly different from baseline (P < 0.05); x, NS from baseline.



Fig. 3 Mean ECW (and 95% CI) calculated from multiple-frequency impedance measurement during 12 h (n = 18). Arrows indicate time of meals. \oplus , significantly different from baseline (P < 0.05); x, NS from baseline.

Each segments of the human body have their own electrical characteristics determined by their geometrical diameter. A cylinder with a small diameter, i.e. the arm or the leg, will have a higher resistance than a cylinder that has a larger diameter, i.e. thorax or abdomen. Measured BI is thus more affected by the fluid content in the extremities than in the thorax. Studies have shown that as people lie down, body fluids shift from legs and arms to the thorax and abdomen (9, 15). Less fluid in the legs and arms leads to an increasing BI, independent of changes in TBW, due to the determining properties of the extremities. Combined with the fact that the subjects body weights were stable during the day, we suggest that the body fluids shift is the probable explanation to the observed increased bioelectrical impedance in this study. In subjects not being in the supine position, i.e. during a normal working day, we found a statistically significant increase in body weight of 0.5 kg during 12 h (P < 0.05), probably due to fluid accumulation during the day (12).

Whatever explanation to the observed increase in BI, the importance of strict measurement standardisation both in epidemiological studies and clinical practice is underlined. Bioelectrical impedance is an easy and validated method of assessing body composition. However, our findings in this study underline the importance of standardisation procedures.

This study strengthens the guidelines proposed by Ellis et al. (16) suggesting that BIA measurement should be performed in the fasting state after 10 min in the supine position, and the current study shows the effects of non-standardised measurements on calculated body composition.

References

- Deurenberg P, Weststrate J A, Paymans I, van der Kooy K. Factors affecting bioelectrical impedance measurements in humans. Eur J Clin Nutr 1988; 42: 1017–1022
- Segal K R, Gutin B, Presta E, Wang J, Van Itallie TB. Estimation of human body composition by electrical impedance methods: a comparative study. J Appl Physiol 1985; 58: 1565–1571

Submission date: 5 July 2002 Accepted: 1 October 2002

CLINICAL NUTRITION 157

- Hannan W J, Cowen S J, Fearon K C, Plester C E, Falconer J S, Richardson R A. Evaluation of multi-frequency bio-impedance analysis for the assessment of extracellular and total body water in surgical patients. Clin Sci (Colch) 1994; 86: 479–485
- Chumlea W C, Guo S S. Bioelectrical impedance and body composition: present status and future directions. Nutr Rev 1994; 52: 123-131
- Guo S S, Chumlea WC, Cockram D B. Use of statistical methods to estimate body composition. Am J Clin Nutr 1996; 64: 428S– 435S
- Gleichauf C N, Roe D A. The menstrual cycle's effect on the reliability of bioimpedance measurements for assessing body composition. Am J Clin Nutr 1989; 50: 903–907
- Deurenberg P, van der Kooy K, Leenen R, Schouten F J. Body impedance is largely dependent on the intra- and extra-cellular water distribution. Eur J Clin Nutr 1989; 43: 845-853
- Gray D S. Changes in bioelectrical impedance during fasting. Am J Clin Nutr 1988; 48: 1184–1187
- Lozano-Nieto A, Turner A A. Effects of orthostatic fluid shifts on bioelectrical impedance measurements. Biomed Instrum Technol 2001; 35: 249–258
- Roos A N, Westendorp R G, Frolich M, Meinders A E. Tetrapolar body impedance is influenced by body posture and plasma sodium concentration. Eur J Clin Nutr 1992; 46: 53-60
- Gallagher M, Walker K Z, O'Dea K. The influence of a breakfast meal on the assessment of body composition using bioelectrical impedance. Eur J Clin Nutr 1998; 52: 94–97
- Slinde F, Rossander-Hulthén L. Bioelectrical impedance: effect of 3 identical meals on diurnal impedance variation and calculation of body composition. Am J Clin Nutr 2001; 74: 474–478.
- Statens Livsmedelsverk (Swedish National Food Administration). Livsmedelstabeller. Stockolm: Norstedts tryckeri, 1993
- Kriketos A D, Robertson R M, Sharp T A et al. Role of weight loss and polyunsaturated fatty acids in improving metabolic fitness in moderately obese, moderately hypertensive subjects. J Hypertens 2001; 19: 1745–1754
- Sudoh M, Sekiguchi C, Kurihara S. Changes in body fluid distribution during 7 days 6 degrees head-down bed rest. J Gravit Physiol 1999; 6: 155-156
- Ellis K J, Bell S J, Chertow G M et al. Bioelectrical impedance methods in clinical research: a follow-up to the NIH Technology Assessment Conference. Nutrition 1999; 15: 874–880

Total energy expenditure in underweight patients with severe chronic obstructive pulmonary disease living at home. Slinde F *et al. Clin Nutr 2003;22:159-165*

Clinical Nutrition (2003) 22(2): 159-165 © 2003 Elsevier Science Ltd. All rights reserved. doi:10.1054/clnu.2002.0618

Available online at www.sciencedirect.com

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

Total energy expenditure in underweight patients with severe chronic obstructive pulmonary disease living at home

F. SLINDE,* L. ELLEGÅRD,* A. M. GRÖNBERG,[†] S. LARSSON,[†] L. ROSSANDER-HULTHÉN*

*Department of Clinical Nutrition, Sahlgrenska Academy at Göteborg University, Göteborg, Sweden, [†]Department of Respiratory Medicine and Allergology, Sahlgrenska Academy at Göteborg University, Göteborg, Sweden. (Correspondence to: FS, Department of Clinical Nutrition, Sahlgrenska Academy at Göteborg University, P.O Box 459, 405 30 Göteborg Sweden. E-mail: frode.slinde@nutrition.gu.se)

Abstract—Aim: The aim of the study was to assess total daily energy expenditure (TDE), as measured by doubly labelled water (DLW), and describe its components in home-living underweight patients with severe chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD).

Methods: Basal metabolic rate (BMR) was measured prior to the study. Ten patients received DLW, followed by urine analysis by isotope ratio mass spectrometry from 10 standardised occasions during 15 days. Dietary intake was registered by each patient the first 7 days of the study. The patients were also interviewed about their physical activity pattern.

Results: Measured BMR was higher than predicted in five of the 10 patients using equations from WHO. Using diseasespecific equations, estimated BMR was higher for male, but not for female COPD patients. The best estimation of BMR resulted from prediction including fat-free mass. TDE varied considerably between 5200 and 11,100 kJ. Physical activity level (PAL) ranged from 1.15 to 1.80. Energy intake varied between 4500 and 9100 kJ. In underweight patients with severe COPD, TDE is highly variable, ranging from 110 to 200 kJ/kg body weight.

Conclusions: This is the first study assessing and describing total energy expenditure in underweight patients with severe COPD living at home. Energy requirement in the patient group cannot solely be calculated from prediction equations. BMR should be measured and physical activity level assessed. © 2003 Elsevier Science Ltd. All rights reserved.

Key words: chronic obstructive pulmonary disease; energy metabolism; doubly labelled water; energy intake; basal metabolic rate.

Introduction

Malnutrition and weight loss are often found in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) (1, 2). Malnutrition is associated with loss of muscle mass and impaired muscle function (3), and malnutrition together with a low body weight in COPD is a strong predictor for increased mortality (4). Several factors have been suggested to contribute to the development of malnutrition and weight loss: increased basal metabolic rate (BMR) (5), reduced energy intake from food (5), and/or increased energy cost of physical activity (6). Increased energy expenditure for physical activity have been reported in COPD patients (7, 8) together with increased diet-induced thermogenesis (DIT) compared to healthy controls (8). Total daily energy (TDE) can be measured using doubly labelled water (DLW) and this method is considered to be the golden standard method for TDE assessments. In COPD patients, TDE assessed by DLW has only been reported by one study group, and only in patients

performing daily exercises at a hospital pulmonary rehabilitation unit (7).

Since most patients with COPD are living at home, the aim of the present study was to assess the TDE as measured by DLW, and describe its components in home-living underweight patients with severe COPD.

Subjects and methods

Subjects

Ten patients (five men and five women) with severe and stable COPD, diagnosed as forced expiratory volume in 1s (FEV₁) <50 % predicted, as determined by criteria from The European Respiratory Society (9) were included in this study. All patients were recruited consecutively from the outpatient COPD unit at the Department of Respiratory Medicine, Sahlgrenska University Hospital, Göteborg, Sweden. Of the 15 patients asked to attend, five declined to take part in the study. Exclusion criteria were body mass index (BMI) >20 kg/m², active smoking, having external help at home, oxygen treatment, cancer, diabetes mellitus, hypothyroidism or other major diseases. All

160 TOTAL ENERGY EXPENDITURE IN COPD PATIENTS LIVING AT HOME

patients lived at home and none of the patients were involved in any rehabilitation activities during the study period. The patients were informed of the nature and purpose of the study and gave informed consent. Procedures followed were in accord with the Helsinki declaration from 1977 as revised in 1983. The study was approved by the Ethics Committee of Göteborg University.

Study design

The investigation took place over two consecutive weeks for each patient. Prior to the study a measurement of BMR and pulmonary function tests were performed. At day 1, patients received the dose of DLW, underwent body composition measurement, and were interviewed about habitual diet. A visit at home was performed by the dietitian at day 3, to discuss the food diary, check the use of medications, and complete a questionnaire about physical activity. The last day of the study, day 15, the patient delivered the urine samples to the hospital and body weight was measured.

Body composition

Body weight was measured with a calibrated scale (August Saufer, Albstadt, Germany) with patients bare footed in light clothing and was determined to the nearest 0.1 kg at day 1 and day 15. Height was measured with the subject standing bare foot and was determined to the nearest centimeter using a horizontal headboard with an attached wall-mounted metric rule at day 1. BMI was calculated as weight (kg) divided by height² (m). Body composition was measured with dual energy X-ray absorptiometry (Lunar Prodigy, GE Lunar Corp, Madison, USA). Fat-free mass (FFM) was also estimated from sex, age, height, and body weight using the equations of Westerterp et al. (10).

Pulmonary function tests

Spirometry was performed with a Vitalograph spirometer (Selefa, Buckingham, Ireland) before and 15 min after inhalation of 1 mg terbutaline to reach optimal standardisation. Arterial blood gases (partial pressure of oxygen (PO_2) and partial pressure of carbon dioxide (PCO_2)) and diffusion capacity of carbon monoxide (DL_{CO}) were measured in all patients.

Basal metabolic rate (BMR)

BMR was measured by indirect calorimetry using a ventilated-hood system. The equipment used was a Medical Graphics Corporation cardio pulmonary exercise system CPX (Medical Graphics Corporation, Minneapolis, USA). The equipment was calibrated before each measurement with gas mixtures with known O_2 and CO_2 contents according to the manufacturer's instructions. All patients were measured after an overnight fast and they arrived from their home by car, hence we measured resting energy expenditure (REE). Since there is only a small difference between REE and BMR, we present the data as BMR. After a 30 min rest, BMR was measured for 20 min when the patients were awake in the supine position and in an environmental temperature between 22°C-23°C. BMR was also calculated using the equations from WHO (11), equations developed especially for COPD patients (12) and from measured and predicted FFM (10).

Total daily energy expenditure-DLW

TDE was determined by the DLW technique. All patients came to the laboratory in the morning at day 1, after voiding, and after a normal breakfast. Prior to dosing, a second voiding was collected for determination of background isotope enrichment.

The subjects drank a mixture of deuteriated and oxygenated water, corresponding to 0.05 g of deuteriumdioxide (²H₂O) and 0.10 g of oxygen-18-water (H₂¹⁸O) per kilogram bodyweight. The dose was flushed down the throat with a glass of tap water. The exact time of dosing was recorded, and the subjects were equipped with 30 screw-capped glass vials to be filled 8 and 12 h after dosing, and with the second voiding from day 2, 3, 4, 5, 10, 13, 14, and 15 respectively. Exact voiding times were registered, and the urine samples were stored in freezer before delivery to the laboratory. Measurements of tap water, diluted administered dose, background enrichment and urine samples were performed in triplicates on a Finnigan MAT Delta Plus Isotope-Ratio Mass Spectrometer (ThermoFinnigan, Uppsala, Sweden). Five millilitres urine were introduced into 25 ml glass bottles, and equilibrated together with platinum-coated small rods as catalysts under hydrogen or carbon dioxide at 18°C in a controlled waterbath under agitating, for 2h for deuterium and for 6h for oxygen. Isotope ratios of the samples, expressed as delta values per mill, were compared to the isotope ratio of the standard gas, which in turn was compared to internal laboratory standards of water, and also in turn compared to known standards, as Vienna Standard Mean Ocean Water (SMOW), and Standard Light Precipitate (SLAP), purchased from The International Atomic Energy Agency (IAEA, Vienna, Austria). Variation in internal laboratory standard triplicates expressed by standard deviation (SD) in delta per mill was 0.47 for deuterium and 0.16 for oxygen. Variation in triplicates of urine samples expressed by SD in delta per mill was 0.40 for deuterium and 0.14 for oxygen, respectively. TDE was calculated by the multipoint method by linear regression from the difference between elimination constants of deuterium and oxygen-18, with the assumptions for fractionating as suggested by IAEA (13). All elimination curves were checked for major or

diverging residuals. The coefficient of variation (CV) for the elimination constants were on average 3.4% for hydrogen and 2.9% for oxygen. We used the relationship between pool size deuterium (N_D) and pool size oxygen¹⁸ (N_O) as a quality measurement of the DLW. The energy equivalence of the CO₂ excreted was calculated from the macronutrient intake using estimated food quotient (FQ) from the 7-day dietary registration (14).

Dietary intake

At day 1 the patients were interviewed about their habitual dietary intake. The patients were also interviewed about eventually former dietary counselling and use of nutritional supplements. During the first 7 days of the study, the patients registered food- and beverageintake with the help of household measures. On the home visit at day 3, the dietitian checked the food diary and weighed the patients usual glasses, cups, pieces of bread, etc. in order to calculate energy intake as accurate as possible. At the same time a list of drugs they used was collected for each patient. At the end of the study (day 15), the patient and the dietitian discussed the registered dietary intake, to ensure a food diary as accurate as possible. For nutrient calculation, we used the nutrient program MATs (Rudans Lättdata, Västerås, Sweden) using the 'Swedish Food Data Base' (1997) from the National Food Administration (15). Data on the nutrient content of dietary supplements were added to the database.

Physical activity assessment

All patients completed the Zutphen physical activity questionnaire (ZPAC) (16) during the home visit at day 3. The questionnaire include questions about several standard activities (walking, cycling, gardening, jobs around the house, household activities, sport activities, hobbies, and walking stairs) and patients were also asked how long these activities were performed the last week. Patients were also interviewed about their outside home working situation, if present.

Data analysis

Results are described individually and as median and range. The statistical method described by Bland and Altman (17) was used to assess the degree of agreement between estimated and measured BMR.

Results

All patients completed the study. Patient characteristics, lung function data and body composition of the patients are shown in Table 1 for the male patients and Table 2 for the female patients. All patients met the diagnostic criteria for severe COPD. One patient (pat no. 4) had a BMI at 20.6 kg/m^2 . In the recruitment process the patient had a BMI under 20 kg/m^2 , but his body weight had increased at inclusion to the study. We chose to include this patient anyway, as we still consider him representative of the patients with underweight and severe COPD. Data on measured BMR for each patient

Table 1	Patient characteristics,	lung function an	d body composition in f	ve underweight male	patients with severe	COPD living at home
---------	--------------------------	------------------	-------------------------	---------------------	----------------------	---------------------

Pat no.	Age (year)	Weight (kg)	Height (cm)	BMI (kg/m ²)	FEV ₁ (% pred)	PO2 (kPa)	PCO ₂ (kPa)	DL _{CO} (%)	FFM _{DXA} (kg)
1	69	58.2	180	18.0	44	8.3	4.5	32	47.1
2	57	55.1	173	18.4	41	10.1	4.8	39	49.3
3	47	62.9	178	19.9	24	8.8	5.6	60	48.3
4	70	69.8	184	20.6	26	8.7	5.3	66	55.8
5	66	53.3	166	19.3	33	10.2	6.2	73	44.2
Median	66	58.2	178	19.3	33	8.8	5.3	60	48.3
Range	47-70	53.3-69.8	166-184	18.0-20.6	24-44	8.8-10.2	4.5-6.2	32 - 73	44.2-55.8

Definition of abbreviations: FEV_1 = forced expiratory volume in 1 s, as percentage of predicted; PO_2 = arterial partial pressure of oxygen; PCO_2 = arterial partial pressure of carbon dioxide; DL_{CO} = diffusion capacity of carbon monoxide; FFM_{DXA} = fat-free mass measured by DXA.

Table 2 Patient characteristics, lung function and body composition in five underweight female patients with severe COPD living at home

Pat no.	Age (year)	Weight (kg)	Height (cm)	BMI (kg/m ²)	FEV ₁ (% pred)	PO ₂ (kPa)	PCO ₂ (kPa)	DL _{co} (%)	FFM _{DXA} (kg)
6	67	48.4	164	18.0	36	5.6	6.0	61	34.5
7	55	50.6	160	19.8	46	13.3	4.8	42	35.4
8	66	42.9	160	16.8	19	8.0	5.3	18	27.7
9	61	53.1	167	19.0	20	8.8	4.7	39	36.4
10	72	49.7	168	17.6	19	11.3	4.8	*	30.6
Median	66	49.7	164	18.0	20	8.8	4.8	41	34.5
Range	55-72	42.9-53.1	160-168	16.8-19.8	19-46	5.6-13.3	4.8-6.0	18-61	27.7-36.4

*Could not perform the diffusion capacity test.

Definition of abbreviations: FEV_1 = forced expiratory volume in 1 s, as percentage of predicted; PO_2 = arterial partial pressure of oxygen; PCO_2 = arterial partial pressure of carbon dioxide; DL_{CO} = diffusion capacity of carbon monoxide; FFM_{DXA} = fat-free mass measured by DXA.

162 TOTAL ENERGY EXPENDITURE IN COPD PATIENTS LIVING AT HOME

are presented in Tables 3 and 4. The median (range) measured BMR, predicted BMR from WHO, Moore and Angelillo, measured FFM and predicted FFM for the men were 6500 (5400-7400) kJ 6500 (5300-6900) kJ, 6800 (6500-7300) kJ, 6200 (5800-7100) kJ, and 6400 (5800-7000) kJ, respectively. For the women, the median (range) measured BMR were 4700 (3800-5600)kJ, predicted from WHO 5100 (4700-5300) kJ, predicted from Moore and Angelillo 5100 (4700-5300) kJ, predicted from FFM 4800 (4200-5100) kJ, and predicted from estimated FFM 5100 (4700-5300) kJ. Figure 1 is a plot showing the agreement between measured BMR and BMR predicted from the four different equations. If a perfect agreement was the case, all the values would have been zero. A positive value means that the prediction underestimate BMR, compared with the measured value. In five of the patients (four men and one woman), the measured BMR was higher than the BMR predicted from WHO equations (11). Compared with predicted BMR from the COPDpatient-specific equations of Moore and Angelillo (12), three of the patients (two men and one woman) had a higher measured BMR. Predicting BMR from measured FFM (10) leads to an underestimation of BMR in five patients (two women and three men), and using an estimated FFM in the prediction of BMR (10) leads to an underestimated BMR in three men and one woman.

Total daily energy expenditure as measured by DLW varied considerably from 5200 to 11,100 kJ (Tables 3 and 4). Expressed as kilojoule per kg body weight energy expenditure varied from 110 to 200 kJ/kg. The relation

between TDE and measured BMR varied from 1.15 to 1.80. The quality measurement of the DLW analysis expressed as the relationship between $N_{\rm D}$ and $N_{\rm O}$ is presented in Tables 3 and 4. Our results fell well into the accepted range between 1.015 and 1.060 as proposed by IAEA.

All patients, except one (pat no. 9) drank coffee regularly, two patients (pat nos. 1 and 3) used nicotine supplements, three patients (pat nos. 6, 9 and 10) used theophylline-containing drugs, all patients except one (pat no. 10) used β_2 agonists, and two patients (pat nos. 5 and 6) used selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors (SSRI). Three patients (pat no 2, 6 and 10) regularly used liquid nutritional supplements in their diet. The results from the dietary record showed good agreement with the results from the dietary interview concerning food choices and meal pattern (data not shown). Energy intake (EI) as assessed by the 7-day dietary registration varied from 5300 to 9100 kJ, as shown in Tables 3 and 4. The relation between EI and measured BMR (PAL_{EI}) varied between 0.95 and 1.70.

Physical activity pattern measured by the ZPAC (16) is presented in Table 5. Data are presented both as types of physical activity and levels of intensity. Most of the activities performed were gardening or light-to-moderate intensive hobbies. Three patients (pat nos. 1, 8 and 10) reported no or almost no activity at all. Six patients lived in their own house with a garden, and the other four (pat nos. 3, 7, 8 and 10) lived in apartments. Patient 10 used a wheelchair for transportation outside the home, all other patients were ambulatory. Two patients were in the active workforce (pat no. 1 was a taxi driver

Table 3 BMR measured with indirect calorimetry, TDE assessed by DLW and energy intake from 7 day dietary registration in five underweight male patients with severe COPD living at home

Pat no.	BMR-IC (kJ)	TDE (kJ)	N _D /N _O	TDE/Body weight (kJ/kg)	EI (kJ)	TDE/BMR-IC	EI/BMR-IC
1	6500	9000	1.037	150	8600	1.39	1.33
2	7500	11100	1.031	200 ·	9100	1.48	1.22
3	5600	8600	1.038	140	7900	1.54	1.42
4	7400	10900	1.044	160	7800	1.47	1.05
5	5400	8600	1.039	160	7500	1.59	1.38
Median	6500	9000	1.038	150	7900	1.48	1.33
Range	5400-7500	8600-11100	1.031-1.044	140-200	7500-9100	1.39-1.59	1.05-1.42

Definition of abbreviations: TDE = total daily energy expenditure; N_D = pool size deuterium; N_O = pool size oxygen¹⁸; EI = energy intake; BMR-IC=BMR measured with indirect calorimetry.

Table 4 BMR measured with indirect calorimetry, TDE assessed by DLW and energy intake from 7 day dietary registration in five underweight female patients with severe COPD living at home

Pat no.	BMR-IC (kJ)	TDE (kJ)	N _D /N _O	TDE/body weight (kJ/kg)	EI (kJ)	TDE/BMR-IC	EI/BMR-IC
6	4700	7000	1.038	140	8000	1.49	1.68
7	4500	8100	1.032	160	4500	1.80	1.00
8	3800	5200	1.034	120	6400	1.37	1.70
9	5600	8900	1.028	170	5300	1.59	0.95
10	4900	5600	1.040	110	5700	1.15	1.18
Median	4700	7000	1.034	140	5700	1.49	1.18
Range	3800-5600	5200-8900	1.028-1.040	110-170	5300-8000	1.15-1.80	0.95-1.70

Definition of abbreviations: TDE = total daily energy expenditure; N_D = pool size deuterium; N_O = pool size oxygen¹⁸; EI = energy intake; BMR-IC=BMR measured with indirect calorimetry.

CLINICAL NUTRITION 163



Fig. 1. Differences between measured and predicted BMR plotted against average of measured and predicted BMR predicted from equations from WHO (11), Moore and Angelillo (12), and Westerterp et al. (10) in 10 underweight patients with severe COPD living at home.

Pat no.	LA	MA	HA	Walking	Bicycling	Gardening	Hobbies
1	0	0	20	0	20	0	0
2	0	150	660	0	0	660	150°
3	600	0	0	0	0	0	600**
4	0	30	930	30	0	930	0
5	0	135	210	135	0	210	0
6	0	0	315	0	0	315	0
7	420	34	0	34	0	0	420#
8	0	3	0	3	0	0	0
9	0	20	30	20	0	30	0
10	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Median	0	20	30	3	0	30	0
Range	0-600	0-150	0-930	0-135	0-20	0-930	0-600

Table 5 Time (minutes/week) spent in three levels of physical activity intensity and selected types of physical activity in 10 patients with severe COPD

*Tinkering with the car.

**Chessplaying.

#Embroidery.

Physical activity levels were adopted from Caspersen et al. (16).

Definition of abbreviations: LA = light activity, MA = moderate activity, HA = heavy activity.

and pat no. 7 a secretary), while the remaining eight were all on a disability pension.

Discussion

Predicting BMR using the equation of WHO underestimated the BMR in half of the patients. Using the disease-specific equation of Moore and Angelillo, BMR was underestimated in three of the 10 patients. This may be due to the fact that the equation of Moore and Angelillo is developed on a relatively small group of COPD patients (n=43) out of which only 10 were women. The FFM is the most important determinant of BMR. Even if the equation with the measured FFM underestimate BMR in five of the patients, this is the prediction with the narrowest limits of agreement. Predicting FFM from sex, age, height and body weight, however, does not improve the prediction compared with the equations from WHO or Moore and Angelillo.

164 TOTAL ENERGY EXPENDITURE IN COPD PATIENTS LIVING AT HOME

Since none of the used equations gave an acceptable prediction of BMR, we therefore suggest that a *measurement* of BMR always should be performed in underweight patients with severe COPD, to provide a basis for estimating energy requirement. The second best is to predict the BMR from FFM measured by a reliable method.

All patients ingested either caffeine, nicotine or drugs, factors known to influence BMR. Studies have shown acute effects of salbutamol on BMR (18), but the knowledge is limited concerning long-term effects of bronchodilators and the other confounding factors in patients with severe COPD (19). The possible effects on BMR by each single factor in the present study is impossible to account for.

This study shows that underweight COPD patients, both male and female, living at home have a wide variation in TDE, from 5200 to 11,000 kJ, and energy intake, from 5300 to 9100 kJ, measured by DLW and a 7-day dietary registration. TDE varied from 110 to 200 kJ/kg body weight. In dietary counselling an energy requirement of 125 kJ/kg is often used as a guideline. Using this guideline would not have met the energy requirements in eight out of 10 patients in this study.

Baarends et al. (8) reported a mean TDE of 11,000 kJ in 20 COPD patients (19 men and 1 woman), but unfortunately without reporting body weight, so excluding the possibility to compare energy expenditure expressed by kilogram body weight. However, the median TDE (9000 kJ) for men in the present study was lower compared to the mean of 11,000 kJ in the study by Baarends et al. (8). Hugli et al. (6) studied 16 male COPD patients in a respiration chamber and found a mean TDE of 130 kJ/kg body weight. These patients though, had a low level of physical activity, with a group mean physical activity level (PAL) of 1.21. In another study of Baarends et al. (7), eight male COPD patients had a TDE of 170 kJ/kg body weight (body weight calculated from FFM and percentage body fat), with a mean PAL of 1.70. Only one of the male patients in the present study exceeded 170 kJ/kg body weight in TDE, but the other four were fairly close (140-160 kJ/kg body weight). The median TDE of 150 kJ/kg body weight and the median PAL of 1.48, in the five male patients in the present study, is halfway between the results from the rehabilitation studies by Baarends et al. and the inactivity study by Hugli et al. This is possibly due to the fact that the patients in those studies were in artificial environments; i.e. a pulmonary rehabilitation unit with training and in a respiratory chamber. The results found in the current study is in consistency with the results recently presented by Tang et al. (20), although they used the bicarbonate-urea method.

All patients had a stable weight during the study (data not shown). Therefore, one would expect the energy intake to equal the TDE. We are aware of the fact that a 7-day dietary registration may not be representative for an individual habitual dietary intake. This may be the fact for patient no. 7, who clearly underestimated her intake of foods and beverages. Her registration shows an energy deficit of 3600 kJ per day. If this was the truth she would have been expected to loose 1.7 kg of body weight, assuming that only fat mass is lost. Five patients (pat nos. 2, 4, 5, 7 and 9) reported an energy intake below 90% of the TDE and two subjects (pat nos. 6 and 8) reported an energy intake above 110% of TDE as measured by DLW. Using the Goldberg cutoff for energy intake (21) calculated with each patient PAL_{DLW}, two patients (pat nos. 7 and 9) were identified as under-reporters, i.e. their reported energy intake cannot be a true measure of their habitual diet.

Median PAL using the TDE analysed by DLW (PAL_{DLW}) was 1.49, ranging from 1.15 to 1.80. The subject with a PAL of 1.15 used a wheelchair for transportation-thereby possibly accounting the low physical activity. A PAL of 1.49 is somewhat lower than Baarends et al. found in their study on eight male COPD patients admitted to a pulmonary rehabilitation unit (7). The large variation in PALDLW represents the highly variable level of physical activity that can be seen in underweight patients with severe COPD living at home. Median PAL determined from the energy intake (PAL_{EI}) was 1.29 with a range from 0.95 to 1.70. Dividing the patient group into halves of PALDLW and PAL_{EI} as much as four patients out of 10 are classified in the opposite half, i.e. a misclassification of PAL calculation using energy intake data. So even if we did put a lot of effort in determining the energy intake by dietary registration in this study, this is not very likely a method which should be used to determine total energy requirement. Thus it seems important to determine the amount of physical activity so as to predict the total daily energy requirement. Since the patients in this study had rather low physical activity, a questionnaire like the ZPAC only involves a short amount of the patients total time in activity. In this study, it only accounted for a median of 6 h of the total week (168 h). We have therefore not calculated PAL from the ZPAC, but used it to describe the small amounts of detectable physical activity in COPD patients living at home. A great variation in physical activity was however detected (from 0 h/week (pat no 10) to 16 h/week (pat no. 4)) as presented in Table 5. In this study we lacked a tool to determine the energy expenditure derived by physical activity. Accelerometers have been suggested as a tool to be used, but validation studies against DLW has not shown convincing results (22), and in COPD patients no validation study has been done against DLW.

Since the patients in this study were underweight, a treatment goal with dietary intervention should be to increase body weight. An underestimation of PAL and BMR (using prediction equations) to determine energy requirements would result in dietary advice at a

CLINICAL NUTRITION 165

suboptimal energy level and increase rather than decrease the risk of further weight loss.

Among underweight patients with COPD living at home, there is great variation in total energy expenditure, physical activity, energy intake and BMR. There are very few data concerning energy expenditure in female patients with COPD and this is the first time TDE in women with COPD are described. Clearly, more research in energy expenditure in female COPD patients are needed. Estimating the energy requirement of patients with COPD demands a measurement of BMR (indirect calorimetry) and an estimation of the PAL.

Acknowledgements

The authors are grateful to The Ingabritt and Arne Lundberg Foundation, The Swedish Heart Lung Foundation and The Swedish Heart and Lung Association for the financial support. The authors gratefully acknowledge the assistance of Mrs. Vibeke Malmros and Mrs. Elisabeth Gramatkovski for performing the DLW analyse in the mass spectrometer, and Mrs. Catrin Eneroth for performing the BMR measurements.

References

- Wilson D O, Rogers R M, Hoffman R M. Nutrition and chronic lung disease. Am Rev Respir Dis 1985; 132: 1347–1365
- 2. Muers M F, Congleton J. Energy balance and intermediate
- metabolism in chronic lung disease. Monaldi Arch Chest Dis 1998; 53: 564-573
- Arora N S, Rochester D F. Respiratory muscle strength and maximal voluntary ventilation in undernourished patients. Am Rev Respir Dis 1982; 126: 5–8
- Gray-Donald K, Gibbons L, Shapiro S H, Macklem P T, Martin J G, Nutritional status and mortality in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1996; 153: 961–966
- Schols A M, Soeters P B, Mostert R, Saris W H, Wouters E F. Energy balance in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Am Rev Respir Dis 1991; 143: 1248-1252
- Hugli O, Schutz Y, Fitting J W. The daily energy expenditure in stable chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1996;153: 294-300

Submission date: 22 February 2002 Accepted: 4 October 2002

- Baarends E M, Schols A M, Pannemans D L, Westerterp K R, Wouters E F. Total free living energy expenditure in patients with severe chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1997; 155: 549–554
- Baarends E M, Schols A M, Westerterp K R, Wouters E F. Total daily energy expenditure relative to resting energy expenditure in clinically stable patients with COPD. Thorax 1997; 52: 780-785
- Siafakas N M, Vermeire P, Pride N B et al. Optimal assessment and management of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD). The European Respiratory Society Task Force. Eur Respir J 1995:8:1398-1420
- Westerterp K R, Donkers J H, Fredrix E W, Boekhoudt P. Energy intake, physical activity and body weight: a simulation model. Br J Nutr 1995; 73: 337-347
- WHO Technical Report Series, No. 724, 1985 (Energy and protein requirements). Report of a Joint FAO/WHO/UNU Expert Consultation.
- Moore J A, Angelillo V A. Equations for the prediction of resting energy expenditure in chronic obstructive lung disease. Chest 1988; 94: 1260-1263
- International Dietary Energy Consultancy Group (IDECG). The doubly-labelled water method for measuring energy expenditure. Technical recommendations for use in humans. NAHRES-4. International Atomic Energy Agency (IAEA), Vienna, 1990
 Black A E, Prentice A M, Coward W A. Use of food quotients to
- Black A E, Prentice A M, Coward W A. Use of food quotients to predict respiratory quotients for the doubly-labelled water method of measuring energy expenditure. Hum Nutr: Clin Nutr 1986; 40: 381-391
- Statens Livsmedelsverk (Swedish National Food Administration). Livsmedelstabeller. Stockholm: Liber Tryck AB, 1997
 Caspersen C J, Bloemberg B P, Saris W H, Merritt R K,
- Caspersen C J, Bloemberg B P, Saris W H, Merritt R K, Krombout D. The prevalence of selected physical activities and their relation with coronary heart disease risk factors in elderly men: the Zutphen Study, 1985. Am J Epidemiol 1991; 133: 1078-1092
- Bland J M, Altman D G. Statistical methods for assessing agreement between two methods of clinical measurement. Lancet 1986: 1: 307-310
- Burdet L, de Muralt B, Schutz Y, Fitting J W. Thermogenic effect of bronchodilators in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Thorax 1997; 52: 130–135
- Sridhar MK. Thermogenic effect of bronchodilators in COPD. Thorax 1997; 52: 751-752
- Tang N L, Chung M L, Elia M et al. Total daily energy expenditure in wasted chronic obstructive pulmonary disease patients. Eur J Clin Nutr 2002; 56: 282-287
- Black A E. Critical evaluation of energy intake using the Goldberg cut-off for energy intake:basal metabolic rate. A practical guide to its calculation, use and limitations. Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord 2000; 24: 1119–1130
- Leenders N Y J M, Sherman W M, Nagaraja H N, Kien C L. Evaluation of methods to assess physical activity in free-living conditions. Med Sci Sports Exerc 2001; 33: 1233-1240

Energy Expenditure in Underweight Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease Patients before and during a Physiotherapy Program. Slinde F *et al. Manuscript (2004)*



Energy Expenditure in Underweight Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease Patients before and during a Physiotherapy Program

Frode Slinde¹, Katarina Kvarnhult^{2,3}, AnneMarie Grönberg^{1,2}, Anita Nordenson², Sven Larsson², Lena Rossander-Hulthén¹

¹Dept. of Clinical Nutrition and ²Dept. of Respiratory Medicine and Allergology, Institute of Internal Medicine, Sahlgrenska Academy at Göteborg University, ³Department of Physiotherapy, Sahlgrenska University Hospital, Göteborg, Sweden. Correspondence should be addressed to frode.slinde@nutrition.gu.se

ABSTRACT

Background: Rehabilitation programs, including physiotherapy, nutritional support, psychotherapy and education are recommended in international treatment guidelines for obstructive chronic pulmonary disease (COPD) patients. For underweight COPD patients however, it is crucial to fulfill energy requirements and little is known concerning the effect on energy expenditure when entering into a physiotherapy program including aerobic exercise and peripheral muscle strength training.

Objective: To investigate how total daily energy expenditure (TDE) changes when underweight patients with COPD enter into a physiotherapy program.

Design: TDE was assessed by the doubly labelled water method in a two week control period and during two weeks in a physiotherapy program. Ten patients with severe COPD and with a body mass index $< 21 \text{ kg/m}^2$ completed the whole study. Energy intake was assessed using seven-day dietary registration during control and physiotherapy period.

Results: Median TDE during the control period was 7,300 kJ/day and median ratio between TDE and basal metabolic rate was 1.49. Six of the patients had lower TDE during the physiotherapy period compared to the control period. Median change in TDE was -10 % or -700 kJ/day. Median energy intake during the control period was 6,900 kJ and increased by 5 % or 300 kJ in the physiotherapy period.

Conclusion: Inclusion into a physiotherapy program is not necessarily followed by an increase in TDE. Underweight patients with COPD may show a stable, increased or decreased TDE compared to a control period. This calls for an assessment of each individual patient's energy requirements and the develop and validate need to alternative methods to the doubly labelled water method to assess TDE.

Key words: Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, energy expenditure, doubly labelled water, underweight, energy intake, rehabilitation, physiotherapy

INTRODUCTION

Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) is a disease of complex nature, especially in the moderate to severe stages of the disease. In addition to the primary impairment of the lungs and the airways, physiological abnormalities in the structure and metabolism of the skeletal muscles have been shown (3. 14). Rehabilitation programs, incphysiotherapy luding (mobility training, breathing exercises and physical exercise), nutritional support, psychotherapy and education are recommended in international treatment guidelines for COPD patients (18). Lacasse et al (13) concluded in a Cochrane review that rehabilitation relieves dyspnea and fatigue. increases exercise capacity and improves quality of life. Physical exercise comprises activities aiming maintaining and at improving physical and psychological functions and restoring the physiologic balance in the skeletal muscles. Both aerobic and peripheral muscle exercise training are recommended for COPD patients (4). Aerobic exercise could be walking, stair climbing and cycling while peripheral muscle training exercising could contain with weights, pulleys, and/or elastic rubber bands (11).

We have shown slight, but uniform, indications of positive effects of dietary intervention during multidisciplinary rehabilitation in a group of patients with severe COPD (20). However, in the underweight patients, where one of the goals is to increase body weight, we found that the extra amount of energy eaten by the patients was not sufficient to provide both an increase in physical performance and a gain in body weight. This fact raised the question about how much extra energy that is expended during a rehabilitation program. To our knowledge, only one study has examined this thoroughly. Tang et al (22) compared one single day without rehabilitation exercise to one day including exercise using the bicarbonate-urea method. In the ten patients studied, the total daily energy expenditure (TDE) increased from a mean of 1,508 kcal/day to 1,568 kcal/day (ns). A limitation of that study, as the authors' state, was the short measurement time, mainly dependent of the principles of the bicarbonate-urea method.

The doubly labelled water (DLW) method has made it possible to determine the TDE in free-living subjects. The technique is well established and validated both in animals and humans (16, 17) and is today considered to be the golden standard for assessment of TDE . The assessment is made with high precision without limiting the subjects' way of life. The result represents energy expenditure for a relatively long period of time, in contrast to short-term measurements with major limitations in way of life using direct calorimetry. Baarends et al studied ten male COPD patients admitted to a pulmonary rehabilitation center, using the DLW method, and found that the ratio

between TDE and basal metabolic rate (BMR) ranged from 1.5 to 2.0 compared to a range from 1.3 to 1.6 in healthy free-living control subjects (1). However, nobody has studied the effect on energy expenditure in the same patients before and during rehabilitation in COPD patients, which is the only way to answer the question. The lack of a controlled study may be due to the complexity of the appropriate study design. Such a study has to be done over a relatively long period of time, including a risk that the patients will experience an exacerbation of their disease. The need for individualization of the physiotherapy program makes standardization of the study design hard to achieve.

The aim of this study was to investigate how TDE changes when underweight patients with COPD enter into a physiotherapy program.

METHODS

Study design

Prior to the study, pulmonary function tests were performed. A control period preceded the physiotherapy period as shown in figure 1. The time between the two measurement periods was set to four weeks to ensure total elimination of the first dose of DLW.

Control period

At day 1, patients underwent measurements of body composition, and BMR. They received the first dose of DLW and were also instructed to register dietary intake during seven days. A visit at home was performed by a dietitian (FS) at day eight, to discuss and collect the food diary and to check the use of medications and nicotine. On day 15, the patient delivered the urine samples to the hospital and their body weight was measured.



Figure 1. Study design

Physiotherapy period

After two weeks of physiotherapy, i.e. at day one of the measurement period, the patients received the second dose of DLW. They were instructed to register dietary intake during seven days. A visit at home was performed by a dietitian at day eight, to discuss and collect the food diary. On day 15, patients underwent measurements of body weight and they delivered the urine samples.

Patients

Eleven patients (two men and nine women) with severe and stable COPD. diagnosed forced as expiratory volume in one second $(FEV_1) < 50 \%$ predicted, as determined by criteria from The European Society Respiratory (18)were included in this study. All patients were recruited consecutively from the outpatient COPD-unit at the Department of Respiratory Medicine, Sahlgrenska University Hospital, Göteborg, Sweden, Inclusion criteria was body mass index (BMI) < 21 kg/m² and exclusion criteria were earlier performed rehabilitation. oxygen treatment, cancer, diabetes hypothyreoidism, mellitus. heart failure and angina pectoris during exercise test or other major diseases. The patients were informed of the nature and purpose of the study and gave written informed consent. The study was approved by the Ethics Research Committee of the Göteborg University.

Pulmonary function tests

Spirometry was performed with a Vitalograph spirometer (Selefa, Buch-

kingham, Ireland) before and 15 min after inhalation of 1 mg terbutaline to reach optimal standardization. Arterial blood gases (partial pressure of oxygen (PO_2) and partial pressure of carbon dioxide (PCO_2)) were measured in all patients.

BMR

BMR was measured by indirect calorimetry using a ventilated-hood system. The equipment used was a DeltatracTM II Metabolic Monitor (Datex, Helsinki, Finland). Before each measurement, the equipment was calibrated with gas mixtures of known O2 and CO2 contents according to the manufacturer's instructions. All subjects were measured after an overnight fast and they arrived from their home by car or public transport hence we measured resting energy expenditure (REE). Since there is only a small difference between REE and BMR, we present the data as BMR. The subjects were instructed to limit their physical activity the evening before the measurement. After a 30 min rest in supine position, BMR was the measured during 30 min when the subjects were awake in the supine position. The measurements were performed in an environmental temperature between 22-23°C. The presented mean BMR for each patient is based on the last 25 min of the measurement.

Body composition

Body weight was measured, with subjects wearing light clothing without shoes, to the nearest 0.1 kg. Height was measured and determined to the nearest centimeter using a horizontal headboard with an attached wall-mounted metric rule. BMI was calculated as weight (kg) divided by height² (m). Body composition was measured with dual energy X-ray absorptiometry (Lunar Prodigy, GE Lunar Corp, Madison, USA) and fat free mass index (FFMI) was calculated as fat free mass (FFM) (kg) divided by height² (m).

DLW

TDE was determined by the DLW technique. TDE from the DLW method was measured over two 14 day periods (measurement period 1 and 2). Sample analysis and calculation procedures have been described elsewhere (19). Prior to dosing, a voiding was collected for determination of background isotope enrichment. The patients ingested a weighed mixture of deuteriated and oxygen-18 enriched water, corresponding to 0.05 g of deuterium oxide $(^{2}H_{2}O)$ and 0.10 g of oxygen-18-water $(H_2^{18}O)$ per kg body weight. The dose was flushed down the throat with a glass of tap water. The exact time of dosing was recorded and the subjects were equipped with 21 screw-capped glass vials to be filled with the second voiding from day two, three, four, eight, 13, 14 and 15. Exact voiding times were registered, and the urine samples were stored in a freezer before delivery to the laboratory. Samples were analysed in triplicates on a Finnigan MAT Delta Plus Isotope-Ratio Mass Spectrometer (ThermoFinnigan, Uppsala, Sweden). TDE was calculated by the multipoint method by linear regression

from the difference between elimination constants of deuterium and oxygen-18, with the assumptions for fractionating as suggested by IAEA (12). The energy equivalence of the CO_2 excreted was calculated from the macronutrient intake using estimated food quotient (FQ) from the 7-day dietary registration (2). The relationship between pool size deuterium (N_D) and pool size oxygen-18 (N_O) was used as a quality measurement of the DLW analysis as proposed by IAEA (12).

Dietary intake

During the first seven days of each measurement period, the patients registered food- and beverage-intake with the help of household measures. On the home visit at day eight, a dietitian checked the food diary and weighed the patients' usual glasses, cups, pieces of bread etc. in order to calculate energy intake as accurate as possible. At the same time a list of drugs which each patient used was collected. For nutrient calculation we used the nutrient program Dietist (Kost och Näringsdata AB, Bromma, Sweden) using the "Swedish Food Data Base" (1997) from the Swedish National Food Administration (21). Data on the nutrient content of dietary supplements was added to the database.

The physiotherapy program

The physiotherapy program took place at the Department of Physiotherapy, Sahlgrenska University Hospital. It comprised eight individual 90-min sessions (twice a week) of education and physical exercise plus a home-exercise program. Education included some elements of basic anatomy, respiratory physiology and pathophysiology of COPD. Moreover, instructions on disease management and practical coping skills were given. Physical exercises composed of mobility training, aerobic exercise on a treadmill and peripheral muscle training. All patients were managed by the same physiotherapist (KK). Practical coping skills focused on managing breathlessness by breathing exercises and sputum removal techniques. Breathing exercises included the pursed-lip-breathing technique, breathing exercises with positive expiratory pressure (PEP) using a BA-tube and postural drainage.

Table 1. Patient characteristics, lung function and body composition in eleven underweight COPD patients

Patient	Sex	Age	BW	Height	BMI	FEV ₁	PO ₂	PCO ₂	FFMI
		(years)	(kg)	(m)	(kg/m^2)	(%pred)	(kPa)	(kPa)	(kg/m ²)
1	F	53	53.8	1.68	19.2	45	11.2	4.7	13.8
2	F	60	49.8	1.60	19.5	49	8.2	5.7	13.7
3	F	55	50.8	1.58	20.5	40	9.1	4.5	13.1
4	F	63	47.0	1.58	18.8	24	12.6	5.3	15.2
5	М	62	41.9	1.76	13.5	21	9.2	5.3	13.1
6	F	54	57.7	1.70	20.0	46	11.0	5.2	12.6
7	М	57	57.8	1.82	17.4	35	9.5	4.5	14.8
8	F	58	56.0	1.67	20.1	42	8.1	6.0	14.7
9	F	73	45.2	1.54	19.1	35	9.2	4.7	15.8
10	F	74	47.1	1.49	21.2	43	8.2	5.5	15.0
11	F	74	50.2	1.69	17.6	27	8.4	4.8	13.1
Median		62	50.2	1.67	19.2	40	9.2	5.2	13.8
Range		53-74	41.9-57.8	1.49-1.82	13.5-21.2	21-49	8.1-12.6	4.5-6.0	12.6-15.8

BW=body weight; M=male; F=female; BMI= body mass index; FEV_1 =forced expiratory volume in 1 s, as percentage of predicted; PO_2 =arterial partial pressure of oxygen; PCO_2 =arterial partial pressure of carbon dioxide; FFMI=fat-free mass index

Instructions on coughing techniques were also given. Mobility training consisted of mobility exercises for the thoracic-, shoulder girdle- and neck muscles. Aerobic exercise was conducted on a treadmill (Power Jog. Sport Engineering Ltd., UK). Intensity and duration of exercise was based upon symptom scores, arterial oxygen saturation (SaO₂) and the history of exercise. Degree of perceived breathlessness was assessed by the modified Borg-scale, scores 0-10. The degree of perceived fatigue was assessed by the Borg-scale, scores 6-20. A level of 2-4 on breathlessness and 12-13 on fatigue was considered suitable. SaO2 was to be equal to or above 90 %. If the SaO₂ fell below 90 %, supplemental oxygen was given.

The speed and duration of the aerobic exercise was each session based upon symptom scores, SaO₂ and the history of exercise. In peripheral muscle training muscle endurance was emphasized. Exercises were focused on the lower extremities and were related to functional activities. The intensity was set to 40-80 % of the repetition maximum. The 6-min walking distance test with assessment of perceived breathlessness and SaO₂ every minute was performed at the first and last appointment with the physiotherapist and all patients had one training test before the study started.

 Table 2. Basal metabolic rate, total daily energy expenditure and energy intake in

 eleven underweight COPD patients during control period

Patient	BMR	TDE	EI	TDE/BMR	EI/BMR	TDE/BW
	(kJ)	(kJ)	(kJ)			(kJ/kg)
1	5,000	8,100	8,100	1.62	1.62	150
2	4,100	7,600	7,300	1.85	1.78	150
3	4,500	6,700	6,400	1.49	1.42	130
4	4,700	6,900	5,800	1.47	1.23	150
5	4,800	6,700	9,000	1.40	1.88	160
6	4,700	7,400	5,800	1.57	1.23	130
7	5,900	8,100	8,100	1.37	1.37	140
8	4,800	8,300	5,600	1.73	1.17	150
9	5,000	7,200	7,500	1.44	1.50	160
10	4,800	6,600	5,500	1.38	1.15	140
11	4,300	5,200	6,100	1.21	1.44	100
Median	4,800	7,200	6,400	1.48	1.42	140
Range	4,100-	5,200-	5,500-	1.21-1.85	1.15-	100-160
	5,900	8,300	9,000		1.88	

BMR=basal metabolic rate; TDE=total daily energy expenditure; EI= energy intake; BW= body weight
RESULTS

Ten patients (two men and eight women) completed the whole study. One patient (patient 10) decided to drop out after one week of physiotherapy. She had one hour travel by bus to the hospital and found it to strenuous to travel this distance twice a week. As described in table 1, one patient (patient 10) had a BMI of 21.2 kg/m². In the recruitment process the patient had a BMI $< 21 \text{ kg/m}^2$, but her body weight had increased at inclusion to the study. We still considered her to be representative of the patients with underweight and severe COPD. The results from the control period are presented in table 2. Median time between day 15 in the control period and day one in the physiotherapy period was 21 days. Due to an exacerbation, patient 4 had a period of seven months between control and physiotherapy period. Except her, the time between control and physiotherapy was six to 74 days. Seven of the ten patients completing the physiotherapy program attended more than seven of the eight appointments with physiothe therapist. Patient 5 attended four and patient 3 and 6 six of the eight appointments. All patients, except patient 5, performed an individualized home-exercise program at least twice a week, but most of them several times a week. All patients, except patient 5, performed both 6-min walking distance tests with a median result of 360 meters. No clinically relevant change in median distance was detected between the first and second test. There was however, an improvement in median perceived

breathlessness assessed by the modified Borg-scale from three to two. SaO₂ was also improved from a median of 89 % in the first test and 90 % in the second test. As shown in figure 2, patient 4 was the patient with the largest change in body weight (an increase of 7 % or 3 kg). The other patients had a rather stabile body weight during the study. Six of the patients had lower TDE during two weeks of physiotherapy compared to the control period. Median difference in TDE between the periods was -10 % or -700 kJ per day. This was not connected to changes in body weight, the median change in TDE/kg BW was also a 10 % reduction (15 kJ/kg). Energy intake was higher during physiotherapy compared to the control period in six patients and the median difference was 5 % (300 kJ).

DISCUSSION

In this study we have found ambiguous results concerning change in TDE when COPD patients were engaged in a physiotherapy program. Some patients expended more energy, but most of them had a lower TDE during the physiotherapy, compared to a control period. In a study in eleven healthy elderly (mean age 66 years), Goran and Poehlman (9) found similar findings as in the current study. Mean TDE was not higher during a period of cycling exercises three times per week compared to a control period. They calculated that this was due to a compensatory decline in physical activity during the remainder of the



Figure 2. Change (%) in body weight (BW), energy intake (EI) and total daily energy expenditure (TDE) from control to physiotherapy period in ten underweight COPD patients

day. Our finding is also consistent with the findings of Tang et al (22), even if they only studied one day. Tang et al also suggested that lack of increase in TDE during rehabilitation in COPD patients may be caused by a decrease in the patients' normal activity pattern. That means that the training sessions make the patients so feeble that they do not have the energy to perform their usual activities. That might be one of the explanations also in the current study. In the current study another explanation is also possible. One part of the physiotherapy is breathing exercises. The patients do exercises aiming at reducing breathlessness and learn techniques to cope with the experienced dyspnea. Oxygen cost of breathing have been shown to be

elevated in COPD patients, especially underweight patients (6, 15). It is possible that when underweight COPD patients do breathing exercises this reduces the elevated oxygen cost of breathing. This might limit the increase in energy expenditure one would expect to occur during a period of increased load of physical exercise. One could also argue that some of the patients did not fulfill all of the appointments the with physiotherapist, reducing the possibility to detect an increase in TDE. There was however no relation between compliance of physiotherapy and change in TDE between the periods.

TDE measured by DLW does not give information about day-to-day variation in TDE or time and intensity

of physical activities performed. However it is a more long-term result compared to measures like the bicarbonate-urea method only giving results from one day. Due to the design of this study, we can not exclude the possibility that the patients have changed their activity pattern from the control period to the physiotherapy period. We have to bear in mind though, that most of the patients, having a severe COPD, were sedentary in both periods. 64 % of the patients had a ratio between TDE and BMR lower than 1.5, indicating a lower level of physical activity than the mean in a sample of healthy elderly (> 75 y old) men (8). In the current study with a rather homogenous patient group, we found a large variation in the relation between TDE and BMR ranging from 1.21 to 1.85 in the control period preceding the period including physiotherapy. This is however in consistency with earlier findings of similar patient groups (10, 19).

Even though a lot of effort was made to get as good measure of energy intake as possible in this study, the energy balance equation is not reasonable for most of the patients. Patient no 3 illustrates as a good example. Her energy expenditure was 11 % lower in the physiotherapy period compared to the control period while her energy intake was 30 % higher. If this was the truth, her body weight could not possibly have been reduced by 2 % (1 kg). One of the explanations to this might be that the measurement of energy intake was performed during the first half of the

DLW period. We considered a 14 days registration of dietary intake to be a too large burden for the patients. Precision and accuracy of the DLW method using the multipoint method have been shown to be 3.6 % (coefficient of variation (CV)) (5). A use of the method suggested by Elia et al (7) indicated that the precision in our energy balance assessment was about 1.000 kJ/d. This was mainly due to the large CV in the energy intake assessment. As we have shown earlier, a measurement of energy intake can not replace a measurement of energy expenditure (19). The cost of purchasing and analyzing DLW indicates that this is not an applicable method to use in the clinical setting. So clearly, there is a need for a valid method that can estimate changes in energy expenditure to be able to estimate energy requirements in patients that enter into a physiotherapy program.

This study also clearly demonstrates that underweight patients with COPD should not be treated as a group. Earlier studies have made conclusions on groups of COPD patients (1, 10, 22). We have earlier shown that this is not applicable for BMR (19) and the current study shows that this also goes for changes in energy requirements when patients start doing exercise.

To conclude, inclusion into a physiotherapy program is not neces-sarily followed by an increase in TDE. Underweight patients with COPD may show a stable, increased or even decreased TDE compared to a control period. This calls for individ-ual assessment of each patient's energy requirements and the need to develop alternative valid methods to the DLW method to assess TDE.

REFERENCES

- Baarends EM, Schols AM, Pannemans DL, Westerterp KR, Wouters EF. Total free living energy expenditure in patients with severe chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1997;155:549-54.
- 2. Black AE, Prentice AM, Coward WA. Use of food quotients to predict respiratory quotients for the doubly-labelled water method of measuring energy expenditure. Hum Nutr Clin Nutr 1986;40:381-91.
- Casaburi R. Skeletal muscle function in COPD. Chest 2000;117:267S-71S.
- 4. Cherniack R. Physical therapy techniques. In: Preston B, Manke D, eds. Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: current concepts. Philadelphia: W.B.Sanders Company, 1987.
- 5. Cole TJ, Coward WA. Precision and accuracy of doubly labeled water energy expenditure by multipoint and two-point methods. Am J Physiol 1992;263:E965-73.
- Donahoe M, Rogers RM, Wilson DO, Pennock BE.
 Oxygen consumption of the respiratory muscles in normal and in malnourished

patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Am Rev Respir Dis 1989;140:385-91.

- 7. Elia M, Stratton R, Stubbs J. Techniques for the study of energy balance in man. Proc Nutr Soc 2003;62:529-37.
- Fuller NJ, Sawyer MB, Coward WA, Paxton P, Elia M. Components of total energy expenditure in free-living elderly men (over 75 years of age): measurement, predictability and relationship to quality-of-life indices. Br J Nutr 1996;75:161-73.
- 9. Goran MI, Poehlman ET. Endurance training does not enhance total energy expenditure in healthy elderly persons. Am J Physiol 1992;263:E950-7.
- 10. Goris AH, Vermeeren MA, Wouters EF, Schols AM, Westerterp KR. Energy balance in depleted ambulatory patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: the effect of physical activity and oral nutritional supplementation. Br J Nutr 2003;89:725-31.
- Hodgkin J. Exercise testing and training. In: Preston B, Manke D, eds. Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: current concepts. Philadelphia: W.B.Sanders Company, 1987.
- 12. International Dietary Energy Consultancy Group. The doubly-labelled water method for measuring energy expenditure. Technical recom-

mendations for use in humans. Vienna: International Atomic Energy Agency (IAEA), 1990.

- Lacasse Y, Brosseau L, Milne S, Martin S, Wong E, Guyatt GH, Goldstein RS, White J. Pulmonary rehabilitation for chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (Cochrane Review). The Cochrane Library. Oxford: Update Software., 2002.
- 14. Maltais F, Simard AA, Simard C, Jobin J, Desgagnes P, LeBlanc P. Oxidative capacity of the skeletal muscle and lactic acid kinetics during exercise in normal subjects and in patients with COPD. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1996;153:288-93.
- Palange P, Forte S, Felli A, Galassetti P, Serra P, Carlone S. Nutritional state and exercise tolerance in patients with COPD. Chest 1995;107: 1206-12.
- 16. Schoeller D, van Santen E. Measurement of energy expenditure in humans by doubly labeled water method. J Appl Physiol 1982;53:955-9.
- Schoeller DA. Measurement of energy expenditure in freeliving humans by using doubly labeled water. J Nutr 1988;118:1278-89.
- Siafakas NM, Vermeire P, Pride NB, Paoletti P, Gibson J,

Howard P, Yernault JC, Decramer M, Higenbottam T, Postma DS, et al. Optimal assessment and management of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD). The European Respiratory Society Task Force. Eur Respir J 1995;8:1398-420.

- 19. Slinde F, Ellegård L, Grönberg AM, Larsson S, Rossander-Hulthén L. Total energy expenditure in underweight patients with severe chronic obstructive pulmonary disease living at home. Clin Nutr 2003;22:159-65.
- 20. Slinde F. Grönberg AM. Engström CP, Rossander-L. Larsson S. Hulthen Individual dietary intervention in patients with COPD during multidisciplinary rehabilitation. Respir Med 2002;96:330-6.
- Statens Livsmedelsverk. (Swedish National Food Administration). Livsmedelstabeller. Stockholm: Liber Tryck AB, 1997.
- 22. Tang NL, Chung ML, Elia M, Hui E, Lum CM, Luk JK, Jones MG, Woo J. Total daily energy expenditure in wasted chronic obstructive pulmonary disease patients. Eur J Clin Nutr 2002;56:282-7.





